Immunomodulatory Properties of Water Soluble Arabinoxylans from Extruded Rice Bran and Wheat Pentosan in an *In vitro* Model of Human Monocytes and Macrophages

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the Manchester Metropolitan University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abdulmannan Mohamad Fadel

School of Health, Psychology and Social science

Manchester Metropolitan University

March 2017

Table of contents

Table of c	ontentsi
List of fig	ures vii
List of tab	olesix
Abstract	x
Declaratio	on xii
List of pul	blications and achievements derived from this project xiii
Awards	xiv
Acknowle	edgements xv
Dedicatio	nxvi
List of Ab	breviationsxvii
Chapter 1	Introduction1
Aims	4
Objective	s4
Chapter 2	Literature review5
2.1	Rice production5
2.2	Rice structure
2.3	Wheat production worldwide6
2.4	Wheat structure7
2.5	Non-starch polysaccharides7
2.6	Arabinoxylans8
2.7	Arabinoxylan solubility in cereals and cereal by-products
2.8	Arabinoxylan extraction12

2.8.1	Water Extraction 13
2.8.2	Alkaline extraction13
2.8.3	Enzymatic extraction15
2.8.4	Mechanical extraction16
2.9	Immune system20
2.9.1	Innate immune system 20
2.9.2	Adaptive immune system 22
2.9.3	Monocytes 23
2.9.4	Macrophages MΦ24
2.9.5	PAMPs and PRRs24
2.9.6	Toll-like receptor family (TLRs)25
2.9.7	Lipopolysaccharides (LPS) 27
2.9.8	Cytokines
2.10	Immunomodulating properties of food
2.11	Rice bran AXs (MGN-3/Biobran)31
2.11.1	MGN-3 <i>in vitro</i> studies
2.11.2	MGN-3 <i>in vivo</i> studies
2.12	Immunomodulatory effects of rice bran polysaccharides
2.13	Immunomodulatory effects of wheat bran and wheat endosperm arabinoxylans
2.14	Potential arabinoxylan receptors
2.15	Structure-activity relationship35
Summary	
Chapter	3 The effect of extrusion screw-speed on water-extractable AXs from wheat endosperm and rice bran

3.1	Introduction 38
3.2	Materials 40
3.2.1	Carbohydrates 40
3.2.2	Chemicals
3.2.3	Enzymes
3.3	Methods
3.3.1	Fat extraction
3.3.2	Extrusion pre-treatment
3.3.3	Extraction of water-extractable AXs
3.3.4	Water-extractable arabinoxylan (WEAX) determination
3.3.5	Determination of sugar composition of purified extracts by HPLC 44
3.3.6	Molecular weight standard curve44
3.3.7	Determination of the molecular weight distribution of AXs by HPLC 45
3.4	Statistics
3.5	Results
3.5.1	The effect of extrusion on extraction of AXs from rice bran and wheat endosperm pentosan
3.5.2	The arabinose to xylose ratio (Ar/Xy) of the extracts
3.5.3	Molecular weight analysis of AXs using HPSEC
3.6	Discussion
3.6.1	Extraction rate of water-soluble AXs52
3.6.2	Molecular weight distribution of AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan53
Chapter 4	Immunomodulatory potential of AXs from extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan55
4.1	Introduction

4.2	Methods	6
4.2.1	Arabinoxylans5	6
4.2.2	Cell culture5	7
4.2.3	Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)5	7
4.2.4	Differentiation of U937 monocytes to macrophages5	7
4.2.5	Griess reagent5	7
4.2.6	Sodium nitrite standard5	7
4.2.7	TLR4-IN-C34	8
4.3	Methodology5	8
4.3.1	Preparation of AXs treatments5	8
4.3.2	Preparation of LPS treatments5	8
4.3.3	Cell culture preparation5	8
4.3.4	Monocytes differentiation to macrophages59	9
4.3.6	Nitric oxide assay59	9
4.3.7	Sodium nitrite standard curve construction	0
4.3.8	TLR4 inhibition in monocytes and macrophages6	0
4.3.9	Effects of cell growth and viability60	0
4.4	Statistics	1
4.5	Results and Discussion	2
4.5.1	Nitric oxide production by AXs, LPS and culture media6	2
4.5.2	Effect of LPS and AXs concentrations on nitric oxide production by U93 monocytes	7 2
4.5.3	Comparison of NO production from U937 monocytes in the presence and absence of the TLR4 inhibitor6	d 3
4.5.4	The effect of AXs on cell growth and viability of U937 monocytes 64	4

4.5.6	Effect of the TLR4 inhibitor on cell density of AXs-treated U937 monocytes
4.5.7	Effect of LPS and AXs on Nitric oxide production by U937 macrophages
4.5.8	Comparison of NO production from U937 macrophages in the presence and absence of the TLR4 inhibitor
4.5.9	The effect of AXs and LPS on cell growth and viability of U937 macrophages
4.5.10	Effect of the TRL4 inhibitor on cell density of AX-treated U937 macrophages71
4.6	Discussion
4.6.1	Nitric oxide synthesis by U937 monocytes/macrophages
4.6.2	Relationship between molecular weight and NO production73
4.6.3	Relationship between cell count and NO production73
4.6.4	Possible receptor of AXs
Chapter :	5 The effect of AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan on TNFα secretion from U937 monocytes/macrophages 76
5.1	Introduction
5.2	Materials79
5.2.1	AXs
5.2.2	Chemicals79
5.2.3	Cell line
5.2.4	TNFα measurements
5.3	Methods
5.3.1	AXs and LPS79
5.3.2	Cell culture and TLR4 inhibitor79
5.3.3	Human TNFα quantification80

5.4	Statistics		
5.5	Results		
5.5.1	The effect of LPS and AXs on TNF α secretion by U937 monocytes 81		
5.5.2	Effect of the TLR4 inhibitor TLR4-IN-C34 on AXs-mediated secretion of TNFα by monocytes		
5.5.3	The effect of LPS and AXs on TNF α secretion by U937 macrophages 85		
5.5.4	Effect of the TLR4 inhibitor (TLR4-IN-C34) on AXs-mediated secretion of TNFα by macrophages		
5.6	Discussion		
5.6.1	The effect of AXs on TNFα production by U937 monocytes/macrophages		
5.6.2	TLR4 inhibition and TNFα secretion91		
Chapter 6	General Discussion		
6.1	Conclusions 101		
6.2	Future work 102		
References			
Appendic	es141		
Appendix 1 141			
Appendix	2		
Appendix 3 144			
Appendix	4 145		
Appendix 5 146			
Appendix 6 147			
Appendix			

List of figures

Figure 2-1 Rice grain structure6
Figure 2-2 Schematic presentation of the wheat grain8
Figure 2-3 Arabinoxylans (AXs) structure8
Figure 2-4 Simplified schematic representation of arabinoxylans AXs (a) Wheat flour and (b) Wheat bran
Figure 2-5 Simplified overview of the immune system
Figure 2-6 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) structure28
Figure 3-1 Sugar composition for purified AXs from rice bran and wheat pentosan
Figure 3-2 Mw distribution of RBW, RB80 and RB160 analysed by HPLC-SEC 49
Figure 3-3 Mw distribution of PW, P80 and P160 analysed by HPLC-SEC50
Figure 4-1 NO production by U937 monocytes after 24 hr treatment
Figure 4-2 NO production from U937 monocytes supplemented with or without the TLR4 inhibitor (Inh)
Figure 4-3 Effect of LPS and AXs concentrations on cell counts of monocytes 65
Figure 4-4 Effect of the TLR4 inhibitor (Inh) on cell density of monocytes following treatment with 1 mg/ml of LPS or 1 mg/ml AXs
Figure 4-5 NO production by U937 macrophages after 24 hr treatment with LPS and AXs
Figure 4-6 NO production from U937 macrophages supplemented with or without
the TLR4 inhibitor (Inh) 69

Figure 4-7 Effect of LPS and AXs concentrations on cell counts of macrophages 70
Figure 4-8 Effect of the TLR4 inhibitor (Inh) on cell density of macrophages following
treatment with 1 mg/ml of LPS or 1 mg/ml AXs71
Figure 5-1 TNF α secretion by U937 monocytes after 24hr treatment with LPS and
AXs
Figure 5-2 TNF α secretion by U937 monocytes after 24 hrs treatment with AXs
with/without TLR4 inhibitor (TLR4-IN-C34)84
Figure 5-3 TNF α secretion by U937 macrophages after 24hr treatment with LPS and
AXs86
Figure 5-4 TNF α secretion by U937 macrophages after 24 hrs treatment with AXs
with/without TLR4 inhibitor89
Figure 6-1 Mucosal exposure to pathogens and host response

Table 2.1 Water extractable and water-unextractable AXs in some cereals (dry
weight basis) weight basis12
Table 2.2 AXs and hemicelluloses extraction yield 15
Table 2.3 AXs extraction yield from some cereals 15
Table 2.4 Main findings of the effect of extrusion of dietary fibre and AXs solubility
Table 2.5 Some exogenous and endogenous TLR4 stimulants 27
Table 2.6 MGN-3 effect on different cell lines in vitro 32
Table 2.7 MGN-3 effect on different animal models in vivo 33
Table 2.8 Structural properties of AXs 36
Table 3.1 Summary of extrusion process conditions 42
Table 3.2 Molecular weight of pullulan standards 45
Table 3.3 Extraction yield of AXs from rice bran 46
Table 3.4 Extraction yield of AXs from pentosan
Table 3.5 Arabinose to xylose ratios (AR/Xy) in rice bran and wheat pentosan 48
Table 3.6 Molecular weights of pullulan standards in relation to their retentiontimes48
Table 3.7 Mw distribution of AXs extracted from RBW, RB80 and RB160
Table 3.8 Mw distribution of AXs extracted from PW, P80 and P160

Abstract

Arabinoxylans (AXs) are major components of non-starch polysaccharides (NSPs). Recently, AXs have attracted a great deal of attention, because of their possible antitumor and immunomodulation activities. These activities have been suggested to be related to the content of low molecular weight (Mw) AXs, in particular those with a Mw below 32 kDa.

Rice bran and wheat pentosan are rich sources of AXs. However, extraction of AXs is difficult and often gives low yield. Various methods have been used to increase the extraction yield of AXs with varying degrees of success, such as alkaline hydrolysis and enzymatic treatment. However, some of these treatments have been reported to be either expensive or produce hazardous wastes and non-environmentally friendly. Extrusion processing has been used to increase the solubility of cereal dietary fibre, however, these studies used alkaline or enzyme treatments with the extrusion to maximise the extraction yield.

The use of extrusion alone as a pre-treatment method to increase the extraction yield and reduce the molecular weight (Mw) of AXs from rice bran or wheat endosperm pentosan has not been investigated. Hence, the current study aimed to determine if extrusion alone could change the extraction yield and Mw of the AXs. Wheat endosperm pentosan and rice bran were extruded with a twin-screw extruder at screw speeds of 80 and 160 revolutions per minute (rpm). It was found that the extraction yield of AXs increased with an increase in screw speed and was accompanied by a decrease in the Mw of the AXs.

In vitro studies using immunoassays to measure proinflammatory markers showed that AXs from extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan significantly (P<0.05) increased nitric oxide (NO) and tumour necrosis factor α (TNF α) production from both U937 monocytes and macrophages in a concentration-dependent manner at (50, 500 and 1000 µg/ml), respectively. Moreover, the immunomodulatory activity of AXs was associated with the very low Mw of AXs. Moreover, inhibition of toll like receptor 4 (TLR4), which is known to be the receptor for bacterial lipopolysaccharides (LPS),

х

significantly inhibited the AXs-induced increase in NO and TNF α production in both U937 monocytes and macrophages (*P*<0.05), suggesting the actions of AXs may be mediated at least in part through TLR4.

The findings of this study indicate that AXs may compete with LPS for the same receptor TLR4, resulting in decreasing the inflammatory response that LPS produces during the infection. Thus AXs can produce a non-detrimental moderate increase in the inflammatory response.

Declaration

I declare that no portion of the work referred to in the thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of Manchester Metropolitan University or any other university.

List of publications and achievements derived from this project

- Research article (submission stage): (The effect of extrusion on waterextractable arabinoxylan extracted from wheat and rice bran). Targeted Journal (Carbohydrate Polymers).
- Research article (submission stage): (The effect of modified arabinoxylans extracted from wheat and rice bran on the immunomodulatory response of U937 cells monocytes and macrophages). Targeted Journal (Journal of Cereal Science).
- Li. W. Zhang S., Hu H., Fadel A. and Smith C. A Potential Immune-stimulating Health Benefit of Wheat Arabinoxylans for Foods. 17th IUFoST World Congress, Montreal, Canada. August 17-21, 2014.
- Li. W. Zhang S., Hu H., Fadel A. and Smith C. Immune modulating properties of wheat endosperm arabinoxylans and potential health benefit for foods 2014 International Symposium on Bioactive Compounds in Cereal Grains and Foods ICC, Vienna. April 25, 2014.
- Poster publication at the fourth International Conference and Exhibition on Food Processing & Technology (August 10-12, 2015, organised by OMICS, London):
- The title of Poster (The effect of extrusion processing on solubility and molecular weight of water-soluble arabinoxylans).
- Poster presentation at the 2015 SCIENCE & ENGINEERING RESEARCH SYMPOSIUM (September 17, 2015, organised by MMU): The title of the poster (Extrusion and arabinoxylan extractability from wheat endosperm pentosan and rice bran).

Awards

- 3MT competition (3 minutes thesis competitions), Winner over Science and Engineering School Manchester Metropolitan University (Arabinoxylans and immune response) (May 2015).
- Winner of Young Research Forum, sponsored by Aggelakis S. A., Greece, obtained in at the fourth International Conference and Exhibition on Food Processing & Technology (August 10-12, 2015, organised by OMICS, London): (The effect of extrusion processing on solubility and molecular weight of water-soluble arabinoxylan).

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Manchester Metropolitan University and Professor John Swarbrooke for awarding me the scholarship with which I could complete my studies at the Food and Nutrition Centre. I would like also to acknowledge my supervisory team, Dr Andrew Plunkett, Dr Jason Ashworth and Professor Weili Li for their tremendous support.

I am very grateful to all technical staff who helped me and supported me, especially Ms Roya Alamzad.

I am thankful for my friends who were the best company that soothed my hard times while away from my family, in particular Bashir, Mansour, Maher, Husam, Moumen, Abdulatif, Haytham, Firas, Mohamad and Abdullah.

I could not find words to thank my family who believed in me and I hope to see them in the near future. Although I have not seen them for seven years, I am sure that I have been always in their prayers. Above all, I wish that my father were near when I submit this thesis to share the happiness of success as I always aspired to make him proud because he is the essence of my existence and the constant motivation of my work.

Last but not least, special thanks to my wife Nermin, who opened all the closed doors for me and believed in my potentials.

Dedication

To the good soul of my late beloved mother, who wished to see me a successful scholar,

To my beloved father, who strived to secure a good education for me,

To my dear brothers and sisters; Fatima, Amer, Samah, Abdulaliem and Abdulhamid,

And to my dear wife Nermin.

List of Abbreviations

AXs	Arabinoxylans
Ar/Xy	Arabinose /xylose ratio
CD14	Cluster of differentiation 14
DC	Dendritic cell
DF	Dietary fibre
FA	Ferulic acid
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
ΙΕΝγ	Interferon gamma
IL	Interleukin
kDa	Kilo dalton
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
mRNA	Messenger RNA
Mw	Molecular weight
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88
МΦ	Macrophage
NK	Natural killer
NO	Nitric oxide
P160	Pentosan with 160 rpm screw-speed
P80	Pentosan with 80 rpm screw-speed

РАМР	Pathogen associated molecular pattern
РМА	Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
PW	Pentosan without extrusion
RB160	Rice bran with 160 rpm screw-speed
RB80	Rice bran with 80 rpm screw-speed
RBPS2a	Rice bran hetero-polysaccharide
RBW	Rice bran without extrusion
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rpm	Revolution per minute
TLR	Toll-like receptor
ΤΝFα	Tumour necrosis factor alpha
WEAX	Water-extractable arabinoxylan
WUAX	Water-unextractable arabinoxylan

Chapter 1 Introduction

Cereal grains contain variable amounts of non-starch polysaccharide (NSP, namely cell wall material). Cereal grains are composed of hemicelluloses, celluloses, and other materials such as lignins and pectins and collectively are known as dietary fibre (Mod *et al.*, 1978; Lai *et al.*, 2007).

Rice and wheat are a staple food for most of the world's population. A large amount of waste is produced in growing these materials, and the maximum benefit is not being obtained from it as it is often fed to animals rather than the valuable components being extracted for human use. This occurs because the material is difficult and expensive to breakdown. Hence, there is a need for improved extraction technologies that both improve the extraction yield and reduce the cost of processing (Mohan *et al.*, 2010; Zhao *et al.*, 2016).

Arabinoxylans (AXs) are the main non-starch polysaccharide constituents of many cereals and it is predominantly found in the outer layers (bran) and starchy endosperm (flour) (Zhou *et al.*, 2010). Arabinoxylans (AXs) have been reported in many cereals such as maize, rye, barley, oats, sorghum, wheat and rice (Izydorczyk and Biliaderis, 1995). AXs constitute about (1.37-2.06 %) of the wheat endosperm and the water-extractable portion of this is between 0.54 and 0.8 % (Izydorczyk *et al.* 1991; Houben, 1997). In rice, it constitutes about (4.84-8.5 %) of the bran and the water-extractable portion of this is between (0.2-0.77 %) (Hashimoto *et al.* 1987a; Choct, 1997). Whilst only a small portion of the arabinoxylan is soluble, it is possible to apply chemical, enzymatic or physical treatments to increasing the extraction yield (Fry, 2004).

AXs are polysaccharides composed of backbone chains of β -(1-4)-linked Dxylopyranosyl residues to which α -l-arabinofuranose units are linked as side chains in the second and/or third carbon positions, so they are often named as pentosans (Courtin *et al.*, 2000; Roubroeks *et al.*, 2000; Zhou *et al.*, 2010).

1

The degree of branching is an important factor in determining the physiochemical properties of AXs (Hopkins *et al.*, 2003). A large proportion of arabinoxylan cannot be solubilised in water due to the formation of di-ferulic acid bridges and covalent ester bonding between carboxyl groups on individual arabinoxylan chains (Zhou *et al.*, 2010). In order to solubilise and extract AXs, pre-treatments might be applied e.g. alkaline hydrolysis or enzymatic digestion. Each of these pre-treatments have different effects on the solubility and molecular weight of AXs (Vasanthan *et al.*, 2002).

Alkaline treatment is an efficient way for extracting AXs from cell wall materials However, it changes the functional properties of the AXs by breaking down (hydrolysing) some functional groups of the AXs, such as ferulic acid, and hence tends to give high molecular weight AXs fractions (100- 200 kDa) (Zhou *et al.*, 2010; Cao *et al.*, 2011).

On the other hand, enzymatic treatments increase AXs solubility by attacking the AXs backbone in a different manner, producing lower molecular weight fractions to those produced by alkaline hydrolysis. The enzymatic treatment produces lower molecular weight fractions of AXs with a lower extraction yield (Swennen *et al.*, 2006; Zhou *et al.*, 2010). However, this is not as efficient as alkaline hydrolysis and gives rise to different functionality.

Physical pre-treatments have been applied to increase the solubility of dietary fibres such as extrusion (Vasanthan *et al.*, 2002; Zhang *et al.*, 2011). Extrusion is a process where the materials can be exposed to a combination of temperature, pressure and shear forces, which might lead to a variety of chemical reactions and molecular transformations (Liu *et al.*, 2011). Recently, extrusion has been used to increase the solubility of water-extractable arabinoxylans (WEAX) in corn fibre (Jeon *et al.*, 2014). Studies have suggested that low molecular weight AXs extracted from different cereals may have desirable biological effects (Li *et al.*, 2015). Low molecular weight cornhusk AXs showed an increase in the activity of natural killer cells and an increase in cytokine production *in vitro* (Zhang *et al.*, 2004). Other studies found that AXs

2

extracted from enzymatically modified rice bran (Biobran) with low molecular weight can stimulate both the adaptive and innate immune system by enhancing dendritic cell maturation, macrophage phagocytosis, and natural killer cell activity (Ghoneum and Matsuura, 2004). On the other hand, low molecular weight arabinoxylans extracted from rice bran, without any enzyme pre-treatment, have shown anticomplementary and anti-inflammatory activities *in vitro* (Wang *et al.*, 2008; Hoshino *et al.*, 2010). Whilst the effect of extrusion on molecular weight and solubility of AXs has been studied, no studies have tested the functionality of extruded fibre on human cell lines. In order to address this gap in knowledge, rice bran and wheat endosperm pentosan have been physically treated with a twin-screw extruder and the immunomodulatory response was tested on a human cell line.

Aims

The aim of this thesis was to extract and modify water-soluble AXs from extruded wheat endosperm pentosan and rice bran and to study the relationship between their structural characteristics and immune modulatory potential. The modification of AXs was achieved using a twin-screw extruder and the sugar composition and molecular weight of AXs were characterised using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). To study the immunomodulatory potential of AXs in relation to their structures, U937 human monocytes/macrophages were treated with arabinoxylans *in vitro* and assayed for any immune responses after AXs stimulation.

Objectives

- 1. To extrude wheat endosperm pentosan and rice bran using a twin-screw extruder.
- 2. To extract water-extractable AXs (WEAX) from the extruded samples.
- 3. To characterise the sugar composition and molecular weight of purified arabinoxylans using HPLC.
- 4. To study the immunomodulatory potential of purified AXs via measuring nitric oxide production and tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) secretion.
- 5. To determine AXs mechanism of action by inhibiting TLR4 receptor and monitoring the TNF α and nitric oxide secretion from both monocytes and macrophages.

Chapter 2 Literature review

2.1 Rice production

Rice (*Oryza Sativa*) and wheat (*Triticumaestivum L*) are major crops cultivated globally. The production of rice is 495.2 million tons, which feeds nearly 50% of the world population (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2016). Rice bran is the by-product of rice milling and it is mainly used for animal feed. However, it has been under-utilised as human food. Rice bran is rich in antioxidants and phytochemicals such as ferulic acid and tocopherols, some of which have additional bioactive/immunomodulatory properties (Spears *et al.*, 2004).

2.2 Rice structure

Rice belongs to the *Poaceae* family and it is a monocot (Chase and Reveal, 2009). The rice grain (Figure 2-1) comprises embryo and bran (8-12 %), starchy endosperm (70-72 %) and hull (20 %) (Gujral *et al.*, 2012). Rice bran alone comprises approximately 5 % of the rice grain.

Rice bran is composed of aleurone, pericarp, testa, germ and some endosperm (Saunders, 1985). The macronutrient content of rice bran is typically 7-10 % ash, 15-20 % lipids, 7-11% fibre, 12-16% protein and 34-52% carbohydrate (McCaskill and Zhang, 1999).

Recently, rice bran has attracted a great deal of attention from the immunologists and chemists because it might possess immunomodulatory and anti-cancer properties. The bioactive polysaccharides of rice bran appear to evoke many physiological responses thought to prevent different diseases including, heart disease, hypercholesterolemia, kidney stones and cancer (Jariwalla, 2000; Wang *et al.*, 2008). It has been reported that the structural features of polysaccharides from different sources have various immune-modulating activities (improve the host defence against invasive viruses, fungi and bacteria) *in vitro* (Wang *et al.*, 2008).

5



Figure 2-1 Rice grain structure Source: (Champagne, 2004)

One of the most abundant classes of polysaccharides in plant cell walls are hemicelluloses. Hemicelluloses are usually attached to other cell wall materials such as pectin, lignin and cellulose (Peng *et al.*, 2012). These cell wall polysaccharides are characterised by having β -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linked bases of xylose, mannose, or glucose (Gabrielii *et al.*, 2000). Hemicelluloses can be extracted by either water or, more frequently, aqueous alkali from plant tissue (Peng *et al.*, 2012). It has been reported that Rice bran hemicelluloses have a notable effect in reducing thymus atrophy, improving the sensitivity of insulin, increasing the peripheral blood lymphocytes and improving immune function (Tzianabos, 2000; Peng *et al.*, 2012).

2.3 Wheat production worldwide

Wheat (*Triticumaestivum L*) is an international staple food with a global production of 712.7 million tons (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2016). Wheat provides around 20% of the calories and 55% of the carbohydrate consumed globally (Safa and Samarasinghe, 2013).

2.4 Wheat structure

The wheat kernel (Figure 2-2) is composed of 80-85% endosperm, 2-3% germ and 13-17% bran (Šramková *et al.*, 2009). The primary constituent of wheat is carbohydrate, which makes up about 72 % of the kernel by weight. The carbohydrate in the wheat kernel is composed of starch, cellulose and hemicellulose.

Starch is the most abundant carbohydrate found in cereals. There are two major structural forms of starch; amylopectin and amylose. Amylopectin is made of glucopyranose monomers connected through α -D-(1-4)-glycosidic bonds, which branch every 20 to 25 glucopyranose units to form α -D-(1-6)-glycosidic bonds. Conversely, amylose forms linear chains of glucopyranose units connected by the α -D-(1-4)-glycosidic bond (Izydorczyk and Biliaderis, 1995). There is another class of carbohydrates in addition to starch known as non-starch polysaccharides, which make up most of the cell wall material (CWM).

2.5 Non-starch polysaccharides

The non-starch polysaccharides are indigestible by human gut enzymes and are therefore referred to as dietary fibre. Non-starch polysaccharide makes up 75 % of the cell wall and are composed of glucomannan, (1-3) (1-4) β glucan, cellulose and arabinoxylans (pentosans) (JMares and Stone, 1973). Pentosans or arabinoxylans are the major hemicellulosic polysaccharides in cereals and they make up more than 80% of the NSP in wheat and 10% of rice bran (Malathi and Devegowda, 2001; Mansberger *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 2-2 Schematic presentation of the wheat grain Source: (Saulnier *et al.,* 2007)

2.6 Arabinoxylans

Arabinoxylans are non-starch polysaccharides (Figure 2-3) composed of backbone chains of β -(1-4)-linked d-xylopyranosyl residues to which α -l-arabinofuranose units are linked as side chains in the second and/or third carbon-positions (Courtin *et al.*, 2000; Roubroeks *et al.*, 2000; Zhou *et al.*, 2010).



Figure 2-3 Arabinoxylans (AXs) structure Source: (Garófalo *et al.,* 2011)

AXs' structural characteristics are determined by the substitution of the xylopyranose linked xylan backbone. L-Arabinofuranose is the main substituent sugar and it can substitute xylopyranose residues at O-2 and/or O-3 via α -1, 2 and α -1, 3 glycosidic linkages. This leads to three different forms namely, un-substituted xylopyranose, mono-substituted xylopyranose at O-2 or O-3 and di-substituted xylopyranose at O-2 and O-3 (Izdorczyk and Biliaderis, 1995; Saulnier *et al.*, 2007; Brokaert *et al.*, 2011). On the other hand, arabinofuranose substitutions can form short oligosaccharide side chains and comprise two or more arabinofuranose residues (Figure 2-4) (Izdorczyk and Dexter, 2008).

Brokaert *et al.* (2011) have reported that D-glucose, D-galactose, glucuronic acids and acetyl groups are substituted at O-2 and/or O-3 of the xylan backbone. This structural diversity of arabinoxylan can vary between cereals due to the complexity of tissue components within cereal grains (Dervilly-Pinel *et al.*, 2001; Zhang *et al.*, 2015). Ordaz-Ortiz and Sulnier (2005) have reported that arabinoxylan content is different between wheat endosperm, bran and husks with various arabinose to xylose ratios and the yield will depend on the method of extraction.

There are many techniques available for AXs extraction and different extraction methods will give different yields and range of degrees of branching, molecular weight distribution and tertiary conformation (Lu *et al.*, 2005), i.e. hot water extraction (Izydorczyk *et al.*, 1998; Cyran *et al.*, 2003; Iqbal *et al.*, 2011) and ultrasound-assisted enzymatic extraction (Wang *et al.*, 2014).

AXs can be classified, according to their solubility in water, as either waterunextractable AXs (WUAX) or water-extractable AXs (WEAX) (Moers *et al.*, 2005). The structure of WUAX is somewhat different from that of WEAX, WUAX will not solubilise in water, however, it will be solubilised in alkaline solutions (Gruppen *et al.*, 1993).



Figure 2-4 Simplified schematic representation of arabinoxylans AXs (a) Wheat flour and (b) Wheat bran Substituents above and below the backbone represent C (O)-2 and C (O)-3 positions, respectively, based on data from (Izydorczyk and Biliaderis, 1995; Edwards *et al.*, 2003).

2.7 Arabinoxylan solubility in cereals and cereal by-products

As mentioned previously, AXs in cereals and cereal by-products can be classified into water-extractable (WEAX) and water un-extractable (WUAX) (Moers *et al.*, 2005). It has been reported that arabinoxylans in rye are part of the cell wall material and is bound covalently and non-covalently to other cell wall materials such as proteins, cellulose or lignin (Fengler and Marquardt, 1988). In contrast, AXs in wheat are loosely bound to the surface of the cell wall (JMares and Stone, 1973). Sasaki (2000) suggested that the difference in water extractability of AXs in cereals is due to the degree of cross-linking with other cell wall materials. These cross-links can be covalent ester bonds between the carboxylic acid group of uronic acids and AXs hydroxyl groups or diferulic acid bridges between adjacent AXs chains (Gruppen *et* *al.*, 1992; Fry, 2004). It was reported that wheat endosperm contains between (31-111 mg/100g) ferulic acid (Michniewcz *et al.*, 1990; Hüseyin, 2015), whereas, rice bran contains 303 (mg/100g) (Jung *et al.*, 2007). It also has been reported that ferulic acid side chains are esterified to some arabinose residues (Snelders *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, these cross-links make extraction of arabinoxylans difficult and there is a need to use other treatments such as enzyme treatment, alkali solutions or mechanical treatments to effectively remove the arabinoxylans from what is a very stable network of covalent and non-covalent cross-links (Courtin and Delcour, 2001; Jacquemin *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, the low solubility of AXs might be due to the close packing of the cell content which is proposed to be due to steric hindrance (Faulds *et al.*, 2006).

Previous studies (Table 2.1) have shown that the percentage of WEAX is generally far lower than the WUAX in cereals or cereal by-products. Therefore, increasing and improving WUAX solubility has been very important for those who are interested in converting WUAX to WEAX. It has been reported that treating WUAX with alkali resulted in releasing WUAX from cell wall material due to the breaking up of bridges between the AXs and the covalent bonds and hydrogen atoms of the cell wall material (Gruppen et al., 1991). In a later study carried out by Courtin and Delcour (2001), the possibility of increasing the extractability of AXs from wheat using enzymes was investigated. WUAX treated with endoxylanases resulted in an increase in the solubility of AXs due to the degradation of the xylan backbone. Additionally, this resulted in a reduction in the molecular weight of the extracted AXs fraction (Li et al., 2013). There is a limit to the increase in solubility from treating with endoxylanase due to the branched sections, which are not affected by the endoxylanase treatment. On the other hand, several reports show that AXs' solubility depends on the AXs' degree of branching (Maes and Delcour, 2001; Mandalari et al., 2005). AXs with high arabinose substitution have higher solubility in water and vice versa.

cereals (ary weight basis) weight basis					
WEAX and WUAX in some cereal grains and cereal by-products (dry weight basis)					
Cereal	Tissues	Total AXs %	WEAX %	WUAX %	References
Rice	Bran	4.84-5.11	0.35-0.77	4.34-4.49	Hashimoto <i>et al</i> . 1987 (b)
	Bran	8.5	0.2	8.3	Choct, 1997
	Hulls	8.36-9.24	0.11	8.25-9.13	Hashimoto <i>et al</i> . 1987 (b)
	Whole grain	2.64	0.06	2.58	Hashimoto <i>et al</i> . 1987 (b)
Wheat	Bran	25	1	24	Hollmann and Lindhauer 2005
	Bran	19.38	0.88	18.5	Hashimoto et al. 1987 (a)
	Flour	1.37-2.06	0.54-0.68	0.83-1.38	Izydorczyk <i>et al</i> . 1991
	Whole grain	5.77	0.59	5.18	Hashimoto et al. 1987 (a)
	Whole grain	8.1	1.8	6.3	Choct, 1997
	Pollard	21.8	1.1	20.8	Choct, 1997
Rye	Whole grain	8-12.1	2.6-4.1	5.4-8	Hansen <i>et al</i> . 2003
	Flour	3.2-3.64	2.2-2.65	0.99-1	Cyran <i>et al</i> . 2003
	Whole grain	8.9	3.4	5.5	Choct, 1997
Corn	Bran	29.86	0.28	29.58	Hashimoto <i>et al</i> . 1987 (b)

Table 2.1 Water extractable and water-unextractable AXs in somecereals (dry weight basis) weight basis

2.8 Arabinoxylan extraction

Most of the AXs in the intact cell walls of cereals are cross-linked with other cell wall materials to form a structural complex, which is not soluble in water. Therefore, there is a need to increase the extraction yields through improving the solubility of the WUAXs fraction (Gruppen *et al.*, 1991). Several methods have been developed, investigated and reported for the extraction and purification of AXs (Courtin and Delcour, 2001). These include water extraction (Hollman and Lindhauer, 2005; Li *et al.*, 2013) enzyme hydrolysis (Beaugrand *et al.*, 2004; Li *et al.*, 2013), acid and alkaline extraction (Gruppen *et al.*, 1991; Maes and Delcour, 2001; Hollman and Lindhauer, 2005; Due *et al.*, 2009; Zhou *et al.*, 2010) and mechanically assisted treatment in the form of extrusion (Jeon *et al.*, 2014; Zeitoun *et al.*, 2010). The literature relating to water and mechanically assisted treatment in the form of extrusion is introduced below, with other alkaline and enzyme extraction methods outside the scope of the present work.

2.8.1 Water Extraction

Extraction of AXs using water is one of the most common methods used to isolate AXs from different cereals, followed by precipitation with 65% ethanol (Izydorczyk and Biliaderis, 2007; Ganguli and Turner, 2008). Using water alone to extract AXs has several advantages such as it is environmentally friendly, cheap, available and the product edible. It was reported that the extraction yield of WEAX from two barley cultivars varied depending on barley subfraction and varieties (Fleury et al., 1997). In (2003) Cyran et al. reported the extraction yields of WEAX in rye flour were 1.1-1.4 % at 4 °C, 0.17-0.33% at 40 °C and 0.41-0.51% at 100 °C. It has been reported that the yield of AXs achieved by the enzymatic and chemical methods is higher than that achieved by the water method. It is suggested that combining water with gentle conditions (i.e. a temperature below 100 °C) is not sufficient to break the crosslinkages between arabinoxylan and the cell wall matrix (Zhang et al., 2014). To counter this, water extraction combined with hydrothermal techniques have been developed, using high pressure (5-40 MPa) and high temperature at (200-600 °C), to increase the extraction yield of hemicelluloses to 65-90% (Mok and Antal, 1992; Garrote et al., 1999; Josefsson et al., 2002; Peterson et al., 2008). However, it has been indicated that although these techniques are environmentally friendly, they are degrading the hemicellulose structure, which may damage the structure of the arabinoxylan, which in turn may affect its functionality (Josefsson et al., 2002). As a significant amount of AXs remain after water extraction, some researchers have dismissed water extraction methods in preference to enzyme and alkali treatments (Hollman and Lindhauer, 2005).

2.8.2 Alkaline extraction

This method of extraction involves disrupting covalent and hydrogen bonds in the matrix of polysaccharides to liberate various polysaccharides from the cell wall (Zhang *et al.*, 2014). Hydrogen bonds between hemicellulose and cellulose can be disrupted by hydroxyl ions, and hydrolysis of the ester linkages, which in turn solubilises part of the hemicellulose material (Cyran *et al.*, 2003). On the other hand, under alkaline conditions, uronic acids change to their negatively charged form,

13

causing repulsion between different molecules, which results in an increase in the extractability the arabinoxylan present (Zhang *et al.*, 2014).

There are several techniques developed to extract AXs using alkaline solutions. The first alkaline solution used to release WUAX from cereals was barium hydroxide, which was introduced by Gruppen *et al.* (1991); barium ions forms insoluble complexes with β glucans, resulting in release of 80% of the WUAX from wheat flour. Additionally, Bergmans *et al.* (1996) reported that 50% of WUAX was extracted from wheat bran using this technique.

On the other hand, dilute alkaline solutions such as hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) have been used to extract WUAX, resulting in yields of around 69%, of the total AXs content, from wheat bran (Maes and Declour, 2001).

Table 2.2shows the extraction yield of AXs and hemicelluloses using different alkaline solutions.

Although alkaline extraction yield is higher than the water extraction, alkaline extraction has been reported to affect the molecular structure of arabinoxylans due to the disruption of cross-linkages, resulting in different molecular structures in WUAX than that would occur naturally, which in turn result in different functional characteristics (Zheng *et al.*, 2011).

Sources	Extraction	Yield% of AXs ^a /hemicellulose ^b	A/X	References
Wheat bran	0.5% H2O2 (0.15 M NaOH v/v)	18.5ª	0.8	Zhou <i>et al.,</i> 2010
Wheat bran	0.44 M NaOH (pH 12.5)	34.30 ^a	0.54	Aguedo <i>et al.,</i> 2014
Wheat endosperm	4.27 М КОН	56ª	0.91	JMares and Stone, 1973
Rice straw	1% NaOH followed by 0.5% H2O2 (pH 11.5)	18.6 ^b	/	Sun <i>et al.,</i> 2005
Rice straw	0.25 M NaOH (1:25 w/v)	0.37ª	0.36	Etanol, 2016

Table 2.2 AXs and hemicelluloses extraction yield

2.8.3 Enzymatic extraction

In order to extract AXs from cereals, enzymatic techniques are often used. The most common enzyme family used for isolating AXs are the GH 11 endo- β -(1,4)- xylanases (Beaugrand *et al.*, 2004; Escarnot *et al.*, 2012) Endoxylanases penetrate the cell wall, then cleave internal β -(1,4)- bonds thus solubilising the AXs (Andersson *et al.*, 2003; Swennen *et al.*, 2006; Li *et al.*, 2013). Table 2.3 AXs extraction yield from some cereals and cereal by-products by enzyme extraction.

Yield% Sources Extraction of Ar/Xy References AXs De-starched wheat Xylanase 150 units, lab-scale 12.4 0.56 Zhou *et al.*, 2010 bran De-starched wheat Pentopan mono BG 0.75%, lab-scale 15.28 na Zhang *et al.*, 2008 a bran 20 U β-glucosidase, 250 U (1-3,1-4)-β-Dervilly-Pinel et al., **Rye flour** 1.08 0.5 glucan 4-glucano-hydrolase and 400 U 2001 amyloglucosidase, lab scale

Table 2.3 AXs extraction yield from some cereals

Comparing the extraction yields of enzyme treatments and alkaline treatments (Tables 2.2 and 2.3), shows lower extraction yields of AXs from the enzyme treatments, for example, the extraction yield from de-starched wheat bran extracted with xylanase is 12.4% (Table 2.3), lower than that achieved with alkaline sodium hydroxide at 34.3% (Table 2.2). Zhang *et al.* (2014) suggested that the low extraction yield might be due to the existence of enzyme inhibitors and the crystalline structure of lignocellulose might limit the hydrolysis.

Although, the extraction yield using enzyme hydrolysis is not as high as the alkaline extraction, the action of alkaline solutions is not environmentally friendly as it produces hazardous waste and it might release the ferulic acid due to the breaking of the ester bond between AXs and the ferulic acid side chain, resulting in loss of antioxidant functionality (Zhou *et al.*, 2010). Ferulic acid is known for its low solubility in water (Anson *et al.*, 2009). Zhou *et al.* (2010) indicated that AXs extracted with enzymes have higher ferulic acid content and it enhance the immune response more than AXs extracted with alkaline in an *in vivo* trial.

2.8.4 Mechanical extraction

There are several mechanical technologies that have been studied as pre-treatments to improve the extraction yield of dietary fibre in general and specifically AXs. These include techniques such as microwave irradiation, steam explosion and extrusion (Cara *et al.*, 2006; Rose and Inglett, 2010; Zeitoun *et al.*, 2010).

2.8.4.1 Microwave assisted extraction

Microwave irradiation has been investigated as a technique to improve the extractability of hemicelluloses. There are several advantages of using microwave irradiation in the extraction of AXs, which are the ability to reach high temperatures and shorter extraction times (Roos *et al.*, 2009). Microwave irradiation causes vibration between molecules, which potentially ruptures bonds. Rose and Inglett (2010) optimised the processing conditions for arabinoxylan extraction from maize; it was found that 50% of the AXs could be extracted at 200 °C for 2 minutes or 180 °C for 10 minutes. It was also reported that a combined microwave/pressure treatment of corn pericarp increased the extraction yield of AX to 70.8% of total carbohydrates, consisting mainly of xylo-oligosaccharides. This high extraction rate can be achieved under pressurised water at 170.5 °C, solid:liquid ratio 1:20 (g/ml), 2 min to reach operating temperature and 16 minutes heating time, respectively (Yoshida *et al.*, 2010).

2.8.4.2 Steam explosion treatment

This method has been studied to increase the extractability of arabinoxylans from cereal materials and it is also an effective pre-treatment method to break down the lignocellulosic structure and is environmentally friendly (Avellar and Glasser, 1998). The principle of this treatment is to put the sample under great pressure in a vessel in the presence of steam and the sample is then fired into a low-pressure area causing the explosive depolymerisation, which breaks the lignocellulosic structure making hemicelluloses more easily extracted (Cara *et al.*, 2006). Krawczyk*et al.* (2008) isolated AXs from barley husks using steam explosion pre-treatment followed by ultrafiltration and diafiltration steps. AXs made up 35% of the polysaccharide fraction after steam explosion and ultrafiltration and this increased to 45% after diafiltration. Moreover, Sun *et al.* (2005) extracted 20.5-28.5% of the total hemicelluloses by pre-treating wheat straw with steam explosion. His technique included increasing the temperature to (220 °C at 22 bar for 3-8 min, or 200 °C at a pressure of 15 bar for 10-33 min).

2.8.4.3 Extrusion pre-treatment

Extrusion cooking is a valuable short-time, shear force, high-temperature, high pressure, processing technique, which has been used since the 1930s for the production of textured foods, ready-to-eat snacks, baby foods and breakfast cereals (Burtea, 2001; Kim *et al.*, 2006; Masatcioglu *et al.*, 2014). Extrusion cooking improves the bioavailability of nutrients and the digestibility of protein and starch in comparison to other conventional cooking techniques (Gu *et al.*, 2008; Singh *et al.*, 2010; Dehghan-Shoar *et al.*, 2011).

Extrusion cooking technology has been used as a pre-treatment to extract hemicelluloses and increase the solubility of dietary fibre from wheat bran, pea hulls, lemon fibre, waxy barley and corn fibre (Ralet *et al.*, 1990; Ralet *et al.*, 1993; Ralet *et al.*, 1994; Vasanthan *et al.*, 2002; Singkhornart *et al.*, 2013). Wang *et al.* (1993) have reported that there is a significant increase in soluble dietary fibre from 1.25% in raw

17
whole wheat grain to 2.19% in samples extruded at 400 rpm. Moreover, a higher increase in solubility was reported from 1.75% in raw samples to 2.47% in extruded wheat bran samples at 400 rpm. Zhang *et al.* (2011) have investigated the effect of temperature changes on dietary fibre solubility of oat bran. He reported that at a fixed screw-speed of 50 rpm and 10% feed moisture, the solubility of dietary fibre increased from 9.9% to 14.2% when the temperature increased from 100°C to 140°C.

However, there are conflicting findings on the effect of extrusion on the solubility of dietary fibre. Camire *et al.* (1993), reported that at a constant screw-speed of 300 rpm, the solubility of dietary fibre from potato peels decreased from 4.69 % (at 104°C barrel temperature and 31% feed moisture) to 3.75% (at 143°C barrel temperature and 36% feed moisture). In addition, Zeitoun *et al.* (2010) compared twin-screw extrusion and stirred reactor extraction for hemicellulose extraction from wheat bran. She reported that extrusion pre-processing decreased the soluble hemicellulose from 59%, using a stirred reactor, to 24%. There are conflicting findings about the extrusion effect on dietary fibre/AXs solubility, which are summarised in Table 2.4

Interestingly, extrusion not only has an effect on the solubility of dietary fibre, it also has an effect on molecular weight. The effect of extrusion on molecular weight has been investigated by Ralet *et al.* (1991), who found that extrusion cooking reduced the molecular weight (Mw) of hemicelluloses extracted from sugar beet pulp fibre resulting in an increase in water solubility. In another study, Margareta and Nyman (2003) reported that extrusion of vegetables reduces the dietary fibre Mw, which was suggested to be due to the breaking of dietary fibre glycosidic bonds, resulting in depolymerisation of the dietary fibre.

Table 2.4 Main findings of the effect of extrusion of dietary fibreand AXs solubility

Food Source	Extrusion conditions	DF/ AXs change	References
Corn fibre	Twin-screw extruder, L/D ratio 24:1, 3.0 mm die diameter, moisture; 30,40 and 50%, fixed screw-speed 200 rpm and feed rate 9 kg/h	Soluble AX increased from 463 g/kg to 530 g/kg and 586.3 g/kg at 30 and 40% moisture	Singkhornart et al., 2013
Wheat straw and wheat bran	Twin-screw extruder, barrel length 1.6m, liquid/ solid ratio 7, feed rate 13.8 kg/h, screw-speed 150 rpm and fixed temperature at 50 °C	Hemicelluloses extraction yield decreased from 59% using stirred reactor to 24% using an extruder. Xylan % decreased from 76% using stirred reactor to 53% using extruder	Zeitoun <i>et al.,</i> 2010
Rice bran, oat bran, and wheat bran	Twin-screw extruder, barrel diameter 62.2 mm, fixed temperature 160 °C, feed rate 68 kg/h for oat and rice bran and 51.25 kg/h for wheat bran, screw-speeds 50, 70 and 100 rpm	In oat bran, soluble DF increased from 3.45% WE to 5.46, 5.24 and 4.58% at 50, 70 and 100 rpm respectively. In rice bran, solubility increased from 2.0% to 2.5, 2.33 and 2.01% using screw-speeds at 50, 70 and 100 rpm. In wheat bran, increasing in solubility from 3.11% to 3.45 and 3.35% at 70 and 100 rpm while there was a decrease at 50 rpm to 2.97%	Gualberto et al., 1997
Whole wheat and germinated wheat	Twin-screw extruder with CO2 injection, L/D ratio 24:1, and die diameter 3.00 mm, extrusion carried out at 90 °C and 130 °C, screw-speeds were 150 and 200 rpm at constant moisture feed at 30%. CO ₂ injection rate was 500 ml/min and inlet pressure 20 MPa	AXs solubility decreased from 2.37 in whole wheat to 1.91 and 1.65% at 150 and 200 rpm screw-speed respectively. In germinated wheat solubility decreased as well from 2.64 to 2.28 and 2.09% at 150 and 200 rpm respectively	Singkhornart et al., 2014
Wheat bran	Twin-screw extruder with a screw diameter of 57 mm, L/D ratio 24:1, moisture 20,25 and 30%, die temperature 165, 175 and 185 °C, screw-speeds at 180, 190 and 200 rpm	The solubility of dietary fibre at 175 °C temperature, 25% moisture and 200 rpm screw-speed was 11.75% in comparison with 2.54% for untreated wheat bran	Long <i>et al.,</i> 2014
WE: without extrusion	on, DF: dietary fibre		

Reducing the molecular weight of the AXs not only increases their solubility in water but also increases their biological health benefits (Li *et al.*, 2013). Recently, pronounced effects of low Mw arabinoxylans (66 kDa) have been observed to have a higher prebiotic stimulation in an *in vitro* study when compared to higher molecular weight (Mw) AXs (Hughes *et al.*, 2007). Modification of the molecular characteristics of arabinoxylans such as Mw is important to achieve the optimum prebiotic, antitumour activities and immune stimulation (Li *et al.*, 2013).

2.9 Immune system

AXs are of significant importance to human health because of their modulatory effect on the immune system (Li *et al.*, 2013). The immune system of the human body consists of a complex network of molecules, cells and organs that interact and communicate together to respond to the invasion of pathogens and maintain the body's homeostasis. The immune system consists of innate immunity, which is a rapid and stereotyped response, and adaptive immunity, which is slower than the innate response and arises in response to a stimulus. The innate immune response operates in conjunction with an adaptive immune response through activation of signalling pathways. Figure 2-5 gives an overview of the interactions between the innate and adaptive immune systems (Cruvinel *et al.*, 2010).

2.9.1 Innate immune system

The innate immune system is the first line of defence in the human body. It is composed of three stages; the first stage is the chemical and physical barriers while the second stage depends on cell-intrinsic mechanisms (Mogensen, 2009). The host cells can prevent viral infections by destroying the nucleic acid of the invading visruses and secrete digestive enzymes that destroy pathogenic invaders (Medzhitov and Janeway, 2000). The third stage of defence relies on recognising preserved pathogen features (pathogen-associated immune-stimulants) by the complement system and phagocytosis by immune cells such as natural killer cells, neutrophils and macrophages. Pathogen immune stimulants are referred to as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and they include pathogen cell wall polysaccharides such as chitin and mannan from fungi, lipopolysaccharides (LPS) from gram-negative bacteria and peptidoglycan from gram-positive bacteria (Volman *et al.*, 2008; Kawai and Akira , 2010; Wiersinga *et al.*, 2014).

Interestingly, AXs may contain similar structures to PAMPs after modification using chemicals, enzymes or by extrusion cooking. PAMPs are well studied especially lipopolysaccharides (LPS). LPS has the ability to initiate the host defence through recognition of its bioactive component, lipid A, via co-receptor MD-2 and toll-like

receptor 4 (TLR4) (Saitoh *et al.*, 2004; Ohto *et al.*, 2012; Kang *et al.*, 2016). The structure of lipid A is composed of six fatty acyl chains, 1 and 4 phosphate groups and a di-glucosamine backbone (Maeshima and Fernandez, 2013). AXs and di-glucosamine in lipid A share some structural similarities since both of them contain sugar monomers with 1-6 glycosidic linkages (Park *et al.*, 2009).





The complement system is part of the innate immune system. It is responsible for enhancing the ability of phagocytic cells to clear damaged cells and microbes from the system. Three pathways have been identified (classical, alternative and lectin complement pathways) (Takahashi *et al.*, 2008). All three pathways have the ability to activate the key component (1-3) referred as C3. This activation is very critical for the complement reaction as it triggers the inflammatory response, which in turn activates the rest of the components from (5 to 9) (Ali *et al.*, 2012).

The activation of the lectin pathway is through binding fucose and mannose sugars of the bacterial cell wall with the serum protein lectin. This activation triggers a cascade of events that leads to the activation and recruitment of other innate immune cells. The PAMPs from the invaders bind to PRRs (pattern recognition receptors) which are displayed on host immune cells (Takeuchi and Akira, 2010). An example of PRRs is the Toll-like receptors (TLRs) which are found on the surface of phagocytes (dendritic cells, neutrophils and macrophages). For example, Toll-like receptor-4 (TLR4) activates the innate immune response through recognition of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from the cell wall of gram-negative bacteria. Hence, understanding the PAMPs' molecular structure, which is recognised by PRRs, is very important to understand the immunomodulatory response of arabinoxylans (AXs). Post activation, neutrophils, dendritic cells and macrophages secrete cytokines to communicate with other cells in the immune system and to stimulate the immune response. On the other hand, activation of the innate immune cells produces digestive enzymes and reactive oxygen radicals that destroy pathogens (Takahashi *et al.*, 2008). Furthermore, dendritic cells play an important role in transferring ingested pathogens to the lymph nodes to activate T lymphocytes, thereby initiating a specific immune response that is part of the adaptive immune system (Kim *et al.*, 2006).

2.9.2 Adaptive immune system

Adaptive immunity protects the human body from certain death by infection. Once the innate response is initiated, it calls the adaptive immune system into play, then both work together to eliminate pathogens (Warrington *et al.*, 2011). Unlike the innate immune response, the adaptive immune response is slow but highly specific against pathogens and its protection is long lasting (Cooper and Alder, 2006). It is pointless to mount the adaptive immune response against harmless foreign molecules, otherwise the adaptive immune response might be deleterious. This is normally avoided because the adaptive immune response is triggered by the innate immune system only when the latter one recognises molecules of the attacking pathogens (PAMPs) (Bonneaud *et al.*, 2003).

Dendritic cells, also known as pathogen-presenting cells, have a surface that is packed with PRRs, which bind to the PAMPs of foreign pathogens and initiate phagocytosis (Visintin *et al.*, 2001). The dendritic cells with the ingested pathogens

then move to a peripheral lymphoid organ or to a nearby lymph node where the dendritic cells present the antigens of the ingested pathogens to T lymphocytes (Cravens and Lipsky, 2002). The cell surface of T cells are full of various receptors that recognise extraneous antigens, which can be foreign polysaccharides or large proteins (Caramalho et al., 2003). In addition, to complete the activation of the T cell, a co-stimulatory signal is sent from the dendritic cell, resulting in the proliferation of T cells with the same receptor, thereby inducing antigen-specific adaptive immune responses (Chen and Flies, 2013). To eliminate the pathogen at the infection site, T cells mature and differentiate into different types of effector T cells including cytotoxic, helper and regulatory T cells. Cytotoxic T cells have the ability to eliminate pathogens that proliferate inside the host cell. Helper T cells can release cytokines that guide dendritic cells to stay in their active form and they can stimulate antibody production from B cells that kill pathogens (Rissoan *et al.*, 1999). Helper T cells can also express co-stimulatory proteins on their surface and release cytokines to activate more cytotoxic T cells and macrophages (Croft, 2003). The regulation and control of the activated immune cells is regulated by regulatory T cells, which can inhibit the activity of cytotoxic T cells, helper T cells, and dendritic cells to avoid autoimmune responses (Sakaguchi et al., 2008). Activated B cells secrete serum proteins and synthesize antibodies that bind directly to the pathogens to inactivate them. They also recruit innate immune cells to eliminate the invaders (Clark and Ledbetter, 1994).

2.9.3 Monocytes

Monocytes are leucocytes circulating in the blood. Monocytes can express CD11b and Toll-like receptor-4 (TLR4) associated with CD14, which are triggered by LPS from the cell wall of gram-negative bacteria (Taylor *et al.*, 2005). Monocytes originate from haematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow. Activation of these stem cells results in differentiation to common myeloid progenitors (CMPs) which differentiate further into macrophage and granulocyte progenitors (Ogawa, 1993). Prior to the transforming of haematopoietic stem cells into circulating monocytes, they undertake a series of divisions (Chow *et al.*, 2011). Monocytes circulate in the blood

and have the potential to differentiate into dendritic cells or macrophages (Geissmann *et al.*, 2010). Differentiation to macrophages requires the activation of runt-related transcription factor, which encodes the ETS family transcription factor PU.1 (Lawrence *et al.*, 2011).

2.9.4 Macrophages MΦ

Monocytes circulate in the blood for up to two days, and then they migrate into tissues and differentiate into M Φ (Van Furth and Cohn, 1968; Geissmann *et al.*, 2010). Macrophages and neutrophils are phagocytes and they have the ability to take up pathogens through a process known as phagocytosis which is engulfment of large particles > 0.5 µm into cells, through an actin-dependent mechanism (Silva, 2010). The phagocytosis recognition mechanisms in macrophages occur through PRRs that recognise PAMPs (Aderem and Underhill, 1999). Activation of M Φ results from PAMPs' recognition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria (Plüddemann *et al.*, 2011). Macrophages have a range of PRRs including TLR, which are triggered by phagocytosis of the pathogens. This activation results in pro-inflammatory cytokine production including IL-23, IL-12, IL-6 and TNF α (Mosser and Edwards, 2008). Activated macrophages also express inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), which is responsible for generating nitric oxide (NO), a key mediator for the killing of bacteria within macrophages (Adams *et al.*, 1997).

2.9.5 PAMPs and PRRs

As mentioned previously, PAMPs are responsible for initiating the innate immune response through PRRs, of which the TLR family has been extensively investigated in recent years (Medzhitov, 2001; Akira *et al.*, 2006). PAMPs share three characteristics, including being essential for pathogens, invariant in all pathogens and distinguishable from self (Mogensen, 2009). Upon recognition of PAMPs, PRRs at the cell surface send a signal to the host triggering antimicrobial and pro-inflammatory responses through activation of intracellular pathways including transcription factors and kinases (Akira and Takeda, 2004), resulting in activation of gene expression and the production of chemokines and cytokines which result in host response to infection.

2.9.6 Toll-like receptor family (TLRs)

The most investigated class of PRRs is the TLR family. Their name is derived from their homology to the Toll protein in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Medzhitov *et al.*, 1997). The structure hallmark of all known TLRs is composed of a cysteine-rich domain in the extracellular part, leucine-rich motifs (LRR) and a cytoplasmic signalling Toll/IL 1 receptor (TIR) homology domain in the intracellular region (Gay and Keith, 1991; O'Neill and Bowie, 2007). The intracellular signal transduction is due to receptor oligomerisation that is induced by ligand binding to TLRs. To date, 10 TLRs have been identified in mammals and each of them recognises distinct PAMPs derived from bacteria, viruses, fungi and protozoa (Akira *et al.*, 2006).

The TLRs include TLR1, TLR2, TLR4 and TLR6 that recognise lipoproteins such as Triacyl Lipopeptides and LPS, while TLR3, TLR7, TLR8 and TLR9 recognise nucleic acids such as dsRNA or ssRNA (Akira *et al.*, 2006).

2.9.6.1 TLR4 structure and gene mapping

TLR4 is composed of two main domains; an intracellular 187-residue and an extracellular 608-residue domain (Medzhitov *et al.*, 1997). However, it has been demonstrated that for ligand-induced activation, TLR4 transfection is not enough and TLR4 has to be associated with myeloid differentiation 2 (MD2) (Shimazu *et al.*, 1999). Furthermore, CD14 and LPS binding protein assist the transfer of LPS monomers to TLR4 and MD2 (Zanoni *et al.*, 2011). After LPS binding, adaptor proteins (TIR domains) in the cytoplasmic tail are recruited and the TIR interacts with the domains present on the adaptors. In general, TLR4 recognise LPS via the lipid A part (Poltorak *et al.*, 1998a). Chromosomal mapping of TLR4 has been achieved for mouse and human in 1998; it was mapped to chromosome 9q32-33 in human and to chromosome 4 in mouse (Rock *et al.*, 1998; Poltorak *et al.*, 1998b). The LR4 mouse gene is 91.7 kb in size, while the human gene is only 19 kb, with the longer length of the mouse gene due to longer intronic sequences. Apart from that, they are structurally similar (Smirnova *et al.*, 2000). The intracellular TIR domain is the signal-mediating fragment of TLR4, while the extracellular part has 9 N-linked glycosylation sites that are

essential to transport the protein to the cell surface (Rock *et al.*, 1998; Da Silva Correia and Ulevitch, 2002).

2.9.6.2 TLR4 gene expression

TLR4 gene expression has been found in foetal ileum, foetal skin, heart, lung, epithelial cells, Kupffer cells, endothelial cells and many other cells and tissues (Medzhitov *et al.*, 1997; Frantz *et al.*, 1999; Su *et al.*, 2000; Laflamme and Rivest, 2001;; Song *et al.*, 2001; Holmlund *et al.*, 2002). The regulation of TLR4 expression is crucial for the innate immune response; there are only up to 1000 TLR4 receptors on the cell surface and overexpression of the gene will lead to heart failure and hypersensitivity to LPS (Frantz *et al.*, 1999). On the other hand, downregulation of the gene will lead to LPS tolerance (Medvedev *et al.*, 2000).

2.9.6.3 TLR4 ligands

It has been suggested that LPS from gram-negative bacteria has the ability to mediate cytokine production, but it also works as a receptor for some ligands such as heat shock protein (hsp60) and it induces pro-inflammatory responses (Ohashi *et al.*, 2000; Okamura *et al.*, 2001; Smiley *et al.*, 2001). In addition, TLR4 mediates maturation of murine β -D2- defensin and dendritic cells by LPS (Biragyn *et al.*, 2002). TLR4 stimulators are illustrated in Table 2.5.

Stimulant	Source	References			
Endogenous	1	·			
Surfactant protein A	Lung endothelium	Guillot <i>et al.,</i> 2002			
Hsp70	Cytoplasm	Asea et al., 2002			
Fibrinogen	Serum	Smiley <i>et al.,</i> 2001			
Exogenous					
LPS	Cell wall of gram negative bacteria	Poltorak <i>et al.,</i> 1998a			
P fimbriae	Cell wall of gram negative bacteria	Frendéus <i>et al.</i> ,2001			
Glucuronoxylomannan	Yeast	Shoham <i>et al.,</i> 2001			

Table 2.5 Some exogenous and endogenous TLR4 stimulants

2.9.7 Lipopolysaccharides (LPS)

LPS is a major component of the cell wall of gram-negative bacteria (Guha *et al.*, 2001), consisting of three parts; a polysaccharide side chain also known as O-antigen or O-chain, a non-repeating core polysaccharide and lipid A which is a hydrophobic part. The polysaccharide side chain and non-repeating core polysaccharide are projections from the surface while the hydrophobic domain is embedded in the outer membrane. The lipid A domain is a source of toxicity while the O-chains are easily detected by the host antibodies and to avoid detection they are often modified by bacteria (Lerouge and Vanderleyden, 2002; Miller *et al.*, 2005). Lipopolysaccharide structure is illustrated in Figure 2-6. Low levels of LPS are sufficient to induce a substantial inflammatory response of the innate immune system. LPS binds to the LPS binding protein (LBP) in serum, before being transferred to CD14 then to MD2, which is associated with TLR4. The receptor complex then promotes the secretion of nitric oxide (NO) and pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL 8 in monocytes and macrophages (Johnson *et al.*, 2002; Termeer *et al.*, 2002; Miller *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 2-6 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) structure a. LPS lipid A, O-antigen and core oligosaccharide. b. TLR4-MD2-CD14 receptor complex (Miller *et al.*, 2005).

2.9.8 Cytokines

Cytokines are small, soluble proteins that affect the function or growth of cells. Cytokines can act in a paracrine way (affect nearby cells) or an autocrine way (affect the same cell). However, some cytokines might have systemic effects such as IL-6, IL-8 and TNFα. The action of cytokines is on immune cells and in orchestrating immune system responses (Vilček and Feldmann, 2004).

2.9.8.1 Tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNFα)

TNF α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine and it has various biological effects. Local TNF α production is critical for the elimination of local infections (Motley *et al.*, 2004). TNF α systemic release also plays a vital role in septic shock. Therefore, TNF α expression is

regulated on all levels; transcriptional, translational and post-translational. TNF α is released in macrophages and monocytes in response to foreign stimuli such as LPS from gram-negative bacteria. The secretion of TNF α from T-cells is initiated by activation of the T-cell receptor. In addition, natural killer cells and B-cells can produce TNF α (Eissner *et al.*, 2000; Yu *et al.*, 2009). There are two receptors that mediate the effects of TNF α , these are TNFR1 and TNFR2. The effect of TNF α on endothelial cells includes upregulation of leukocyte adhesion molecules that contribute to leukocyte recruitment. Moreover, TNF α is involved in apoptosis, differentiation and proliferation. It is also involved in inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (Motley *et al.*, 2004).

2.9.8.2 Nitric oxide (NO)

Nitric oxide (NO) is a short-lived, gaseous, small molecule composed of one atom of oxygen and one atom of nitrogen, thus making it a free radical due to unpaired electrons (Pacher *et al.*, 2007). In the human body, NO is defined as a product of macrophage activation by pro-inflammatory cytokines, microbial endotoxins such as LPS or both. NO is a product of I-arginine degradation, the reaction being catalysed by an enzyme called inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) (Bogdan, 2001). This reaction requires several cofactors including calcium/calmodulin, flavin mononucleotide (FMN), nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH), flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD), tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4), oxygen and haem (Marletta, 1994; Baek *et al.*, 1993). There are three known isoforms of NOS; their names come from where they were first found. Inducible NOS (iNOS) was found in macrophages, endothelial NOS (eNOS) found in endothelial cells and the neuronal NOS (nNOS) found in the brain. These isoforms are also known as NOS-2, NOS-3 and NOS-1 respectively (Alderton *et al.*, 2001).

2.9.8.2.1 NO role in macrophages

NO production in macrophages depends on their activation in response to cytokine or bacterial endotoxin stimuli. Macrophages act as patrolling cells and produce low levels of NO in quiescent conditions. However, once activated by stimuli, macrophages produce an excessive amount of NO, releasing NO₂- and NO₃-, which are important in scavenging pathogens (Marletta *et al.*, 1988; Hibbs, 2002). Although NO production is critical for macrophage phagocytosis, an excessive amount of NO has been associated with high levels of necrosis and apoptosis (Sarih *et al.*, 1993). In addition, it has also been reported that high levels of NO induce autoimmune reactions such as asthma and arthritis (Schmidt and Walter, 1994; Barnes and Liew, 1995). Therefore, it is crucial to modulate macrophage-produced NO.

2.10 Immunomodulating properties of food

The functionality of the immune system is crucial for protecting the body from the attacks of pathogens or cancer cell proliferation. Thus, it plays a vital role in health homeostasis. However, many factors disturb immune functions such as an unhealthy lifestyle, malnutrition, physical stress, disease and aging (Nahrendorf and Swirski, 2015). Evidence suggests ingestion of foods with immune-modulatory effects are able to prevent declining immune function or reduce the risk of infection (Kaminogawa and Nanno, 2004). There are many studies suggesting that food ingestion can improve depressed immune functions by moderating the severity of infectious diseases and reducing infection rates (El-Gamal et al., 2011). Thus, foods with the ability to improve immune responses, particularly in patients with impaired immunity such as cancer patients (Braga et al., 1996), are both clinically and commercially valuable. Cereals feed more than half of the world population; they are composed mainly of starch, protein, some minerals and non-starch polysaccharides that cannot be hydrolysed by human enzymes (Mohan *et al.*, 2010). Arabinoxylans are the main non-starch polysaccharides of many cereals (Zhou et al., 2010). It has been reported that arabinoxylans possess immune-modulatory effects (Li et al., 2015).

2.11 Rice bran AXs (MGN-3/Biobran)

Biobran/MGN-3 is an arabinoxylan extracted from rice bran with modification by hydrolysing enzymes from shiitake mushrooms, and its structure is composed of a xylose backbone attached to arabinose monomers with a molecular weight of 30-50 kDa (Ghoneum et al., 2004; Pérez-Martínez et al., 2015). There are several in vivo and *in vitro* studies suggesting that MGN-3 is capable of enhancing the function of both innate and adaptive immune cells such as B cells, T cells, macrophages, natural killer cells and dendritic cells (Ghoneum and Brown, 1999; Ghoneum and Abedi, 2004; Ghoneum et al., 2004; Ghoneum et al., 2008; Cholujova et al., 2009). The mechanism of action of biobran/MGN-3 is not fully understood, however, it was suggested that modification of the long chain arabinoxylans is involved and that modifying them to low molecular weights is important in order for them to be taken up by M cells (microfold cells) in the Peyer's patches. In M cells, polysaccharides are transported to underlying immune cells (Samuelsen et al., 2011). Moreover, it was suggested that low molecular weight arabinoxylans can be transferred directly to the blood stream or can diffuse into the blood stream through the intestinal walls, and then transported to different immune cells residing in lymph nodes (Ghoneum and Jewett, 1999).

2.11.1 MGN-3 in vitro studies

Several studies have investigated the effect of MGN-3 on different cell lines. It has been reported that MGN-3 is able to transform human monocytes to immature dendritic cells in the presence of two cytokine solutions (LPS and IFN γ) and (IL-1 β , TNF α and IL-6) (Cholujova *et al.*, 2009). MGN-3 showed a substantial (190%) increase in phagocytosis by U937 macrophages. It has also been reported that MGN-3 is able to increase the IL-6 and TNF α in treated macrophages from U937 and RAW264.7 (murine macrophage cell line) (Ghoneum and Matsuura, 2004). MGN-3 effect on different cell lines is illustrated in Table 2.6.

Cell line type	In vitro assay	References	
Peripheral blood monocytes	Dendritic cell differentiation	(Cholujova <i>et al.,</i> 2009)	
HUT78 Leukaemia cell line	Apoptosis assay, Bcl-2 and CD95 expression	(Ghoneum and Gollapudi, 2004)	
RAW264.7 and P-MΦ cell lines	Nitric oxide production assay	(Ghoneum and Matsuura, 2004)	
PBLs human peripheral blood lymphocytes	IFNy ELISA assay and ⁵¹ Cr release assay	(Ghoneum, 1998)	

Table 2.6 MGN-3 effect on different cell lines in vitro

2.11.2 MGN-3 in vivo studies

Several *in vivo* studies have investigated the functionality of MGN-3 on animal immune systems. Badr El-Din *et al*, (2008) investigated the effect of intra-tumoural and intra-peritoneal supplementation of MGN-3 on Ehrlich carcinoma bearing mice, reporting that at a concentration of 40 mg/kg body weight of MGN-3 is able to delay tumour growth. The inhibitory effect of MGN-3 treatment on tumour growth had positive effects from day 14 post-injection, with tumour weight and volume reducing by 45% and 63%, respectively in mice at day 35. Moreover, MGN-3 showed antitumor effects and an increase in IFNγ production of 154%, apoptotic activity of 76%, TNFα secretion of 11% and NK cell activity of 100%. These results suggested that the antitumor effect of MGN-3 is due to its ability to induce IFNγ and TNFα. Key studies that have investigated the effects of MGN-3 *in vivo* are listed in Table 2.7.

Animal models	In vivo assay	References
Mice bearing Ehrlich ascites carcinoma (EAC)	Apoptotic assay	(Badr El-Din <i>et al.,</i> 2016)
Rats gastric cancer	Apoptosis assay, tumour marker Ki-67 assay	(El-Din <i>et al.,</i> 2016)
Mature female Swiss albino mice	Antioxidant assay, gene expression and anti- tumour activity assay	(Noaman <i>et al.,</i> 2008)
Mature female Swiss albino mice	Tumour apoptosis, IFN γ , TNF α and IL 10 ELISA, 51Cr release assay	(Badr El-Din <i>et al.,</i> 2008)

Table 2.7 MGN-3 effect on different animal models in vivo

2.12 Immunomodulatory effects of rice bran polysaccharides

Many researchers have studied the effect of modified arabinoxylan (MGN-3) on the immune system in vitro and in vivo. However, there is limited research on nonmodified arabinoxylans extracted from rice, including polysaccharides extracted from rice without enzyme modification. In 2008, Wang et al. studied the effect of RBPS2a (rice bran hetero-polysaccharide) extracted with hot water on anticomplementary activity. The study indicated that RBPS2a has the ability to induce in vitro red blood cell lysis and complement consumption through residual complement activity. Another study extracted another fraction of arabinoxylan from rice bran using carbohydrate-hydrolysing enzymes for a longer period. The extracted arabinoxylan had low molecular weight and structure similar to MGN-3 (Hoshino et al., 2010). Mast cells treated with the arabinoxylan (0.3 mg/ml) showed a remarkable depletion in β -hexosamindase secretion post-antigen stimulation. In addition, IL-4 and TNF α secretion were inhibited after treating the mast cells with the arabinoxylans, suggesting that arabinoxylans extracted from rice bran have the ability to suppress cytokine secretion and degranulation of mast cells (Hoshino et al., 2010).

Other rice bran polysaccharides (not AXs) have been suggested to exhibit antitumor and immunomodulatory activities. Oral administration of rice bran polysaccharide (α glucan) showed significant antitumor activity on gastrointestinal carcinogenesis in rats (Takeshita *et al.*, 1992).

2.13 Immunomodulatory effects of wheat bran and wheat endosperm arabinoxylans

It has been reported that oral administration of arabinoxylans extracted from wheat bran using xylanases and alkali extraction have an immune-modulatory effect on both the innate and adaptive immune system (Cao *et al.*, 2011; Zhou *et al.*, 2010). Alkali extracted arabinoxylans from wheat bran showed an inhibitory effect on tumour growth and IL-2 production at 100-400 mg/kg on S 180 tumour bearing mice. The most significant results were at the highest concentration (400 mg/kg). Moreover, there was an increase in leukocyte count and stem cell proliferation was enhanced after oral administration of arabinoxylans (Cao *et al.*, 2011).

Another study conducted by Zhou *et al.* (2010) indicated that (200 mg/kg) oral administration of enzyme extracted wheat bran AXs exhibits immunostimulatory effects on both innate and adaptive immunity. The enzyme-extracted arabinoxylans were reported to stimulate phagocytosis by macrophages and postpone hypersensitivity more than alkaline extracted arabinoxylans (Zhou *et al.*, 2010).

Recently, Li *et al.* (2015) investigated the effect of enzyme-extracted arabinoxylans from wheat endosperm pentosan on U937 and Caco-2 cell lines. They reported that enzyme extracted arabinoxylans (AXE) generate higher nitric oxide (NO) levels than water extracted arabinoxylans (WEAX) and the increase in NO production was dosedependent. It was reported that AXE is more effective than WEAX in stimulating IL-8 production (Li *et al.*, 2015).

It is clear that there are several factors affecting the immunomodulatory potential of arabinoxylans including the method of extraction, enzyme/chemical treatments and botanical source.

2.14 Potential arabinoxylan receptors

Although receptors for AXs have not been identified, some potential receptors have been proposed. Previous studies suggested that AXs from different sources have

immunomodulatory potentials. Therefore, it is possible to speculate that their mechanism of action is by acting like PAMPs. Fascinatingly, extracted AXs from cornhusk and rice bran showed some similarities in terms of molecular weight and structure to lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from gram-negative bacteria (Ghoneum and Ogura, 1999; Ogawa *et al.*, 2005). As an example, LPS has in its outer core hexoses such as glucose and galactose, which are found in arabinoxylans. Another similarity in the structure of LPS and AXs includes C-3 branched polysaccharides (Rietschel *et al.*, 1994; Heinrichs *et al.*, 1998). Moreover, enzyme-treated arabinoxylans from wheat endosperm pentosan showed low molecular weight (1-25 kDa) (Li *et al.*, 2015) which is within the molecular weight range (10-20 kDa) of LPS (Sigma-Aldrich, 2016). Therefore, arabinoxylans might activate phagocytes by attaching to toll-like receptors expressed on the surface of phagocytes. Since LPS binds to TLR4 specifically, it suggests that TLR4 may also be a potential receptor for arabinoxylans. If true, arabinoxylans may compete with LPS for the TLR4 receptor in the presence of infection, thus mediating the LPS-induced immune response.

Other receptors besides TLRs may also act as receptors for arabinoxylans. These include the Dectin-1 receptor, which has been reported to be a β glucan receptor. However, recently Sahasrabudhe *et al.* (2016) have reported that arabinoxylan from wheat has the ability to stimulate Dectin-1 receptors and it enhanced IL-23, and IL-4 expression in Dectin-1 stimulated dendritic cells.

2.15 Structure-activity relationship

It has been suggested that the activity of arabinoxylans is dependent on their sugar composition, molecular weight and degree of branching (Zhou *et al.*, 2010; Cao *et al.*, 2011). The most investigated type of arabinoxylans (MGN-3) has a low molecular weight with a low arabinose to xylose ratio (0.5) (Zhang *et al.*, 2015) which is similar to the enzyme extracted wheat bran AXs (Zhou *et al.*, 2010). Both of the polysaccharides showed the ability to activate macrophages. However, MGN-3 appeared to be more effective which might be due to differences in the sugar composition since MGN-3 has more glucose and galactose side chains (Zhang *et al.*,

2015). In contrast, alkaline-extracted arabinoxylans from wheat bran and banana peel showed substantial immunomodulatory activity, despite the molecular weight of the arabinoxylans being large (288 and 352 kDa in banana peel and wheat bran respectively), suggesting several receptors may be involved (Zhang *et al.*, 2008b; Zhou *et al.*, 2010; Cao *et al.*, 2011). Table 2.8 shows the relationship between the structural properties of AXs from different sources on immunomodulatory activities.

Origin	Extraction method	Immunomodulatory activity	Mw (kDa)	Glu %	Gal %	Xyl %	Ara %	Ar/Xy	References
Wheat bran	alkaline	Tumour inhibition, Mф activation	352	7.7	na	50.2	41.8	0.83	Zhou <i>et al.,</i> 2010
Wheat bran	enzyme	Mφ activation	32.5	2.8	na	62.4	34.8	0.55	Zhou <i>et al.,</i> 2010
Banana peel	alkaline	Μφ activation	288	na	21.6	25.6	52.8	2.1	Zhang <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2004
Rice bran	na	Μφ, DCs and NK activation	30- 50	6	5-7	48- 54	22- 26	0.5	Zhang <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2015

Table 2.8 Structural properties of AXs

Summary

Arabinoxylans are very important food additives due to several health benefits, especially their immunomodulatory function. Several extraction methods have been applied to increase the water-soluble AXs and to decrease its molecular weight from several sources. Furthermore, many in vitro and in vivo -studies have tested the immunomodulatory potential of AXs. However, there appears to be no research that has used extrusion cooking as a pre-treatment to increase water extractability and reduce the molecular weight of rice bran and wheat endosperm pentosan. Moreover, there is no research investigating the mechanism of action of AXs on human monocytes and induced macrophages. Therefore, this research study was divided into two stages; stage one studied the effect of extrusion cooking on molecular weight and water extractable AXs from rice bran and wheat endosperm pentosan. The second stage investigated the effect of extracts on NO production in both U937 monocytes and macrophages. Furthermore, the potential mechanism of action of AXs was investigated via pharmacological inhibition of the TLR4 receptor and testing the effect of AXs on downstream TNF a secretion from monocytes and, in particular, macrophages.

Chapter 3 The effect of extrusion screw-speed on water-extractable AXs from wheat endosperm and rice bran

3.1 Introduction

Extrusion cooking is an important food processing technology, especially for the production of cereal-based products (Vasanthan *et al.*, 2002). It is a thermal processing that involves the application of high temperature, high shear forces and high pressure for a short time in which expansive, moistened food materials are cooked in a tube by a combination of mechanical shear, pressure, moisture and temperature, resulting in materials modification by physiochemical changes and molecular re-distribution (Riha *et al.*, 1996; Castells *et al.*, 2005; Thymi *et al.*, 2005; Pawar *et al.*, 2014).

Extrusion cooking has several advantages over other processing methods because of energy savings, versatility, low cost, productivity and speed (Zhang *et al.*, 2011). The use of high temperature and high pressure in extrusion cooking results in the modification of structural, chemical and physical properties of the extruded products. The effects of extrusion on the nutritional profile depend on several factors, including extruder type, screw combination, temperature and moisture content (Björck and Asp, 1983).

The thermoplastic extrusion use in food processing is assisted by the type of the extruders, which are divided into single-screw and twin-screw extruders (Navale *et al.*, 2015). Twin-screw extruders possess more advantages than single-screw extruders, including feeding, residence time distribution, mixing, heat transfer and pumping performance (Akdogan, 1996).

Several researchers have investigated the effects of extrusion on the composition of cereal-based products. Vasanthan *et al.* (2002) reported that extrusion could increase the soluble dietary fibre (SDF) in extruded barley flour. The increase of SDF content was from 5.62% in non-extruded barley flour to 7.24% in extruded barley flour under a barrel temperature of 140°C, screw-speed of 50 rpm and moisture

content of 50%. The increase in SDF was explained by transglycosylation from nondietary fibre components (i.e. starch) to SDF and transformation of insoluble dietary fibre (IDF) to SDF.

Recently, Daou and Zhang (2012) investigated the effect of extrusion cooking on rice bran dietary fibre solubility. A twin-screw extruder was used with a screw-speed of 90 rpm, barrel temperatures of 50-75-95-100°C (feed end to die) and a moisture content of 18 %. They found that the content of soluble dietary fibre had increased from 5.9% in non-extruded samples to 6.8% in extruded samples. The possible explanation for the increase in dietary fibre solubility might have been due to the reduction in particle sizes of the extruded samples.

A previous study looked at the effects of extrusion on soluble/insoluble dietary fibre of rice, oats and wheat (Gualberto *et al.*, 1997). Their extrusion conditions and soluble dietary fibre alteration are reported in Table 2.4. The results showed a significant decrease in IDF whereas SDF effectively increased in all samples. The decrease in IDF and increase in SDF could be explained by the breaking of chemical bonds in IDF due to the extruder shear force, which might have transformed the IDF macromolecules into smaller molecules, which are soluble. In addition, it can be noted that the highest amount of soluble dietary fibre was obtained at lower screwspeeds (50 and 70 rpm) which might generate high pressure inside the extruder resulting in the breaking up of the covalent/non-covalent bonds between the IDF macromolecules and transformation of IDF to SDF.

Recently, Jeon *et al.* (2014) investigated the effect of extrusion moisture content and screw-speed on the WEAX in corn fibre. The highest extraction yield of WEAX was obtained at 30%, which was 917g/kg in comparison to non-extruded corn fibre, which was 717g/kg. The screw-speeds used were 200, 250 and 300 rpm. The WEAX contents increased with increasing screw-speed from 717g/kg in non-extruded samples to 870, 917 and 1011 g/kg in samples extruded at screw-speeds of 200, 250 and 300 rpm, respectively.

AXs are major dietary fibres found in many cereals such as corn, wheat and rice (Broekaert et al., 2011). Only a few researchers have investigated the effect of extrusion cooking on AXs' solubility and molecular weight distribution. Santala et al. (2013) investigated the effect of extrusion cooking on WEAX levels and molecular weight. It was reported that the extrusion of wheat bran increased the solubility of AXs from 1.7% to 2.5% when the water content decreased from 92% to 42-60% respectively under a fixed screw-speed at 65 rpm and fixed barrel temperature at 50 °C. They reported that the increase in WEAX level might be due to the action of endogenous hydrolytic enzymes of the bran material (Dornez et al., 2009). Another possible explanation could be the reduction of enzyme inhibitors by the low water content (Jerkovic et al., 2010). The effect of extrusion on molecular weight was significantly reduced from 158 kDa in non-extruded samples to 131, 79 and 68 kDa with the water content of 37, 48 and 60%, respectively in wheat bran. It was suggested that the endogenous enzymes of bran material were not able to hydrolyse WEAX at 37% water content, whereas, at higher water contents of 48 and 60% the molecular weight was significantly lower, suggesting that these amounts of water content are the optimum for endogenous enzymes to hydrolyse the WEAX (Santala et al., 2013).

Low molecular weights of AXs between (30-50 kDa) have been reported to have immunomodulatory effects *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Ghoneum and Matsuura, 2004). Therefore, the target we were trying to achieve was to increase the solubility of AXs and reduce their molecular weights, which might be achieved with extrusion as a pretreatment method.

3.2 Materials

3.2.1 Carbohydrates

Ener-G, General Dietary Ltd (Surrey, UK) kindly provided rice bran. Henan Lianhua Monosodium Glutamate Group Co. Ltd (Xiangcheng, China) kindly provided wheat endosperm pentosans.

3.2.2 Chemicals

D-(+)-Xylose, dextrose (D-glucose) anhydrous, acetic acid (glacial), hydrochloric acid, phloroglucinol and ethanol were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Co, Brøndby, Denmark. These chemicals were used in the determination of xylose in wheat endosperm pentosan and rice bran. Eight pullulan (linear α -(1-4) glucans with no side chains) standards, of varying molecular weights (ranging from 5-708 kDa), were purchased from Shodex (Shanghai, China) and were used for SEC-HPLC to characterise the Mw of AXs. Sodium nitrate (NaNO₃) and sodium, azide (NaN₃) for the HPLC mobile phase were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, UK.

3.2.3 Enzymes

Termamyl (α-amylase), type XII-A, *Bacillus licheniformis* A3403-1MU and proteinase, type XXIII, *Aspergillus melleus* P4032 were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Co, Brøndby, Denmark.

3.3 Methods

A significant amount of time was spent developing the water extraction and purification methods.

3.3.1 Fat extraction

Wheat pentosan and rice bran fats were extracted prior to extrusion using the method provided by (Buchi, 2016). Briefly, 10 g of the food sample was weighed into an extraction thimble (Buchi, Switzerland), placed in a hot extraction beaker (HEB) followed by addition 40 ml of petroleum ether (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough), and transferred to the extraction unit E-812/E-816 HE (Buchi, Switzerland).

3.3.2 Extrusion pre-treatment

A Werner Pfleiderer Continua 37 co-rotating, self-wiping twin-screw extruder (Werner Pfleiderer, Stuttgart, Germany) was used for the extrusion pre-treatment of rice bran and wheat endosperm pentosan. The extruder used for this process had the following characteristics: a length to diameter ratio (L/D) of 27:1, rice bran and pentosan were treated at two different screw-speeds (SS) 80 rpm and 160 rpm (revolution per minute) with a feed rate of 10 kg/h. The extruder was equipped with a twin circular die with a 4 mm diameter. The barrel temperature was controlled in two zones and was set at 80 to 140 °C (feed end and die end, respectively) and samples were extruded at a fixed moisture content of 30% (w/w wet weight basis). Extruded samples were dried at 60°C for 12 hours. After drying, the extrudates were then stored in food grade bags and vacuum-sealed using a Turbovac SB425 Vacuum Packer (Stockport, UK) and kept at 21°C for further analysis. An IKA A 11 basic analytical mill (IKA: Oxford, UK) was used to grind all samples to a powder. The resulting powder was subsequently passed through an Endecotts 0.4 mm testing sieve and the fraction passing through this was used in all subsequent analyses. Table 3.1 summarises the extrusion conditions applied to the rice bran and wheat endosperm pentosan samples.

Sample	Throughput (Kg/h)	Moisture (%)	Screw-speed rpm	Barrel temperature	Torque %
Rice bran	10	27.4	160	80 to 140 °C	30
Pentosan	7	25.9	160	80 to 140 °C	25
Rice bran	10	27.4	80	80 to 140 °C	49
Pentosan	7.0	25.9	80	80 to 140 °C	30

 Table 3.1 Summary of extrusion process conditions

3.3.3 Extraction of water-extractable AXs

The extraction method used in this research was adapted from Li et al (2013). The pentosan and rice bran samples (100 g) were added to 333 ml water and then incubated in a shaking water bath (Precision SWB 15, ThermoScientific, London, UK) for two hours at 40°C. After incubation, the samples were then centrifuged for 40 minutes at 6000 x g. The supernatants were transferred to Erlenmeyer flasks and the pH of the solution was adjusted to 7 using (1M HCl) or (1M NaOH), then 400 ppm of thermostable α -amylase (500 Units/mg) was added, incubated in a water bath at 91°C for 60 minutes and the samples were then cooled to room temperature. Protein degradation was achieved with the addition of 400 ppm of proteinase (3 Units/mg) and incubation at 50 °C for 14h. After incubation, the enzymes were deactivated by placing the sample in a boiling water bath for 10 minutes. The samples were allowed to cool to room temperature naturally and centrifuged at 4600 x g for 20 minutes. Ethanol solution (95%) was added to the supernatant in a ratio of 70:30 (v/v) and allowed to stand at 4°C overnight. The precipitate formed was then recovered by centrifugation (4600 x g for 20 minutes). The supernatant was discarded and the residue was retained and weighed. The residue was washed and vortexed twice with 20 ml ethanol (99%). Finally, acetone (20 ml) was added and the sample vortexed for one minute followed by centrifugation at 4600 x g for 20 minutes. The final precipitates were dried for 48 hours at 45°C in a drying oven and then stored in food grade bags and vacuum-sealed using Turbovac SB425 Vacuum Packer (Stockport, UK) and kept at 21°C for further analysis.

3.3.4 Water-extractable arabinoxylan (WEAX) determination

The percentages of xylose in the extracts were determined using a phloroglucinol colorimetric assay following the method provided by Douglas (Douglas, 1981). Absorbance's of the samples was measured using a ThermoScientific GENESYS 10S Bio Spectrophotometer (London, UK) at 552 nm and 510 nm.

A xylose standard curve (Appendix 1) was constructed to determine the xylose content of the rice bran and wheat pentosan samples, which was subsequently used to calculate the amount of AXs in the extracts.

3.3.5 Determination of sugar composition of purified extracts by HPLC

The sugar composition of the purified extracts was determined using a method adapted from (Zheng *et al.*, 2011). In this method, 100 mg of each supernatant was transferred into boiling tube and 1ml of 1M H2SO4 was added for acid hydrolysis. All the tubes were incubated in 100°C glycerine bath for 2 hours and cooled down using flow of cold water to room temperature. The samples then were transferred to 20ml volumetric flask and diluted using HPLC water grade. The pH was adjusted to 7 using 1M H2SO4 and 1M NaOH, and then transferred to 100 ml volumetric flask and diluted to 100 ml volumetric flask and diluted water grade.

A 5 ml aliquot of each sample was transferred into small beaker and 5ml polypropylene syringe was used to filter the samples through a 0.45 μ m nylon membrane. Samples were transferred to a 1 ml glass shell vial and 20 μ l aliquots were analysed by HPLC system. A Shimadzu LC-20 AB HPLC system, (Shimadzu Corporation, Tokyo, Japan), equipped with a Refractive Index Detector (RID) 10A, SUPELGUARD Pb (5 cm × 4.6 mm) guard column (Phenomenex, Macclesfield, UK) and SUPELCOGEL Pb (30 cm × 7.8 mm) column (Ion exclusion separation mode) (Phenomenex, Macclesfield, UK) was used to determine the sugar content of the samples. The column temperature, mobile phase and flow rate were 80°C, HPLC grade water and 0.5 ml/min respectively in an isocratic run. Different concentrations (0.25, 0.5, 0.75 and 1 mg/ml) of glucose, xylose, galactose and arabinose were prepared as standards to plot a series of calibration curves (Appendix 2) from which the amount of each of the sugars was calculated based upon the relative peak areas.

3.3.6 Molecular weight standard curve

Five pullulan standards ranging from 5-375 kDa were used to construct the standard curve, the molecular weights of the standards are shown in Table 3.2. The standards

were prepared with mobile phase at 0.5 mg/ml concentration and left overnight at 5°C. All samples and standards were filtered through a 0.45 μ m nylon membrane and then transferred to 1 ml glass shell vials. To get the pullulan standard curve, the pullulan molecular weights were converted to log molecular weights and then they were plotted versus the retention time (Appendix 3).

Samples	Molecular weight (Dalton)
P-5	5,900
P-20	21,100
P-100	107,000
P-200	200,000
P-400	375,000

 Table 3.2 Molecular weight of pullulan standards

3.3.7 Determination of the molecular weight distribution of AXs by HPLC

The dry samples were prepared for analysis by dissolving 2 mg of each sample in 1 ml mobile phase and left overnight at 5°C. The mobile phase was prepared by dissolving 0.65 g NaN₃ and 17g NaNO₃ in HPLC-grade water and made up to 2000 ml.

The molecular weight distribution of the arabinoxylans was determined using size exclusion chromatography. All samples were analysed using a Shimadzu LC-10 HPLC (Shimadzu Corporation, Kyoto, Japan), equipped with a JASCO RI-2031 Refractive Index (RI) Detector (Jasco Corporation, Tokyo, Japan), and BioSep-SEC-S 4000 and BioSep-SEC-S 3000 columns (Phenomenex, Macclesfield, UK). An isocratic run was used, with a flow rate of 0.6 ml/min (Li *et al.*, 2013).

3.4 Statistics

Data were expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean. The significance between samples was determined by one-way analysis of variance ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison tests on SPSS 23 software. A *P* value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.5 Results

3.5.1 The effect of extrusion on extraction of AXs from rice bran and wheat endosperm pentosan

The extrusion had a positive effect on the extraction yields of arabinoxylans in both rice bran and wheat pentosan. The extraction yields represents the percentage of total weight of sample. The increase in the extrusion screw-speed showed an increase in the extraction yield. The total AXs was calculated using the xylose standard curve (Appendix 1) and the Ar/Xy ratio obtained using HPLC (Appendix 2).

In rice bran, extrusion significantly increased the water-extractable AXs percentage from 0.58 ± 0.0 % in rice bran without extrusion to 1.22 ± 0.0 % (*P*<0.05) in rice bran at 80 rpm screw-speed and it reached 1.62 ± 0.0 % (*P*<0.05) at 160 rpm screw-speed. Table 3.3 shows the % of total weight of AX for rice bran samples at different screw-speeds and the percentage of arabinose with xylose over the total sugars percentage.

Sample	Ar/Xyl	Total AX g/100g Unpurified sample	Ar+Xyl %/total sugars %
RBW	1.55±0.020	0.58±0.082	88.13
RB80	1.46±0.008	1.22±0.09	88.31
RB160	1.40±0.006	1.62±0.07	88.85

Table 3.3 Extraction yield of AXs from rice bran

In wheat pentosan samples, the extrusion significantly increased the waterextractable arabinoxylans percentage from 8.95 ± 0.1 % in wheat without extrusion to 11.07 ± 0.2 % (*P*<0.05) in wheat pentosan at 80 rpm screw-speed. It reached 12.45 ± 0.2 % (*P*<0.05) at 160 rpm screw-speed. Table 3.4 shows the extraction yield percentages for wheat pentosan samples at different screw-speeds and the percentage of arabinose with xylose over the total sugars percentage.

Samples	Ar/Xyl	Total AX g/100g Unpurified sample	Ar+Xyl %/total sugars %
PW	0.76±0.001	8.95±0.17	86.86
P80	0.809±0.005	11.07±0.22	86.97
P160	0.80±0.003	12.45±0.22	87.34

Table 3.4 Extraction yield of AXs from pentosan

3.5.2 The arabinose to xylose ratio (Ar/Xy) of the extracts

Glucose, arabinose, galactose and xylose monosaccharides were identified in the purified arabinoxylans samples from rice bran and wheat pentosan. Figure 3-1 shows monomer sugar content of the purified arabinoxylans from rice bran and wheat pentosan. Each of the monosaccharides has its own calibration standard curve. The standard curves for the four monosaccharides are shown in the Appendix 2.



Table 3.5 Shows the Ar/Xy ratios for all samples.

Figure 3-1 Sugar composition for purified AXs from rice bran and wheat pentosan

The ratio of arabinose to xylose (Ar/Xy) decreased in the rice bran samples with the increase in screw-speeds while in

wheat pentosan samples, it decreased with the increasing in screw-speeds

Table 3.5 Arabinose to xylose ratios (AR/Xy) in rice bran and wheat pentosan

	RBW	RB80	RB160	PW	P80	P160
Ar/Xy	1.55±0.02	1.47±0.008	1.40±0.006	0.77±0.001	0.81±0.005	0.80±0.003

3.5.3 Molecular weight analysis of AXs using HPSEC3.5.3.1 Pullulan standard curve construction

The standard curve was constructed using five pullulan standards (P5, P20, P100, P200 and P400), as shown in Appendix 3. The standards were analysed using HPLC-SEC. The retention time and the molecular weight which were compared with the samples' molecular weight and retention time to analyse the molecular distribution of the AXs in the samples. Table 3.6 summarises the Mw of the five pullulan standards ranged between 5.9-375 kDa.

Pullulan samples Molecular weight Retention time Log Mw (Da) (Min) P5 5,900 43.50 3.77 P20 4.32 21,100 38.40 P100 107,000 29.24 5.03 P200 200,000 26.61 5.30

25.01

5.57

Table 3.6 Molecular weights of pullulan standards in relation totheir retention times

3.5.3.2 Molecular weight distribution of AXs

375,000

P400

The molecular weight (Mw) distribution of the AXs of wheat pentosan and rice bran samples was characterized by HPLC-SEC.

Figure 3.2 and 3.3 illustrate the Mw distributions and peak areas. The chromatograms were divided into four distinct areas; each area has a distinct peak. Tables 3.7 and 3.8 illustrate the Mw ranges of AXs and their percentages. Results are presented as means ± SEM and all experiments were conducted in triplicate.



Figure 3-2 Mw distribution of RBW, RB80 and RB160 analysed by HPLC-SEC

The dashed lines separate the area under the curve into four areas, each of which represents a distinct Mw range.

Table 3.7 Mw distribution of AXs extracted from RBW, RB80 and RB160

Data are given as means \pm SEM and *P*< 0.05 was calculated for all samples.

Areas	Log Mw	Mw range	%			
		(kDa)	RB160	RB80	RBW	
Area 1	2.90 - 3.2	0.79-1.58	18.24±0.006	14.15±0.08	11.42±0.0057	
Area 2	3.2 - 3.5	1.58-3.16	11.52±0.08	16.13±0.01	13.15±0.01	
Area 3	3.5 - 4	3.16-10	45.22±0.73	47.09±0.68	44.59±0.76	
Area 4	4 - 4.4	10-25.11	25.05±0.027	22.63±0.008	30.84±0.01	



Figure 3-3 Mw distribution of PW, P80 and P160 analysed by HPLC-SEC

The dashed lines separate the area under the curve into four areas, each of which represents a distinct Mw range.

Table 3.8 Mw distribution of AXs extracted from PW, P80 and P160

Data are given as means \pm SEM and *P*< 0.05 was calculated for all samples.

Areas	Log Mw	Mw range (kDa)	%		
			P160	P80	PW
Area 1	2.93-3.19	0.85-1.54	7.63±0.01	7.33±0.02	7.13±0.008
Area 2	3.19-3.5	1.54-3.16	15.58±0.03	14.58±0.005	13.95±0.003
Area 3	3.5-4.5	3.16-31.62	43.04±0.008	45.1±0.01	46.89±0.006
Area 4	4.5-5.9	31.62-794.3	35.38±0.005	33±0.01	30.4±0.02

From the results shown in Tables 3.7 and 3.8, it can be seen that RBW samples have higher percentages 11.42% of very low Mw (0.85-1.54 kDa) AXs whereas PW samples have only 7.13 %. On the other hand, PW showed a higher amount of AXs (84.42%) with a bigger molecular weight between 3.16-794.3 kDa, than RBW, which has only 74.43%.

Interestingly, the extruded samples from both rice bran and wheat pentosan showed significant increases in very low molecular weight fractions (between 0.78-1.58 kDa) which accompanied the increase in screw-speed from 80 rpm to 160 rpm. The

percentages of low molecular weight fractions of AXs increased from 11.42% in RBW to 14.15% and 18.24% in RB80 and RB160, respectively. Similarly, the percentages of low molecular weight fractions of AXs increased from 7.13% in PW to 7.33% and 7.63% in P80 and P160, respectively.

3.6 Discussion

3.6.1 Extraction rate of water-soluble AXs

In rice bran, WEAX is only around 0.9 % of the total AXs (Hashimoto et al., 1987b). Similarly, in the wheat endosperm, WEAX is only 25 % (Ordaz-Ortiz and Saulnier, 2005). The low extractability of AXs could be due to the large molecular weight of AXs (Saulnier et al., 2007; Beaugran et al., 2004) and to its ferulic acid content (0.31-0.56 mg/g) (Michniewicz et al., 1990). Ferulic acid (FA) side chains are esterified to some arabinose residues (Snelders et al., 2013), which form covalent/non-covalent bonds with the cell wall materials, thus, decreasing arabinoxylans' solubility in water. Jeon et al. (2014) state that using extrusion cooking, as a pre-treatment is an efficient, environmentally friendly and low-cost process to increase the level of water extractable arabinoxylans in corn fibre. The results of this study confirm those of Jeon et al. (2014), showing an increase in the WEAX content in the extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan with increasing screw-speed from 80 to 160 rpm. The increase in WEAX content in rice bran samples was by 1.1- and 1.8-fold at screw-speeds of 80 and 160 rpm, respectively. A less pronounced increase in WEAX was found in extruded pentosan samples with the extraction rate increasing by 0.23-fold and 0.4fold in pentosan samples extruded at 80 and 160 rpm, respectively. There are several possible explanations for the increasing level of WEAX in the samples post extrusion including; the liberation of the ferulic acid side chains, softening of the lignin and reduction of Mw by high mechanical shear forces.

Holguín-Acuña *et al.* (2008) found that the ferulic acid content increased from 0.2 mg/g in non-extruded maize bran to 2.5 mg/g in extruded maize bran. The increase in ferulic acid content might be the reason for the increase in AXs' solubility as the more the ferulic acid is liberated from the side chains, the more the arabinoxylans are in contact with water. Moreover, the increase in screw-speeds from 80 to 160 rpm might soften the lignin (Yoo *et al.*, 2012). AXs act as a glue between lignin and cellulose (Vermaas *et al.*, 2015), therefore the high screw-speed will create high shear stress in the barrel, which might soften the lignin (Karunanithy *et al.*, 2010; Yoo

et al., 2012) and consequently the AXs chains will be more exposed to water, resulting in an increase in their solubility in water.

3.6.2 Molecular weight distribution of AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan

Molecular weight determinations for wheat endosperm AXs were reported to be within the ranges 56-65 kDa using gel permeation chromatography (Girhammar and Nair, 1992) and 6-600 kDa using HPSEC (Li *et al.*, 2013). Clearly, the method applied for Mw determination can affect the final result significantly. In this study, HPSEC was used to determine the Mw of AXs from extruded/non-extruded samples.

It is difficult to compare our AXs' Mw from rice bran with the literature since this has focused mainly on wheat and other cereals.

The findings from this research suggest that the molecular range of AXs from rice bran is between 0.79-25 kDa that is not comparable to any of the previously published work. Although, Rose *et al.* (2009) reported that AXs' Mw in rice bran are within the range of 0.6-500 kDa, however, their findings cannot be compared to ours because they used alkaline-hydrogen peroxide extraction which produces large Mw AXs (Kale *et al.*, 2013). In addition, most of the research done on extrusion and its effect on rice bran was to study the effect of extrusion on fat and protein content of the rice bran but not on AXs (Rafe *et al.*, 2016). On the other hand, wheat pentosan AXs' Mw have been reported to be within the range of 1-700 kDa in wheat pentosan (Li *et al.*, 2015) which is within the range of our findings of 0.85-794 kDa.

Figures 3.2, 3.3 and Tables 3.7 and 3.8 demonstrate that AXs from extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan have higher percentages of low MW AXs when compared with AXs from non-extruded samples. The increases in the percentages of low Mw AXs in both samples might be due to the extrusion conditions, such as high shear forces and temperatures resulting in depolymerisation of the fibre (Svanberg *et al.*, 1995). It is also possible that extrusion cooking breaks down the glycosidic bonds resulting in
depolymerisation of the cell wall material, thus reducing AXs' Mw (Margareta and Nyman, 2003).

From Tables 3.7 and 3.8, it can be concluded that the very low Mw (0.79-1.58 kDa) of AXs in both samples increased significantly. However, the increases of low Mw AXs in extruded rice bran was higher than that obtained from extruded wheat pentosan. This could be related to the differences in the xylan backbone between wheat pentosan and rice bran. In wheat pentosan, the xylan backbone facilitates the formation of inter-chain hydrogen bonds, whereas the rice bran xylan backbone carries more arabinose side chains (Annison *et al.*, 1995), which might be esterified by ferulic acids. It has been reported that extrusion breaks up the ferulic acid side chains, thus reducing the Mw of AXs (Holguín-Acuña *et al.*, 2008) from the extruded rice bran, more than that of wheat pentosan.

Chapter 4 Immunomodulatory potential of AXs from extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan

4.1 Introduction

The importance of dietary fibre consumption is well defined. Consumption of dietary fibre has been shown to have many health benefits such as anti-inflammatory and prebiotic activity (North *et al.*, 2009; Li *et al.*, 2013). Arabinoxylan is the major dietary fibre in cereal such as rice, corn and wheat. Arabinoxylan is composed of a xylose backbone with arabinofuranose bound to it through glycosidic linkages at the O-3 and/or the O-2 position (Li *et al.*, 2015). Several methods have been reported to increase the extractability and modify the molecular weight of AXs such as an enzyme, alkali extraction and extrusion pre-treatment (Zhang *et al.*, 2014). Extrusion is an environmentally friendly pre-treatment that has been reported to decrease the molecular weight of arabinoxylan from 158 to 68 kDa under specific conditions (Santala *et al.*, 2013). Reducing the molecular weight of AXs not only increases their water solubility but it also enhances the immune response in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays (Li *et al.*, 2013).

Studies have reported that (MGN-3), a modified rice bran AXs with a low molecular weight (between 30-100 kDa), stimulated the innate and the adaptive immunity both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Ghoneum and Abedi, 2004; Li *et al.*, 2015). Moreover, wheat AXs with low molecular weight (32.52 kDa) showed a greater immune response and antitumour activity than alkaline-extracted AXs with a high molecular weight (351.7 kDa) (Zhou *et al.*, 2010; Cao *et al.*, 2011).

Recently, Li *et al.* (2015) investigated the effect of the low Mw enzyme-extracted AXs from wheat pentosan on NO secretion by U937 monocytes. They reported that AXs with low molecular weight could significantly increase the NO secretion. The increase in NO secretion was dependent on molecular weight and concentration, increasing 26.7 fold at the highest concentration (1000 μ g/ml) with a Mw (< 25 kDa) compared to untreated U937 monocytes (Li *et al.*, 2015). NO is an important inflammatory

55

mediator produced in response to pathogens such as fungi and bacteria. It is produced from L-arginine by inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) which is expressed in many cell types such as monocytes and macrophages (Förstermann and Kleinert, 1995; Li *et al.*, 2015; Mendis *et al.*, 2016). Cells express iNOS upon stimulation from bacterial cell wall LPS, viruses or cytokines. It has been reported that LPS stimulates NO production through binding to Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) on the surface of macrophages and monocytes (Chang *et al.*, 2000). NO production is very important for its antibacterial properties and role in pathophysiological processes such as vasodilatation and neuronal communication (Kiemer *et al.*, 2002; Joo *et al.*, 2014). However, overproduction of NO is cytotoxic and can damage host cells (Wong and Billiar, 1995). Therefore, mediation of NO production may be effective in the treatment of inflammation accompanied with several chronic diseases such as cancer, diabetes and rheumatoid arthritis (Mendis *et al.*, 2016).

Interestingly, AXs show similarities with LPS in terms of structure and molecular weight (Zhang *et al.*, 2015). However, the mechanism of action of AXs needs to be investigated. Therefore, the aim of this work was first to study the effect of extruded WEAX extracted from wheat pentosan and rice bran on NO production in monocytes (typical of cells found in the circulation) and macrophages (typical of cells found in this study the potential mechanism of action of AXs by inhibiting the TLR4 receptor in monocytes and macrophages and determining the effect of AXs on downstream TNFα secretion in comparison to the positive control for NO secretion, LPS.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Arabinoxylans

Extrusion, extraction and purification of water extractable AXs (WEAX) from the extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat endosperm pentosan was performed as previously described (Chapter 3).

56

4.2.2 Cell culture

The human monocyte cell line U937 (Sundström and Nilsson, 1976) (Health Protection Agency Culture Collections, Salisbury) was cultured at 37°C at 5% CO₂ in complete culture medium, which contains RPMI-1640 medium with HEPES and L-Glutamine (Lonza, Slough) supplemented with 2% Penicillin-Streptomycin (Lonza, Slough) and 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS) (Sigma-Aldrich, Slough, UK).

4.2.3 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)

Gel-filtrated, purified lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from *Escherichia coli* 0111:B4 (Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK) was used as a positive control.

4.2.4 Differentiation of U937 monocytes to macrophages

To differentiate U937 monocytes into macrophage-like cells, 10nM phorbol 12myristate 13-acetate (PMA) (Applichem, Darmstadt, Germany) was added to the monocyte cell suspension for 72 hours.

4.2.5 Griess reagent

Griess reagent was used as a quantitative indicator of nitric oxide (NO) secretion by the active immune cells using published methodologies (Bredt and Synder, 1994). Griess reagent was prepared from two components A and B. Component A consisted of sulphanilamide reagent that is composed of 1% of sulphanilamide (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, UK) in 0.1 mol/l hydrochloric acid (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK). Component B was composed of 0.1% N-1-napthylethylenediamine dihydrochloride (NED) (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, UK) in distilled water.

4.2.6 Sodium nitrite standard

Sodium nitrite (NaNO₂) (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, UK) was prepared in cell culture medium (RPMI-1640 supplemented with 10% FBS and 2% penicillin-streptomycin).

4.2.7 TLR4-IN-C34

The TLR4 inhibitor TLR4-IN-C34 (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, UK) was added to one set of sample treatments to assess whether NO production was mediated via TLR4 activation.

4.3 Methodology

4.3.1 Preparation of AXs treatments

The preparation of AXs treatments (Appendix 4) were adapted from Li *et al.* (2015). Purified AXs (20 mg) from rice bran and wheat pentosan were solubilised in 10 ml of cell culture medium (RPMI-1640 supplemented with 5% FBS) to obtain a final concentration of 2000 μ g/ml. Concentrations of AXs prepared for treatments were 50, 500 and 1000 μ g/ml (final concentration in each well). All treatments were filtered twice through 0.45 μ m Minisart filters (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, UK) to prevent microbial contamination. AXs treatments were then stored at 4°C for subsequent use.

4.3.2 Preparation of LPS treatments

The preparation of LPS solutions (Appendix 5) were also adapted from Li *et al.* (2015). LPS was reconstituted in 1 ml of cell culture medium (RPMI-1640 with 5% FBS) to a final concentration of 5 mg/ml. The LPS solution was filtered twice through 0.45 μ m Minisart filters (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, UK) to prevent microbial contamination. Concentrations of 50, 500 and 1000 μ g/ml LPS (final concentration in the well) were prepared to match the positive control concentrations used previously by (Li *et al.*, 2015). LPS treatments were then stored at 4°C for subsequent use.

4.3.3 Cell culture preparation

The 1ml frozen vials of U937 cells were thawed at 37°C (Precision[™] General Purpose Water Bath, ThermoFisher Scientific, London, UK) immediately upon receipt. Thawed cells were added to 9.0 ml of complete culture medium and centrifuged at 125 g for 7 minutes. The cell pellet was re-suspended in the complete culture medium, which contained RPMI-1640 medium with HEPES and L-Glutamine (Lonza, Slough, UK)

supplemented with 2% Penicillin-Streptomycin (Lonza, Slough, UK) and 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS) (Sigma-Aldrich, Slough, UK). The re-suspended cells were incubated in a Heracell[™] VIOS 160i Incubator, (ThermoFisher Scientific, London, UK) at 37°C in 5% CO₂ in air. Sub-culturing of the cells was maintained by centrifuging with subsequent re-suspension at 2x10⁵ viable cells/ml every three days. Cell growth and viability were measured using 0.4% (w/v) Trypan Blue solution (Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, UK) in a 1:1 ratio with cultured cells using a TC10 Automated Cell counter (Bio-Rad, Hempstead, UK).

4.3.4 Monocytes differentiation to macrophages

U937 monocytes were cultured to a density of one million viable cells/ml and a viability at or above 95% prior to supplementation with 10nM phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) for 72 hrs at 37°C with 5 % CO₂ according to the method by Baek *et al.* (2009).

U937 monocytes were cultured to a density of one million viable cells/ml and a viability at or above 95%. Sextuplicate treatments were prepared by adding 100 μ l of cultured cells to 100 μ l of LPS so the final concentration is (50, 500 and 1000 μ g/ml) or AXs sample (at 50, 500 and 1000 μ g/ml) in appropriate wells of a 96-well plate. Negative control wells were prepared by adding 100 μ l of cultured cells to 100 μ l of complete medium. Treatments were incubated for 24 hrs at 37°C with 5 % CO₂ prior to taking NO measurements. Background control wells were prepared by adding 100 μ l of LPS (at 100, 1000 and 2000 μ g/ml) or AXs sample (at 100, 1000 and 2000 μ g/ml) to 100 μ l of complete medium. Sample blank wells were prepared by adding just 200 μ l of complete media to empty wells. The 96-well plate was incubated for 24 hrs at 37°C with 5 % CO₂ prior to taking NO measurements.

4.3.6 Nitric oxide assay

NO is secreted from most immune cells in response to immune stimulants such as cytokines and LPS (Nussler *et al.*, 1993). The NO levels produced after treatments with AXs were measured using an established methods called the Griess (NO) assay

(Chaea *et al.*, 2004). Following incubation with the LPS or AXs treatments, 100 μ l from each well of the 96 well-plate was transferred to the corresponding well in a new 96well plate. Then, 50 μ l of sulphanilamide solution was added to all wells in the new plate prior to incubation at room temperature for 5 mins in the dark to prevent exposure to light. Subsequently, 50 μ l of NED solution was added to all experimental wells and incubated at room temperature for another 5 min in the dark. The absorbance was then promptly read at 540 nm on a Multiskan FC Microplate Photometer plate reader (ThermoScientific, London, UK).

4.3.7 Sodium nitrite standard curve construction

A nitrite standard curve was constructed by preparing five concentrations of sodium nitrite (1, 10, 20, 40, 60 and 80 μ M) and reading their absorbance at 540 nm using the plate reader.

4.3.8 TLR4 inhibition in monocytes and macrophages

A 1 mM solution of the TLR4 inhibitor TLR4-IN-C34 was prepared in culture medium (RPMI-1640 supplemented with 5% FBS) and stored at -20°C prior to use.

Replicate treatment plates were set up with sextuplicate wells containing 50 μ l cultured cells (monocytes or macrophages), 50 μ l of the 1mM TLR4-IN-C34 solution and 50 μ l of LPS or AX at 2000 μ g/ml.

4.3.9 Effects of cell growth and viability

The cell density was fixed at 1X10⁶ viable cells/ml prior to treatments with LPS or AXs. The change in cell growth and viability during the assay was likely to affect NO secretion. Therefore, cell counts and viability were measured as described in 4.3.3 following treatment with LPS or AXs from rice bran and wheat pentosan. In addition, the cell counts and viability were measured in the negative control (untreated monocytes) in a similar manner.

4.4 Statistics

All data are given as numerical mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) and all results were analysed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by the post-hoc Tukey tests for comparison. A probability (*P*) value whereby $P \le 0.05$ was considered to be statistically significant in all cases.

4.5 Results and Discussion

4.5.1 Nitric oxide production by AXs, LPS and culture media

Background NO levels produced by the AXs or LPS (background controls) were checked to make sure there was no direct interference with the NO assay. The absorbance values showed that there were no significant difference (ANOVA: P = 0.818; Tukey pairwise comparisons: P>0.05 in all cases) between AX or LPS samples in comparison to the sample blank (containing cell culture media only), thus confirming no interference with the NO assay (Appendix 6).

4.5.2 Effect of LPS and AXs concentrations on nitric oxide production by U937 monocytes

One-way ANOVA statistical analysis confirmed that the augmentation in NO production by U937 monocytes following stimulation with AXS (RBW, RB80, RB160, PW, P80, P160) or the positive control LPS was concentration- dependent.

The NO levels produced from U937 monocytes after stimulation with LPS, PW, P80, P160, RBW, RB80 and RB160 were compared to the negative control (Figure 4-1). NO produced following treatment with AX or LPS were significantly (**P*<0.05) increased at all concentrations tested compared to the negative control (Figure 4-2). The elevation in NO secretion from monocytes was concentration-dependent across all treatments. The highest NO secretion was observed from monocytes treated with RB160 at 1000 µg/ml (11.8±0.3 µM) whereas the same concentration of PW produced lower levels of NO₂⁻ (7.5±0.1 µM). Furthermore, there was a gradual increase in NO secretion with increasing extrusion screw-speed, ranging from 10.1±0.2 µM for RBW at 1000 µg/ml to 11.1±0.2 µM and 11.8±0.3 µM for RB80 and RB160, respectively at 1000 µg/ml concentration. Moreover, NO secretion from monocytes increased from 7.5±0.1 µM for PW at 1000 µg/ml to 8.0±0.1 and 11.0±0.1 µM for P80 and P160 at 1000 µg/ml respectively.



Figure 4-1 NO production by U937 monocytes after 24 hr treatment

Treatments with (LPS) or (AXs) samples in comparison to the negative control (NC). The amount of NO secreted from treated cells was calculated using the nitrite standard curve (Appendix 7). The concentration of NO, expressed as the mean \pm standard error of the mean, was compared to the NC using one-way ANOVA; **P*<0.05, n = 6 in all cases. Brackets above bars indicate significant differences across groups, whereas brackets below bars indicates significant differences within groups.

4.5.3 Comparison of NO production from U937 monocytes in the presence and absence of the TLR4 inhibitor

Nitric oxide secretion was measured in U937 monocytes supplemented with the TLR4 inhibitor TLR4-IN-C34 after stimulation with LPS or AXs extracted from RBW, RB80, RB160, PW, P80 and P160. In this experiment, the U937 monocytes were treated with the highest concentration of AXs (1000 μ g/ml). NO production from U937 cells in the absence of TLR4-IN-C34 and U937 cells in the presence of TLR4-IN-C34 after stimulation with 1 mg/ml of AXs from RBW, RB80, RB160, PW, P80, P160 and LPS were compared (Figure 4-2). The findings demonstrated a significant (*P*<0.05) decrease in NO production from U937 monocytes in the presence of the TLR4

inhibitor when compared to U937 monocytes in the absence of TLR4 inhibitor after treatments with 1 mg/ml AX from both rice bran and wheat pentosan. The highest decrease in NO secretion was observed in U937 monocytes supplemented with the TLR4 inhibitor following LPS treatment (1 mg/ml) when compared to the same LPS treatment in the absence of the inhibitor.



Figure 4-2 NO production from U937 monocytes supplemented with or without the TLR4 inhibitor (Inh) Treatments with AXs or LPS (1mg/ml). One way ANOVA test

showed significant differences between monocytes supplemented with the inhibitor and monocytes in the absent of inhibitor. Data represent the mean \pm standard error of the mean, **P*<0.05, n = 6 in all cases. Brackets above bars indicate significant differences across groups, whereas brackets below bars indicate significant differences within groups.

4.5.4 The effect of AXs on cell growth and viability of U937 monocytes

Cell counts of the negative control (NC), positive control (LPS) at 50, 500 and 1000 μ g/ml and AX treatments at 50, 500 and 1000 μ g/ml extracted from rice bran and wheat pentosan samples were measured at the end of the NO assay. Higher concentrations of LPS or AX treatments resulted in significantly (*P*<0.05) lower cell

counts (Figure 4-3), confirming that both LPS and AXs had a negative effect on cell counts.

In general, AXs had a similar dose-dependent effect on monocyte cell growth and viability as LPS, with AXs just having less potency than LPS. Amongst the AXs, cell counts from RBW-treated monocytes showed the highest reduction in cell density as RBW concentration increased, from $1.6\pm0.0 \times 10^6$ viable cells/ml at 50 µg/ml RBW to $1.3\pm0.0 \times 10^6$ viable cells/ml at 1000 µg/ml RBW. In comparison, P80-treated cells showed a lower reduction in cell density as P80 concentration increased, from $1.7\pm0.0 \times 10^6$ viable cells/ml at 50 µg/ml RBW to $1.2\pm0.0 \times 10^6$ viable cells/ml at 50 µg/ml RBW. In comparison, P80-treated cells showed a lower reduction in cell density as P80 concentration increased, from $1.7\pm0.0 \times 10^6$ viable cells/ml at 50 µg/ml P80 to $1.0\pm0.0 \times 10^6$ cells/ml at 1000 µg/ml P80.



Figure 4-3 Effect of LPS and AXs concentrations on cell counts of monocytes

Bars indicate means \pm standard error of the mean; n = 6 in all cases. Cell density in all treatment groups was significantly (*P*<0.05) lower than in the negative control (NC). Brackets above bars indicate significant differences across groups, whereas brackets below bars indicate significant differences within groups.

4.5.6 Effect of the TLR4 inhibitor on cell density of AXs-treated U937 monocytes

The effect of the TLR4 inhibitor TLR4-IN-C34 on viable cell density of monocytes treated with 1mg/ml LPS or 1mg/ml AXs was measured (Figure 4-4). There was a significant (P<0.05) increase in viable cell density in TLR4-IN-C34 treated monocytes compared to monocytes that were not supplemented with TLR4-IN-C34. TLR4-IN-C34 significantly (P<0.05) reversed the detrimental effect that AXs or LPS had on cell growth and viability in 4.5.4.



NC, LPS and AXs \pm Inhibitor (40 $\mu M)$

Figure 4-4 Effect of the TLR4 inhibitor (Inh) on cell density of monocytes following treatment with 1 mg/ml of LPS or 1 mg/ml AXs

Bars indicate mean \pm standard error of the mean; n = 6 in all cases. Brackets below the graph indicate significant (**P*<0.05) differences between cell density in TLR4-inhibited monocytes compared to monocytes not supplemented with TLR4-IN-C34. Brackets above bars indicate significant (**P*<0.05) differences between cell density in TLR4-inhibited monocytes from different AXs treatments.

4.5.7 Effect of LPS and AXs on Nitric oxide production by U937 macrophages

NO secreted from U937 macrophages after stimulation with different concentrations

of LPS and AXs from rice bran and wheat pentosan samples were investigated Figure

4-5. The findings confirm that the augmentation of NO secretion by macrophages stimulated with AXs and LPS is dose-dependent, with higher AX/LPS concentrations resulting in higher NO production. The results showed a significant (*P*<0.05) increase in NO secretion from macrophages following treatment with high concentrations of LPS or AXs. Among AXs, the highest NO secretion was from macrophages treated with RB160 at 1000 μ g/ml (41.28±0.7 μ M) whereas the same concentration of P160 resulted in substantially less NO secretion (28.5±0.8 μ M). Moreover, the increase in NO secretion was related to an increase in screw-speed in all samples; NO increased from 20.23±0.4 μ M with 1000 μ g/ml RB160, respectively. An increase in screw- speed had a positive effect on NO secretion by macrophages; NO was 12.53±0.02 μ M with 1000 μ g/ml PW but increased to 18.21±0.48 and 28.5±0.8 μ M with 1000 μ g/ml P80 and 1000 μ g/ml P160 respectively.



Figure 4-5 NO production by U937 macrophages after 24 hr treatment with LPS and AXs

The amount of NO secreted from treated cells was calculated using the nitrite standard curve (Appendix 7). The concentration of NO, expressed as the mean \pm standard error of the mean, was compared to the NC using one-way ANOVA; *P<0.05, n = 6 in all cases. Brackets above the bars indicate significant differences (*P<0.05) between NO production in macrophages treated with the same concentration. Brackets below the bars indicate the significant differences across groups.

4.5.8 Comparison of NO production from U937 macrophages in the presence and absence of the TLR4 inhibitor

Nitric oxide secretion was measured in U937 macrophages supplemented with the TLR4 inhibitor after stimulation with LPS or AXs extracted from rice bran and wheat pentosan (RBW, RB80, RB160, PW, P80 and P160). In this experiment, the U937 macrophages were treated with the highest concentration of AXs (1 mg/ml). NO production from U937 cells in the absence and presence of the TLR4 inhibitor TLR4-IN-C34 after stimulation with 1mg/ml of AXs from RBW, RB80, RB160, PW, P80, P160 and LPS were compared (Figure 4-6). The findings demonstrated a significant (P<0.05) decrease in NO production in U937 macrophages supplemented with the

TLR4 inhibitor in comparison to U937 macrophages in the absence of TLR4-IN-C34 after treatment with 1 mg/ml of AXs from rice bran and wheat pentosan.



Figure 4-6 NO production from U937 macrophages supplemented with or without the TLR4 inhibitor (Inh)

Treatments with AXs or LPS (1mg/ml). One way ANOVA test showed significant differences between macrophages supplemented the inhibitor and macrophages in the absent of inhibitor. Data represent the mean \pm standard error of the mean. **P*<0.05, n = 6 in all cases. Brackets below the graph indicate significant differences (**P*<0.05) between NO secretion in TLR4-inhibited macrophages compared to macrophages not supplemented with TLR4-IN-C34. Brackets above the bars indicate significant differences (**P*<0.05) between NO secretion in TLR4-inhibited macrophages from different AXs treatments.

4.5.9 The effect of AXs and LPS on cell growth and viability of U937 macrophages

Cell counts of the negative control (NC), positive control (LPS) at different concentrations (50, 500 and 1000 μ g/ml) and AX treatments at different concentrations (50, 500 and 1000 μ g/ml) extracted from rice bran and wheat pentosan samples were measured at the end of the NO assay. Higher concentrations of LPS or AXs treatment resulted in significantly (*P*<0.05) lower viable cell counts (Figure 4-7), confirming both LPS and AXs had a negative effect on viable cell count.

In general, AXs had a similar dose-dependent effect on macrophage cell growth and viability as LPS, with AXs just having less potency than LPS. Amongst the AXs, cell counts following treatment RBW significantly (*P*<0.05) decreased with increasing RBW concentration, from 0.77×10^6 viable cells/ml with 50 µg/ml to 0.6 and 0.5 $\times 10^6$ viable cells/ml with 500 µg/ml RBW and 1000 µg/ml RBW respectively. The effect of screw-speed on the cell growth was investigated (Figure 4-7). There was a slight decrease in mean cell density from RBW-treated cells to RB80 and RB160, and from PW to P80 and P160 at 1 mg/ml concentration, but no significant differences were detected (*P*> 0.05 in all cases).



Figure 4-7 Effect of LPS and AXs concentrations on cell counts of macrophages

Bars indicate mean \pm standard error of the mean; n = 6 in all cases. Cell density in all treatment groups was significantly (*P*<0.05) lower than in the negative control (NC). Cell density in all treatment groups was significantly (*P*<0.05) lower than in the negative control (NC). Brackets above bars indicate significant differences across groups whereas brackets below bars indicate significant differences within groups.

4.5.10 Effect of the TRL4 inhibitor on cell density of AX-treated U937 macrophages

The effect of the TLR4 inhibitor on the cell density of macrophages treated with 1 mg/ml LPS or 1mg/ml AXs was measured (Figure 4-8). There was a significant (P<0.05) increase in cell density in TLR4-inhibited macrophages compared to macrophages that were not supplemented with the TRL4 inhibitor. The TLR4 inhibitor significantly (P<0.05) reversed the detrimental effect that AXs or LPS had on cell growth and viability in Figure 4-7.



NC, LPS and AXs \pm Inhibitor (40 μM)

Figure 4-8 Effect of the TLR4 inhibitor (Inh) on cell density of macrophages following treatment with 1 mg/ml of LPS or 1 mg/ml AXs

Bars indicate mean \pm standard error of the mean; n = 6 in all cases. Brackets below the graph indicate significant differences (*P<0.05) between cell density in TLR4-inhibited macrophages compared to macrophages not supplemented with TLR4-IN-C34, whereas brackets above bars indicate significant differences (*P<0.05) between cell density in TLR4-inhibited monocytes from different AXs treatments.

4.6 Discussion

4.6.1 Nitric oxide synthesis by U937 monocytes/macrophages

Nitric oxide (NO) is synthesised from the degradation of the amino acid L-arginine in the presence of oxygen by NO synthase. NO is a key free radical messenger for the innate immune defence (Bogdan, 2015). Several in vivo studies have reported that NO production accompanies diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, inflammation and liver disease (Hibbs et al., 1992; Wang et al., 1997). In vitro, NO production by U937 monocytes/macrophages has been reported to be induced in response to infection from different bacteria such as Mycobacterium bovis, as well as gram-negative bacterial LPS (Nozaki et al., 1997; Bertholet et al., 1999). Hence, NO production by U937 monocytes/macrophages following treatment with (AXs) from extruded rice pentosan with/without inhibitor bran and wheat may reveal their immunomodulatory potential and provide evidence on potential receptor(s) through which the activities of AXs are mediated. Evidence suggests that LPS stimulates TLR4, which induces the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, and NO (Lu et al., 2008).

In the current study, the TLR4 inhibitor TLR4-IN-C34 was used as a potential inhibitor for AXs and LPS. Treatment with 1 mg/ml LPS, RBW, RB80, RB160, PW, P80 or P160 significantly increased NO production in a dose-dependent manner in U937 monocytes/ macrophages, increasing 17.3, 5.0, 6.7, 8.0, 3.3, 5.3 and 7.0 fold, respectively in monocytes (Figure 4-5) and 16.1, 3.7, 6.1, 8.6, 1.9, 3.2 and 5.6 fold, respectively in macrophages (Figure 4-8), compared to the corresponding untreated negative control (NC).

The finding of this study currently closely with the AX levels in individual samples. However, at this stage without further detailed characterisation of the samples the effects of other bioactive components other than AX cannot be excluded.

4.6.2 Relationship between molecular weight and NO production

The results demonstrated that AXs extracted from rice bran and wheat pentosan significantly increased NO levels as AX concentration (50, 500 and 1000 µg/ml) increased. AXs from rice bran samples was the most effective stimulant of NO production in U937 monocytes/macrophages in comparison with AXs from wheat pentosan. In addition, the extrusion process showed that higher screw-speeds resulted in lower molecular weights of AXs. U937 monocytes/macrophages showed a higher level of NO stimulation after treatment with AXs from extruded samples from both rice bran and wheat pentosan. Interestingly, 75 and 77% of AXs in RB160 and RB80, respectively had Mw range between 0.79-10 kDa whereas 21.9 and 23.2 % of AXs in P80 and P160, respectively had Mw range between 0.85-3.16 kDa, with most of the AXs in pentosan samples within the molecular weight range between 3.16-31.62 kDa. Hence, the stimulatory effect of AXs from RB160, RB80, P160 and P80 on NO secretion by U937 monocytes/macrophages was associated with lower molecular weights (<10 kDa) rather than high molecular weight AXs. In addition, 0.79-1.58 kDa AXs from RB160 appear to be the most active immunomodulatory component compared with AXs from RB80, as those from RB160 have the highest percentage of 0.79-1.58 kDa AXs followed by AXs from P160, which correlates with their NO stimulation.

The findings suggest that low molecular weight AXs have greatest immunomodulatory effects on U937 monocytes/macrophages. It has been shown that the highest percentage of the low molecular weight AXs was obtained from RB160 that had the highest NO secretion by U937 monocytes/macrophages. Hence, the higher the screw-speed during extrusion, the lower the molecular weight of AXs and the higher the NO response.

4.6.3 Relationship between cell count and NO production

Bacterial cell wall components (i.e. LPS) have the ability to induce apoptosis in mammalian cells. LPS induces apoptosis through activation of Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) (Kuwabara and Imajoh-Ohmi, 2004). It has been reported that macrophages

have harmful effects under some circumstances such as the severe inflammatory response in septic shock, which is activated by the interaction of macrophages with LPS (Xaus *et al.*, 2000). It has been reported that the NO and TNF α produced by macrophages upon treatment with LPS are the primary mediators for septic shock.

LPS and AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan showed a significant decrease in the proliferation of U937 monocytes/macrophages over 24 hours. Therefore, the augmentation in NO production was associated with the cell density (Figures 4.2 and 4.6).

The decrease in viable cell density was affected by LPS/AXs in a concentrationdependent manner, with higher concentrations of LPS/AXs causing the greatest inhibition in viable cell density but the highest NO secretion. According to Xaus *et al.* (2000), higher NO secretion is generally associated with reduced cell counts, in agreement with the findings of this study. In addition, the screw-speed had a significant effect on the molecular weight of AXs, which in turn increased the NO production and reduced the cell count.

In conclusion, LPS and AXs had a dose-dependent effect on cell count, significantly decreasing viable cell density as LPS/AX concentration increased. It can be concluded that the extrusion screw-speed had a significant effect on AX Mw (Chapter 3), nitric oxide production and viable cell count.

4.6.4 Possible receptor of AXs

It has been reported that there are some similarities between LPS and AXs in terms of structure and molecular weight, as both AXs and LPS have monosaccharides such as glucose and galactose (Ghoneum and Ogura, 1999; Ogawa *et al.*, 2005; Zhang *et al.*, 2015). The Mw of LPS is between 10-20 kDa (Sigma-Aldrich, 2016) and the AXs from extruded samples had a high percentage within the molecular range between (1-25 kDa) (Zhang *et al.*, 2014, Mendis *et al.*, 2016). Both LPS and AXs significantly increased NO secretion in monocytes and macrophages suggesting that both LPS and AXs are likely to be activating similar pathways and receptors.

74

Evidence suggests that LPS may mediate biological actions in part via TLR4 (Chang *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, LPS/AX treatments were supplemented with a TLR4 inhibitor to assess whether NO activity is mediated, at least in part, through TLR4. The findings showed that the TLR4 inhibitor TLR4-IN-C34 could significantly reverse AXs/LPS-mediated increases in NO secretion by both monocytes and macrophages, thus suggesting that the NO production was at least in part acting through TLR4. Therefore, TLR4 may be a possible receptor for AXs. However, NO production was not completely blocked/reversed by the TLR4 inhibitor, suggesting either that the inhibitor concentration was insufficient for complete reversal or that one or more additional receptors may also mediate AX-responses. However, involvement of TLR4 has been demonstrated, indicating that AX-mediated NO secretion is mediated at least in part by TLR4. Other receptors that have been implicated in LPS activity include CD14 and myeloid differentiation protein-2 (MD-2) (Fujihara *et al.*, 2003; Wright *et al.*, 1990).

Chapter 5 The effect of AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan on TNFα secretion from U937 monocytes/macrophages

5.1 Introduction

Inflammation is the response of the immune system due to infection, injury or disease (Ferrero-Miliani *et al.*, 2007). Upon inflammation, immune cells in the damaged area increase the blood flow and may cause an increase in pain, temperature and swelling (Abbas *et al.*, 2012).

Cells of the innate immune system initiate the immune response. Monocytes and macrophages are major components of the innate immunity and they detect foreign antigens and microorganisms through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (Miller *et al.*, 2005). Once PRRs are stimulated, they release cytokines, including TNF α . TNF α helps in communication with the innate immune cells by recruiting more macrophages and monocytes to the injured area (Kang *et al.*, 2016).

TNF α facilitates the migration of the recruited cells via chemotaxis, stimulating cells to pass through tissues from the circulation. The recruitment of inflammatory cells leads to further TNF α secretion, generating a cycle of continued inflammation to protect the host until the infection is fully resolved (Mogensen, 2009). Activation of TNF α occurs via TNF α transcription, internal signalling and activation of cell surface receptors. Although there are two main receptors for TNF α , TNFR-1 and TNFR-2, it has been reported that Toll-like receptors, especially the TLR4 receptor, may mediate TNF α production.

It has been shown that TLR4 inhibition reduces TNF α and other pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-18 and IL-6 (Zhang *et al.*, 2008b). TLR4 is a PRR that recognises specific molecules from pathogens called pathogen-associated molecular pattern molecules (PAMPs), like LPS from gram-negative bacteria (Molteni *et al.*, 2016). Although inflammation has a protective function, in some diseases, an excessive inflammatory response might be detrimental. TLR4 activation has been involved in disease progression in both microbial (gram-negative infections) and non-microbial

76

etiology (neurological and neurodegenerative diseases) (Molteni *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, prolonged TLR4 activation and TNF α secretion have been associated with the pathogenesis of many diseases such as cancer, sepsis and arthritis (Chen and Goeddel, 2002).

Consequently, regulation of TNF α secretion is very important. Several suppressor cells secrete cytokines that inhibit TNF α secretion such as transforming growth factor β (TGF β) and interleukin 10 (IL-10) (Cyktor and Turner, 2011). On the other hand, there are pharmaceutical TNF α inhibitors that can inhibit secretion of TNF α such as Vioxx and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDS) (PAIOTTI *et al.*, 2012). Although pharmaceutical chemicals can inhibit TNF α secretion, they also stimulate eicosanoid production, which blocks cyclooxygenase 1 and 2 enzymes (Ricciotti and FitzGerald, 2011). Eventually, prostaglandin synthesis will be inhibited, which is important for inflammatory mediation (Chang and Harris, 2005). The pharmaceutical industry invests a lot of money and time to design and develop drugs that inhibit TNF α via selective eicosanoids or by inflammatory mediator inhibition (Thun *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, one proposed preventative action is to investigate the structure and mechanism of action of functional food components and plants that exert anti-inflammatory characteristics (Alissa and Ferns, 2012).

Non-starch polysaccharides are major constituents of many cereals such as rice and wheat (Lai *et al.*, 2007). AXs are major non-starch polysaccharides that consist of xylopyranose backbone with arabinofuranose substitutions (Zhou *et al.*, 2010). In addition, AX has been shown to contain hydroxycinnamic acid as ferulic acid, which has free radical scavenging activities (Yadav *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, AX possess immunomodulatory effects such as cytokine modulation, activation of dendritic cells and apoptosis induction in cancer cells (Ghoneum and Gollapudi, 2004, Bermudez-Brito *et al.*, 2015). Ghoneum and Matsuura (2004) have compared the effect of MGN-3, the enzymatic extract of arabinoxylan from rice bran, on TNF α secretion from three cell types; murine peritoneal macrophages, a human macrophage cell line and murine macrophage cell line. MGN-3 increased TNF α secretion in a dose dependent manner (1, 10, 100 µg/ml) in all the three cell types; however, the highest response

to MGN-3 among the three models was from the murine macrophage cell line at 100 μ g/ml MGN-3 (Ghoneum and Matsuura, 2004). Furthermore, a recent study investigated the effect of MGN-3 on TNF α secretion from human macrophages, and showed a high concentration of MGN-3 (10 mg/ml) had the ability to induce TNF α production (132 pg/ml) but not to the same degree as LPS (10 ng/ml) that induced substantial TNF α secretion (7487 pg/ml) (Pérez-Martínez *et al.*, 2015). A further study conducted by Badr El-Din *et al.* (2008) showed that MGN-3 significantly increased TNF α secretion by 11 % in mice bearing solid Ehrlich carcinoma (SEC) in comparison to the untreated mice.

Apart from MGN3, rice bran polysaccharide extract (RBP), which is composed of 22.58 % arabinose and 7.01 % xylose, showed a significant increase in TNF α production in macrophage RAW264.7 cells in a dose-dependent manner, with 500 μ g/ml RBP increasing TNF α secretion 427.4-fold (Wang *et al.*, 2008).

This study has shown that extrusion at different screw-speeds of wheat pentosan and rice bran increases the extraction rate and reduces the molecular weight of AXs significantly (Chapter 3). The aim of this chapter was to measure the effect of these purified AXs on TNF α secretion by U937 monocytes and macrophages, followed by supplementation with the TLR4 inhibitor to determine if TLR4 may be involved in the AX-mediated responses.

5.2 Materials

5.2.1 AXs

WEAX from extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan were extracted and purified as described in Chapter 3. AXs were prepared by dissolving in culture medium as described in Chapter 4.

5.2.2 Chemicals

All chemicals and culture medium preparation were as described in Chapter 3 and 4.

5.2.3 Cell line

U937 monocytes and macrophages were prepared as described in Chapter 4.

5.2.4 TNFα measurements

The TNF α secretion in the culture supernatant of monocytes and macrophages at 24 hours following stimulation was determined using a human TNF α sandwich ELISA Kit purchased from Abcam (Cambridge, USA).

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 AXs and LPS

AXs extracts were prepared at three concentrations (50, 500 and 1000 μ g/ml). Lipopolysaccharides (LPS) was prepared at two concentrations (1 and 5 μ g/ml) as described in Chapter 4.

5.3.2 Cell culture and TLR4 inhibitor

U937 monocytes and PMA-induced macrophages were prepared following the methodology described in Chapter 4. Monocytes and macropahges were treated with AXs samples and LPS for 24 hours in sextuplicate. The highest concentrations of LPS and AXs were also investigated using monocytes and macrophages supplemented with 1 mM TLR4 inhibitor for 24 hours. Untreated negative control wells were prepared by adding 100 µl of cultured cells to 100 µl of complete medium.

All samples were then centrifuged at 125 x g for 7 minutes and supernatants were collected and stored at -20°C prior to TNF α quantification.

5.3.3 Human TNFα quantification

TNF α secretion by U937 monocytes and macrophages was measured following the protocol provided by the manufacturer. Briefly, replicate (n=6) wells containing TNF α antibody were supplemented with 100 µl of supernatants followed by 50 µl of anti-TNF α and incubated for 3 hours at room temperature. Streptavidin-HRP 100 µl was added to all wells followed by incubation for 30 minutes at room temperature. Chromogen TMB substrate (100 µl) was added to all the wells, which were then covered with aluminium foil and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. The stop reagent (100 µl) was added into each well. The ELISA plate was read within 30 minutes at two separate wavelengths (450 and 620 nm).

5.4 Statistics

Data were expressed as mean TNF α ± SEM. Significant differences between samples were determined by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with multiple Tukey pairwise comparison tests on SPSS 23 software. A *P* value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

5.5 Results

5.5.1 The effect of LPS and AXs on TNFα secretion by U937 monocytes

U937 monocytes were stimulated with different concentrations of LPS or AXs extracted from rice bran and wheat pentosan at different screw-speeds (80 and 160 rpm) (Figure 5-1). The TNF α secretion significantly increased in a dose-dependent manner, with higher concentrations of AX or LPS resulting in higher levels of TNF α production.



Figure 5-1 TNF α secretion by U937 monocytes after 24hr treatment with LPS and AXs

Bars represent mean TNF α ± standard error of the mean and n = 6 in all cases. Treatments were compared to the untreated negative control (NC) by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey multiple pairwise comparison tests; **P*< 0.05 was considered significant. The brackets beneath the graph represent significant differences within the same sample, while the brackets above the graph represent significant differences between samples at the same concentration.

In monocytes treated with AXs extracted from pentosan, a significant increase in $TNF\alpha$ secretion was detected even at low concentrations of wheat pentosan, with 50

 μ g/ml pentosan resulting in 23.2 pg/ml TNF α in comparison to control cells, which secreted 1.1 pg/ml TNF α . There was a significant increase in TNF α secretion within the same sample as the concentration of AXs (or LPS) increased and significant increases in TNF α secretion as the screw-speed of extrusion increased from 80 rpm to 160 rpm (Figure 5-1). Within the same sample, TNF α secretion increased as the concentration of AX/LPS increased, with TNF α production in monocytes treated with AX from the non-extruded pentosan increasing from 23.2 to 53.2 and then to 62.1 pg/ml as the concentration of AX increased from 50 to 500 and then to 1000 μ g/ml respectively. Similarly, in monocytes treated with AXs extracted from P80, the TNF α secretion increased from 29.7 to 62.8 and then to 71.1 pg/ml as the AX concentration increased from 50 to 500 and 1000 μ g/ml respectively. In a similar way, TNF α secreted by monocytes treated with AXs extracted from pentosan extruded at the higher screw-speed of 160 rpm was also higher, with TNF α secretion increasing from 38.6 to 76.2 and then to 131.9 pg/ml as P160 concentration increased from 50 to 500 and then to 1000 μ g/ml respectively.

TNF α secretion from monocytes treated with AXs from rice bran showed a dosedependent increase (Figure 5-1), in a similar manner to that produced by AXs from wheat pentosan. However, the increase in TNF α secretion generated by AXs from rice bran was significantly higher than that produced by wheat pentosans. The production of TNF α was increased from 80.9 to 110.3 and then to 226.5 pg/ml as the concentration of non-extruded rice bran AXs increased from 50 to 500 and then to 1000 µg/ml. Furthermore, TNF α production significantly increased in monocytes treated with extruded rice bran at 80 rpm screw-speed, increasing from 120.7 to 150.1 and then to 301 pg/ml at 50 to 500 and then to 1000 µg/ml RB80 respectively. Similarly, the higher (160 rpm) screw-speed of extrusion of rice bran increased TNF α secretion in monocytes in a dose-dependent manner, increasing from 160.0 to 199.4 and then to 343.0 pg/ml as the concentration of RB160 increased from 50 to 500 and then to 1000 µg/ml respectively.

TNF α secretion not only increased in a concentration-dependent manner but it also significantly increased as the screw-speed increased. Thus, the higher the screw-

82

speed the higher the TNF α secretion. Moreover, AXs from rice bran had a significantly higher pro-inflammatory effect than AXs extracted from wheat pentosan, even in non-extruded samples.

5.5.2 Effect of the TLR4 inhibitor TLR4-IN-C34 on AXs-mediated secretion of TNFα by monocytes

The highest concentrations of LPS (5 μ g/ml) and extruded/non extruded AXs (1 mg/ml) from rice bran and wheat pentosan were tested following supplementation of monocytes with the TLR4 inhibitor (TLR4-IN-C34) for 24 hours (Figure 5-2).

The TLR4 inhibitor had no significant (*P*>0.05) effect on TNF α production in the negative control (NC). On the other hand, a significant (*P*<0.05) decrease in TNF α secretion was observed from U937 monocytes treated with pentosan supplemented with the TLR4 inhibitor, decreasing from 53.2 pg/ml (without inhibitor) to 29.5 pg/ml (with inhibitor) in the non-extruded 1 mg/ml pentosan. Similarly, a significant (*P*<0.05) decrease in TNF α secretion was observed in U937 monocytes treated with 1 mg/ml pentosan extruded at 80 rpm (P80), decreasing from 71.1 pg/ml (without inhibitor) to 40 pg/ml (with inhibitor). In a similar way, TNF α secretion significantly decreased in U937 monocytes treated with pentosan extruded at 160 rpm (P160), decreasing from 131.9 pg/ml (without inhibitor) to 93.1 pg/ml (with inhibitor).



Figure 5-2 TNF α secretion by U937 monocytes after 24 hrs treatment with AXs with/without TLR4 inhibitor (TLR4-IN-C34)

P*<0.05 was considered significant; n= 6 in all cases. Bars represent the mean TNF α ± standard error of the mean of six replicates. Brackets below the graph indicate significant (P*<0.05) differences between TNF α secretion in TLR4-inhibited monocytes compared to monocytes not supplemented with the TLR4 inhibitor. Brackets above bars indicate significant (**P*<0.05) differences between NO secretion in TLR4-inhibited monocytes from different AXs treatments.

There was a significant (*P*<0.05) decrease in TNF α production in U937 monocytes treated with AXs from non-extruded rice bran following supplementation with the TLR4 inhibitor, decreasing from 226.5 pg/ml (without inhibitor) to 195.9 pg/ml (with inhibitor). In a similar fashion, TNF α production significantly (*P*<0.05) decreased from monocytes treated with AXs from rice bran extruded at 80 rpm (RB80) after supplementation with the TLR4 inhibitor, decreasing from 301.1 pg/ml (without inhibitor) to 296.5 pg/ml (with inhibitor). Similarly, TNF α production significantly (*P*<0.05) decreased in U937 monocytes after treatment with 1 mg/ml RB160 and

supplementation with the TLR4 inhibitor, decreasing from 343.9 pg/ml (without inhibitor) to 296.5 pg/ml (without inhibitor).

Overall, supplementation of the TLR4 inhibitor significantly (P<0.05) reversed all the AX-induced or LPS-induced elevations of TNF α secretion by monocytes, suggesting AXs and LPS may mediate TNF α levels, at least in part, through TLR4.

5.5.3 The effect of LPS and AXs on TNFα secretion by U937 macrophages

U937 macrophages were stimulated with different concentrations of LPS and AXs extracted from rice bran and wheat pentosan at different extrusion screw-speeds (80 and 160 rpm) (Figure 5-3). TNF α secretion significantly (*P*<0.05) increased in a dose dependent manner as AX/LPS concentration increased.

In U937 macrophages treated with AXs extracted from pentosan, TNF α secretion significantly (*P*<0.05) increased compared to the untreated negative control (NC). At the lowest concentration of pentosan (50 µg/ml), TNF α was 1.8 ng/ml in comparison to the negative control (NC) which had TNF α levels of only 0.8 ng/ml. There was a significant (*P*<0.05) increase in TNF α secretion with increasing concentration of AXs treatment and a significant (*P*<0.05) increased from 80 rpm to 160 rpm (Figure 5-3).



Figure 5-3 TNF secretion by U937 macrophages after 24hr treatment with LPS and AXs

Bars represent mean TNF α ± standard error of the mean and n = 6 in all cases. Treatments were compared to the untreated negative control (NC) by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with Tukey multiple pairwise comparison tests; **P*<0.05 was considered significant. The brackets beneath the graph represent significant differences within the same sample while the brackets above the graph represent significant differences between samples at the same concentration.

The TNF α secretion by macrophages significantly (*P*<0.05) increased in a dosedependent manner, with higher concentrations of AXs or LPS resulting in higher levels of TNF α production. In macrophages treated with AXs from the non-extruded wheat pentosan, TNF α production increased from 1.8 to 3.9 and then to 10.4 ng/ml as the concentration of AX increased from 50 to 500 and then to 1000 µg/ml respectively. In a similar way, TNF α secretion from macrophages treated with AXs extracted from pentosan extruded with a screw-speed of 80rpm (P80) significantly (*P*<0.05) increased from 2.2 to 5.9 and then to 11.3 ng/ml as the AXs concentration increased from 50 to 500 and then to 1000 µg/ml respectively. Similarly, TNF α secreted by macrophages treated with AXs extracted from pentosan extruded at the higher screw-speed of 160 rpm (P160) was higher than that produced with the lower screw-speed (P80), with TNF α secretion increasing from 2.6 to 7.8 and then to 12.0 ng/ml as the AXs concentration increased from 50 to 500 and then to 1000 μ g/ml respectively.

TNF α secretion from macrophages treated with AXs from rice bran showed a dosedependent increase as AXs concentration increased, similar to that shown with wheat pentosan. However, the increase in TNF α secretion following treatment with AXs from rice bran was significantly (*P*<0.05) higher than that generated with AXs from wheat pentosan. The production of TNF α by U937 macrophages increased from 9.5 to 9.9 and then to 10.9 ng/ml as the concentration of AXs extracted from the nonextruded rice bran increased from 50 to 500 and then to 1000 µg/ml. Furthermore, TNF α production increased in macrophages treated with rice bran extruded at a 80 rpm screw-speed compared to AXs from non-extruded rice bran. The increase in TNF α secretion was from 10.1 to 10.5 and then to 12.2 ng/ml as the AX concentration increased from 50 to 500 and then to 12.2 ng/ml as the AX concentration increased from 50 to 500 and then to 1000 µg/ml. Furthermore, the higher screw-speed (160 rpm) in a dose-dependent manner, increasing from 10.6 to 11.5 and then to 12.9 ng/ml as the concentration increased from 50 to 500 and then to 1000 µg/ml respectively.

Overall, TNFα secretion not only increased in a concentration-dependent manner but it also increased as the extrusion screw-speed increased. Moreover, the increase in TNFα production from macrophages compared to monocytes was substantial, with pg/ml levels produced by monocytes compared to ng/ml levels produced by macrophages.

5.5.4 Effect of the TLR4 inhibitor (TLR4-IN-C34) on AXs-mediated secretion of TNFα by macrophages

LPS at 5 μ g/ml and extruded/non-extruded AXs from rice bran and wheat pentosan at 1 mg/ml were tested following supplementation of macrophages with the TLR4 inhibitor for 24 hours (Figure 5-4). The TLR4 inhibitor had no significant (*P*>0.05) effect on TNF α secretion by macrophages in the negative control (NC). On the other hand, a significant (P<0.05) decrease in TNF α level was observed in macrophages treated with 1 mg/ml AXs from non-extruded wheat pentosan following TLR4 supplementation compared to treatment in the absence of the inhibitor, with TNF α decreasing from 10.4 ng/ml (without inhibitor) to 6.5 ng/ml (with inhibitor). Similarly, a significant (P<0.05) decrease in TNF α secretion following TRL4 inhibitor supplementation was observed in the U937 macrophages treated with 1 mg/ml AXs from pentosan extruded at 80 rpm (P80), with TNF α decreasing from 11.3 ng/ml (without inhibitor) to 7.7 ng/ml (with inhibitor). Similarly, TNF α secretion decreased following TRL4 inhibitor supplementation in macrophages treated with AXs from pentosan extruded at 160 rpm (P160), with TNF α decreasing from 12 ng/ml (without inhibitor) to 8.3 ng/ml (with inhibitor).

In addition, there was a significant (P<0.05) decrease in TNF α production by macrophages treated with AXs extracted from non-extruded rice bran following supplementation with the TLR4 inhibitor, with TNF α decreasing from 10.9 ng/ml (without inhibitor) to 7.5 ng/ml (with inhibitor). In a similar fashion, TNF α production significantly (P<0.05) decreased in macrophages supplemented with the TLR4 inhibitor and treated with AXs from rice bran extruded at 80 rpm (RB80), with TNF α decreasing from 12.2 ng/ml (without inhibitor) to 8.1 ng/ml (with inhibitor). Moreover, the TLR4 inhibitor had a similar effect on TNF α production after treatment with 1 mg/ml AXs from rice bran extruded at 160 rpm (RB160), with TNF α decreasing from 12.9 ng/ml (without inhibitor) to 9.9 ng/ml (with inhibitor).

Overall, supplementation of the TLR4 inhibitor significantly (P<0.05) reversed all the AX-induced or LPS-induced elevations of TNF α secretion by macrophages, suggesting AXs and LPS may mediate TNF α levels, at least in part, through TLR4.



Figure 5-4 TNF secretion by U937 macrophages after 24 hrs treatment with AXs with/without TLR4 inhibitor

P*<0.05 was considered significant; n= 6 in all cases. Bars represent the mean TNF α ± standard error of the mean for six replicates. Brackets below the graph indicate significant (P*<0.05) differences between TNF α secretion in TLR4-inhibited macrophages compared to macrophages not supplemented with the TLR4 inhibitor. Brackets above bars indicate significant (**P*<0.05) differences between NO secretion in TLR4-inhibited macrophages from different AXs treatments.
5.6 Discussion

5.6.1 The effect of AXs on TNFα production by U937 monocytes/macrophages

Inflammation is the immune system response due to infection, injury or disease (Ferrero-Miliani *et al.*, 2007). The inflammatory response is not necessarily detrimental; limited inflammation is essential to maintain good health. Pro-inflammatory cytokines produced upon inflammation are important in the phagocytosis of microbes (Vernaza *et al.*, 2012).

The innate immune system cells, such as monocytes and macrophages, are important in detecting pathogens through pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), including the TLR4 receptor. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from the cell wall of gram-negative bacteria is an agonist of TLR4 in U937 cells (Johnson *et al.*, 2002; Termeer *et al.*, 2002; Miller *et al.*, 2005). TNF α is a multifunctional pro-inflammatory cytokine that is released by macrophages in response to activation of the TLR4 receptor by LPS (Ghoneum and Mastuura, 2004; Zhang *et al.*, 2008b). A similarity in the structure and molecular weight between AXs and LPS has been proposed previously in this study. Thus, confirming modulation of TNF α production in human inflammatory cells could have profound importance to human health.

It has been reported that MGN-3, a modified AXs with low molecular weight, significantly increases the levels of TNF α in a concentration-dependent manner (Ghoneum and Matsuura, 2004; Cholujova *et al.*, 2009). MGN-3 has the potential to induce TNF α secretion from human lymphocytes and natural killer cells (NK cells) (Ghoneum and Jewett, 1999; Ghoneum and Mastuura, 2004).

In this study, the effect of AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan on TNFα production by U937 monocytes/macrophages was investigated. TNFα secretion by monocytes significantly increased following treatment with AXs from extruded/non-extruded samples and the response was concentration dependent, with TNFα secretion increasing as AX concentration increased. For rice bran, the highest TNFα secretion observed was from monocytes treated with AXs from rice bran extruded at 160 rpm (RB160) at 1 mg/ml followed by a lower

stimulatory effect in RB80 and RBW respectively. Similarly, for wheat pentosan, the highest TNFα secretion was from monocytes treated with AXs from pentosan extruded at 160 rpm (P160) followed by a lower amount of TNFα production from P80 and PW respectively. This confirmed that extruded samples with a higher concentration of the low Mw of AXs resulted in a higher immunostimulatory potential in terms of TNFα secretion.

Similarly, TNF α secretion by macrophages was significantly stimulated with AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan. For rice bran, the highest TNF α secretion was observed in macrophages treated with AXs from rice bran extruded at 160 rpm followed by a lower secretion of TNF α by RB80 and non-extruded RBW respectively. In macrophages treated with AXs from wheat pentosan, a similar effect on TNF α secretion was observed. The highest level of TNF α was secreted from macrophages stimulated with AXs from wheat pentosan extruded at 160 rpm followed by a lower secretion of TNF α by RB80 and non-extruded from macrophages stimulated with AXs from wheat pentosan extruded at 160 rpm followed by a lower secretion of TNF α by RB80 and non-extruded RBW respectively. This again confirmed that extruded samples, with a higher percentage of the low molecular weight of AXs, resulted in higher immunostimulatory potential in terms of TNF α secretion.

Furthermore, stimulation of macrophages with AXs produced substantially higher levels of TNF α in comparison with monocytes. Interestingly, it has been found that the capacity of monocytes to produce TNF α in response to LPS stimulation is less than that of macrophages (Mata *et al.*, 1990; Wigmore *et al.*, 1998; Takashiba *et al.*, 1999), which concurs with the findings in this study.

5.6.2 TLR4 inhibition and TNFα secretion

It has been reported that TNFα secretion is stimulated through the activation of the TLR4 receptor by LPS (Ghoneum and Mastuura, 2004; Zhang *et al.*, 2008b). Therefore, to investigate the effect of TLR4 inhibition on TNFα production by monocytes/ macrophages treated with AXs, cells were treated with a TLR4 inhibitor prior to stimulation with AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan. The TLR4 inhibitor significantly reversed the AX-mediated stimulation of TNFα

secretion from monocytes/macrophages treated with AXs from extruded/nonextruded rice bran or wheat pentosan (Figures 5.2 and 5.4). This demonstrated the AX-induced TNF α secretion by monocytes and macrophages was, at least in part, mediated via TLR4, thus suggesting that TLR4 is a receptor for AXs.

The concentration of AXs in samples can be estimated from the estimated purities together with the Mw ranges of AXs in the sample. Therefore, we can determine a concentration range for the low and high Mw AXs. The biological responses of AXs then be compared with the known concentration of LPS.

This study has confirmed that AXs mediate the immune response by human monocytes and macrophages, suggesting that dietary AXs may have important immunomodulatory activity in the human body. Moreover, these findings suggest that both LPS and AXs may be mediated (at least in part) by the same receptor, but that AXs may not activate the TLR4 receptor to the same degree as LPS. Thus, it could be speculated that in the presence of infection (LPS) in the human body, AXs from the diet may compete with LPS for the same receptor, thus potentially dampening the overall immune response via competitive inhibition of TLR4. In the absence of infection (LPS) in the human body, dietary AXs may moderately activate the TLR4 receptor, thus providing a low-level but heightened immune response in the absence of infection. Further work is required to investigate this theory and confirm these findings *in vivo* using animal models and conducting human trials on dietary AXs.

Chapter 6 General Discussion

Using extrusion to modify the solubility and Mw of AXs is an attractive proposition because of its low cost, high speed and its low environmental impact (Jeon *et al.*, 2014).

Currently, most of the research carried out on extraction of AXs has applied very aggressive treatments (acid/alkaline hydrolysis, solvent extraction etc.) in order to obtain the maximum yield of AXs from the substrate. These processes can be hazardous and tend to produce effluents that are damaging to the environment and are costly to dispose of (Jeon *et al.*, 2014). Extrusion is a cheap and environmentally friendly technology but it is not known if it would have the effect of increasing solubility and reducing Mw of AXs.

Rice bran and wheat endosperm pentosan was extruded at two screw speeds 80 and 160 rpm. The solubility of AXs from the non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan was significantly different with the amount of WEAX from rice bran being significantly (P<0.05) lower than that obtained from wheat pentosan (Tables 3.3 and 3.4).

The low solubility of AXs in the original samples was suggested to be due to the different amounts of ferulic acid in the rice bran and wheat pentosan samples. The ferulic acid content in rice bran was 303 mg/100g whereas in wheat pentosan it was between 31-111 mg/100g (Jung *et al.*, 2007; Michniewicz *et al.*, 2013; Hüseyin, 2015). Ferulic acid is known for its low solubility in water (Anson *et al.*, 2009). It was also reported that ferulic acid has the ability to form diferulic acid bridges between adjacent AXs chains (Gruppen *et al.*, 1992; Fry, 2004) and it can be esterified to some arabinose side chains, resulting in lower AXs solubility (Snelders *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, the low solubility of AXs in the raw samples could be due to the close packing of the cell wall content, which might be due to steric hindrance (Faulds *et al.*, 2006).

Studies by Vermaas *et al.*, (2015); Karunanithy *et al.*, (2010); Yoo *et al.*, (2012) have suggested that increasing screw speed would increase the shear stress applied to the sample resulting in breaking of glycosidic bonds and depolymerisation of the AXs. This in turn may be expected to increase the soluble fraction. It can also be proposed that the high shear stress produced in the extruder barrel due to the increase in screw speeds from 80 to 160 rpm, might break the glycosidic bonds resulting in depolymerisation of AXs and explain the increase in solubility (Margareta and Nyman, 2003).

Studying the Mw distribution of AXs is important to understand their immunomodulatory potential. Li *et al* (2015) reported that low Mw AXs enhances the immune response both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Mw distribution was analysed using HPSEC. The Mw range of rice bran and wheat pentosan samples was within the range of (0.79-25) and (0.85-794) kDa respectively. The Mw distribution of AXs from wheat pentosan was within the range reported by Li *et al* (2015).

The findings of this research suggested that extrusion has an effect on the Mw distribution of AXs from both rice bran and wheat pentosan. It was found that extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan have a higher amount of very low Mw of AXs when compared with AXs from non-extruded samples.

This reduction in Mw range is in agreement with the findings of Svanberg *et al.* (1995) and Margareta and Nyman (2003) and it is suggested to be a result of depolymerisation of the cell wall material due to the high shear and high temperature applied in the extrusion process (Svanberg *et al.*, 1995). It can also be suggested that the high shear produced in the barrels might lead to break down of the glycosidic bonds (Margareta and Nyman, 2003).

Comparing the Mw distribution from rice bran and wheat pentosan showed a significant difference (P<0.05) in the quantity of very low Mw AXs obtained from extruded rice bran samples, which was higher than that obtained from wheat pentosan samples. The higher level of low Mw of AXs from rice bran may be due to

the fact that the rice bran xylan backbone carries more arabinose side chains than the xylan backbone of wheat pentosan. Thus, a higher degree of esterification would mean more bonds to be broken and therefore perhaps less extractable AX overall. However, it must be highlighted that only a concentration range is estimated for each AX sample in this study rather than the actual concentration.

Moreover, it can be postulated that the screw speed has an effect on the Mw range, as the higher the screw-speed the higher percentage of very low Mw AXs obtained from both rice bran and wheat pentosan samples (Figures 3-3 and 3-4). The high screw speed (160 rpm) produces a higher shear stress and a higher pressure in the barrels, which may break down the glycosidic bonds of the cell wall material.

It has been reported that the lower the Mw of AXs the higher the immune response and to study the immuno-modulatory potential of the extruded AXs, NO synthesis by monocytes and macrophages was determined following treatment with AXs.

The intestinal uptake of AXs and their subsequent transportation to body tissues such as the spleen, lymph and bone marrow might start when the intestinal macrophages are exposed to dietary AXs and they might be involved (at least in part) in the uptake and transportation of AXs to non-intestinal tissues.

The largest pool of tissue macrophages in the body are strategically located in the sub-epithelial lamina propria in the gastrointestinal mucosa. These macrophages are in close proximity to enormous numbers of antigenic stimuli and luminal bacteria. The gastrointestinal macrophages regulate inflammatory responses to antigens and bacteria that rupture the epithelium, protect the mucosa against harmful pathogens, and scavenge dead cells and foreign debris (Nagashima *et al.*, 1996). Figure 6.1 shows mucosa exposure to pathogens and host response. There are four ways that microbes gain entry into the lamina propria through the mucosal epithelium: (1) through Microfold (M) cells, (2) between or through intact epithelial cells, (3) through disrupted or injured epithelium, and (4) by dendritic cells (Smith *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 6-1 Mucosal exposure to pathogens and host response

Depending on the extracellular milieu, the monocyte/macrophage is activated directly by the binding of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) from pathogens or alternatively activated by the binding of cytokines produced from other cells, and exhibits characteristics typical of M1 and / or M2 macrophages (Taken from Smith *et al.*, 2011).

Oral administration of dietary fibres (e.g. β -glucans and AXs) come into contact with the mucosal immune system (Volman *et al.*, 2008; Mendis *et al.*, 2016). The intestinal epithelial cells together with the immune cells of the Peyer's patches play an important role in regulating immune responses. Previous studies showed oral administration of dietary fibres can modulate the mucosal immune response of the cells in Peyer's patches as well as intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes in mice (Suzuki *et al.*, 1990; Tsukada *et al*, 2003). Rice *et al.* (2005) isolated fluorescently labelled β -glucan from a subpopulation of the intestinal epithelial cells and Peyer's patches after oral administration, thus suggesting β -glucans with a high molecular mass (2 × 10⁶ Da) can be taken up from the intestinal lumen by M-cells (specialized epithelial cells for the transport of macromolecules in Peyer's patches) and transported to underlying lymphoid tissue. Sandvik *et al.* (2007) indicated that mucosal Dendritic cells (DCs) are also responsible for the uptake of polysaccharides, including dietary fibres. It is now well recognized that DCs sample and interact with gut contents locally via cellular projections that cross the epithelium (Rescigno *et al.*, 2001). In addition, murine studies have shown that orally administered dietary fibres (400µg/day) are taken by gastrointestinal macrophages and then transported to the spleen, lymph, and bone marrow (Hong *et al.*, 2004). Thus, the principal mechanisms through which dietary fibre is taken up from the diet appear to be via by M-cell, DC and/or macrophage transportation across the mucosal epithelium.

At present, levels of AXs in plasma and tissues are unknown, but dietary fibres have been detected within human tissues following administration (Rice *et al.*, 2005). Once transported to the spleen, lymph tissues and bone marrow dietary-derived AXs can modulate inflammatory responses in non-intestinal, peripheral tissues by interacting with resident inflammatory cells (including tissue macrophages) or bone marrow-derived leukocytes (e.g. monocytes) that may be subsequently recruited from circulation to sites of infection, injury or disease.

Absorbed dietary fibre can interact with intestinal macrophage in the lamina propria including Peyer's patches, leading to increased cytokine production by macrophages and enhanced resistance to infection (Wismar *et al.*, 2010; Mendis *et al.*, 2016). Dietary fibre decreases the synthesis of some pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-18 (IL-18) (Esposito *et al.*, 2003). Increasing dietary fibre intake has been show to decrease circulating levels of C-Reactive protein (CRP), a systemic marker of inflammation (Ma *et al.*, 2006).

Moreover, a human study involving 80 human participants showed that oral consumption of AX as a dietary supplement significantly increased interferon gamma (IFN-γ) production in circulating leukocytes of healthy adults (Choi, 2014), thus confirming non-intestinal inflammatory effects of AXs on peripheral blood mononuclear cells.

The viable cell count of U937 monocytes/macrophages supplemented with LPS/AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan at 50, 500 and 1000 μ g/ml were significantly lower than those of the untreated negative control (*P*<0.05).

The current study indicated that AXs/LPS have a concentration dependent effect on viable cell count. These findings are in agreement with previous studies that have shown that LPS induces apoptosis and inhibits cell growth (Xaus et al., 2004; Kuwabara and Imajoh-ohmi, 2004). AXs from extruded samples had a greater effect in reducing the viable cell density in comparison with AXs from non-extruded samples. Moreover, cell density was lower in monocytes/macrophages treated with AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran than from wheat pentosan, which suggests that the source, process and Mw of AXs play a key role in cell apoptosis and cell growth. In particular, it is postulated that the changes in cell density may be due to the higher amount of very low Mw AXs from rice bran compared to wheat pentosan. Furthermore, the screw speed of the treated cereal had a substantial effect on the AXs and cell density following treatment with AXs. Cells treated with AXs obtained from a high screw speed of 160 rpm had a far lower cell density than those treated at a lower screw speed of 80 rpm or the non-extruded samples. High amounts of very low Mw AXs were significantly associated with increased NO secretion and lowered cell density, in concordance with other studies showing higher NO secretion is generally associated with reduced cell count (Xaus et al., 2004). The NO secretion was investigated after 24 hrs treatment with LPS/AXs in both monocytes and macrophages. Our findings were in agreement with previous studies showing both AXs and LPS are able to induce NO secretion in human monocytes and macrophages (TUNÇTAN et al., 1998; Ghoneum and Matsuura, 2004; Shen et al., 2015).

Comparing the effect of LPS and AXs on NO secretion highlighted a difference in the response of monocytes and macrophages. The NO produced from monocytes was much lower than that produced by macrophages after supplementation with AXs/LPS. The substantial difference in NO secretion could be related to the fact that the expression of TLR4 in monocytes is lower than that found in macrophages (Vaure

and Liu, 2014). In addition, the maturation of macrophages by PMA (phorbol 12myristate 13-acetate) was shown to increase the sensitivity of macrophages to LPS, which is correlates with increases in CD14, MD-2, TLR4 and MyD88 mRNA levels in macrophages (Zarember and Godowski, 2002).

Moreover, the AXs extracts are known to contain other sugar residues such as glucose. A high glucose concentration has previously been shown to induce TLR4 activation (Dasu *et al.*, 2008; Garay-Malpartida *et al.*, 2011). AXs and LPS are similar in that both of them have glucose and galactose within their structures (Zhang *et al.*, 2015), and both of them are within the same Mw range (1-25 kDa). It could therefore be postulated that AXs and LPS may share the same receptor.

To investigate whether AXs and LPS activate the same receptor (TLR4), a TLR4 inhibitor was used. Monocytes/macrophages were supplemented with TLR4 inhibitor prior to induction by LPS and AXs. The cells supplemented with the inhibitor prior to treatment with AXs and LPS showed significantly reduced NO secretion and increased in cell density. This suggests that AXs and LPS are at least in part mediating cell responses via activation of TRL4.

It has been previously reported that LPS not only increases NO production by monocytes and macrophages, but also causes other inflammatory responses (Ghoneum and Mastuura, 2004; Zhang *et al.*, 2008). However, such inflammatory responses are not necessarily harmful; limited inflammation is important to maintain a good health and fight infection. Pro-inflammatory cytokines such TNF α are important for phagocytosis (Vernaza *et al.*, 2012). It has been reported that TNF α is released by monocytes and macrophages following TLR4 activation by LPS (Ghoneum and Mastuura, 2004; Zhang *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, MGN-3, a modified AXs with low Mw, has been shown to significantly increase the level of TNF α production in macrophages (Ghoneum and Mastuura, 2004; Cholujova *et al.*, 2009).

In this study, the TNFα secretion by U937 monocytes/macrophages was investigated after treatment with LPS and AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat

pentosan. The results suggest that both LPS and AXs are capable of inducing TNFα production from monocytes and macrophages. The increase in TNFα production was found to be dose-dependent with both the rice bran and wheat pentosane samples. As the dose of AX was increased, the production of TNFα also increased.

Additionally, it was found that the highest increase in TNFα production was obtained from monocytes/macrophages treated with AXs from extruded rice bran at a screw speed of 160 rpm (RB160) followed by a lower stimulatory effect in RB80 and RBW respectively.

In a similar fashion, the highest TNF α secretion was from monocytes/macrophages treated with AXs from extruded wheat pentosan at 160 rpm followed by a lower amount of TNF α secretion from P80 and PW respectively. These results are in agreement with previous findings that showed extrusion leads to a reduction the Mw of AXs, which then causes a higher immunostimulatory response than that induced by the non-extruded samples.

Interestingly, comparing the TNF α production by monocytes and macrophages it was found that monocytes stimulated with AXs and LPS secrete an appreciable amount of TNF α . This amount is however, much less than that produced by macrophages treated with AXs and LPS. This is in agreement with previous studies, which have found that monocytes have less capacity to produce TNF α in response to inflammation than macrophages (Mata *et al.*, 1990; Wigmore *et al.*, 1998). These responses could be related to the similarities that LPS and AXs share, as well as their activation of the same receptor (TLR4).

To investigate the effect of TLR4 inhibition on TNF α , cells were supplemented with a TLR4 inhibitor prior to treatment with LPS and AXs. The results showed that the TLR4 inhibitor significantly reduced production of TNF α from monocytes/macrophages treated with LPS or AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan. This demonstrated that TNF α induction was at least in part mediated via TLR4, thus

suggesting that TLR4 is a receptor for AXs. Therefore, this suggest AXs behave like an analogue of LPS, stimulating the same receptor.

LPS and AXs might share several characteristics in terms of structure and their ability to activate the same receptor. However, unlike LPS, which can cause septic shock when present in large amounts in the body, AXs do not show any detrimental effects on the body. It can be postulated that in the presence of infection and elevated LPS levels in the body, dietary AXs are likely to compete with LPS at the TLR4 receptor, dampening the effect of LPS and resulting in much reduced immune response than that with LPS stimulation alone. In contrast, regular inclusion of dietary AXs as part of daily diet in the absence of infection (LPS) is likely to elevate basal/background levels of TNF α and NO production, leading to an immune system that is in a continual state of readiness to fight infection by pathogens.

6.1 Conclusions

This research was conducted to study the effect of extrusion on solubility and Mw of WEAX from rice bran and wheat pentosan and to study the effect of the AXs on NO and TNF α . It was found that extrusion increases the solubility of AXs and reduces their Mw with increasing screw speed.

AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan have immunomodulatory potential by inducing the secretion of NO and TNF α by U937 monocytes and macrophages treated with AXs. The study also showed that AXs extracted from cereals extruded the highest screw speed had the highest immune response, possibly due to the higher amount of very low Mw AXs in samples extruded at the highest screw speed.

The study also showed that inhibition of the TLR4 receptor significantly reduced NO and TNF α secretion by monocytes and macrophages treated with LPS or AXs from extruded/non-extruded rice bran and wheat pentosan.

The study elucidated a potential mechanism of AXs action, suggesting that dietary AXs may compete for the same receptor as LPS (TRL4). The study proposes that dietary AXs may compete with LPS for the same receptor (TLR4), resulting in a damping of LPS-induced immune responses during infection but producing a non-detrimental moderate elevation of background inflammatory responses in the absence of infection. Thus, the study suggested that regular ingestion AXs might enhance (heighten) the natural immune response, thereby preparing the immune system for potential pathogen.

6.2 Future work

Investigations into the effect of extrusion screw speeds on Mw and solubility have provided an initial insight into its potential for both improving extractability of AXs from cereal foods and reducing the Mw of extracted AXs. This work forms the basis for further investigations, including the interaction between screw speed and barrel temperature or the addition of a heat/shear stable feruloyl esterase to the process. To develop this further, different extrusion conditions can be tested to investigate in more detail the effect extrusion may have on the structure and Mw of AXs. In addition, further investigations (beyond the scope of this current study) could be performed to characterise the AXs structure and Mw using technologies such as Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR). Using NMR would give information on the substitution of AXs molecules.

This study has proposed a possible receptor that AXs may stimulate; however, further competition assays needs to performed using both AXs and LPS to investigate whether AXs will compete with LPS for the TLR4 receptor. Moreover, this study has investigated the involvement of only one receptor; however, it is likely that other receptors may also be involved in the inflammatory process induced by AXs. Therefore, further receptors (e.g. Dectin-1) can be tested to fully explore the mechanisms of action.

Ultimately, the AXs can be tested further on various *in vitro* such as RAW 264.7 (macrophage murine cell line) and CACO-2 (human colon cancer cell line) and various cytokines can be investigated such as IL-6, IL-12 and IL-23. Moreover, AXs can be tested *in vivo* using animal models to confirm *in vitro* findings before assessing their function in humans.

References

Abbas, A., Lichtman, A. and Pillai, S. (2012) *Basic immunology: Functions and Disorders of the Immune System*. 1st ed., Philadelphia, Pa: Saunders.

Adams, L.B., Dinauer, M.C., Morgenstern, D.E. and Krahenbuhl, J.L. (1997) 'Comparison of the roles of reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates in the host response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis using transgenic mice.' *Tubercle and Lung Disease*, 78(5) pp.237-246.

Aderem, A. and Underhill, D.M. (1999) 'Mechanisms of phagocytosis in macrophages.' *Annual review of immunology*, 17(1) pp.593-623.

Aguedo, M., Fougnies, C., Dermience, M. and Richel, A. (2014) 'Extraction by three processes of arabinoxylans from wheat bran and characterization of the fractions obtained.' *Carbohydrate polymers*, 105, pp.317-324.

Akdogan, H. (1996) 'Pressure, torque, and energy responses of a twin-screw extruder at high moisture contents.' *Food Research International*, 29(5) pp.423-429.

Akira, S. and Takeda, K. (2004) 'Toll-like receptor signalling.' *Nature reviews immunology*, 4(7) pp.499-511.

Akira, S., Uematsu, S. and Takeuchi, O. (2006) 'Pathogen recognition and innate immunity.' *Cell*, 124(4) pp.783-801.

Alderton, W.K., Cooper, C.E. and Knowles, R.G. (2001) 'Nitric oxide synthases: structure, function and inhibition.' *Biochemical Journal*, 357(3) pp.593-615.

Ali, Y.M., Lynch, N.J., Haleem, K.S., Fujita, T., Endo, Y., Hansen, S., Holmskov, U., Takahashi, K., Stahl, G.L., Dudler, T. and Girija, U.V. (2012) 'The lectin pathway of complement activation is a critical component of the innate immune response to pneumococcal infection.' *PLoS Pathogens*, 8(7) p.e1002793. Alissa, E.M. and Ferns, G.A. (2012) Functional foods and nutraceuticals in the primary prevention of cardiovascular diseases. *Journal of nutrition and Metabolism*, (2012) pp.1-16.

Alonso, J.L., Domínguez, H., Garrote, G., Parajó, J.C. and Vázquez, M.J. (2003) 'Xylooligosaccharides: properties and production technologies.' *Electronic Journal of Environmental, Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 2(1) pp.230-32.

Andersson, R., Eliasson, C., Selenare, M., Kamal-Eldin, A. and Åman, P. (2003) 'Effect of endo-xylanase-containing enzyme preparations and laccase on the solubility of rye bran arabinoxylan.' *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 83(7) pp.617-623.

Andrewartha, K.A., Phillips, D.R. and Stone, B.A. (1979) 'Solution properties of wheatflour arabinoxylans and enzymically modified arabinoxylans.' *Carbohydrate Research*, 77(1) pp.191-204.

Annison, G., Moughan, P.J. and Thomas, D.V. (1995) 'Nutritive activity of soluble rice bran arabinoxylans in broiler diets.' *British poultry science*, 36(3) pp.479-488.

Anson, N.M., van den Berg, R., Havenaar, R., Bast, A. and Haenen, G.R. (2009) 'Bioavailability of ferulic acid is determined by its bioaccessibility.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 49(2) pp.296-300.

Asea, A., Rehli, M., Kabingu, E., Boch, J.A., Baré, O., Auron, P.E., Stevenson, M.A. and Calderwood, S.K. (2002) 'Novel signal transduction pathway utilized by extracellular HSP70 role of Toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR4.' *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(17) pp.15028-15034.

Avellar, B.K. and Glasser, W.G. (1998) 'Steam-assisted biomass fractionation. I. Process considerations and economic evaluation.' *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 14(3) pp.205-218. Badr El-Din, N.K., Ali, D.A., Alaa El-Dein, M. and Ghoneum, M. (2016) 'Enhancing the Apoptotic Effect of a Low Dose of Paclitaxel on Tumor Cells in Mice by Arabinoxylan Rice Bran (MGN-3/Biobran).' *Nutrition and Cancer*, 68(6) pp.1010-1020.

Badr El-Din, N.K., Noaman, E. and Ghoneum, M. (2008) 'In Vivo Tumor Inhibitory Effects of Nutritional Rice Bran Supplement MGN-3/Biobran on Ehrlich Carcinoma-Bearing Mice.' *Nutrition and cancer*, 60(2) pp.235-244.

Baek, K.J., Thiel, B.A., Lucas, S. and Stuehr, D.J. (1993) 'Macrophage nitric oxide synthase subunits. Purification, characterization, and role of prosthetic groups and substrate in regulating their association into a dimeric enzyme.' *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268(28) pp.21120-21129.

Baek, Y.S., Haas, S., Hackstein, H., Bein, G., Hernandez-Santana, M., Lehrach, H., Sauer, S. and Seitz, H. (2009) 'Identification of novel transcriptional regulators involved in macrophage differentiation and activation in U937 cells.' *BMC immunology*, 10(1) p.1.

Barnes, P.J. and Liew, F.Y. (1995) 'Nitric oxide and asthmatic inflammation.' *Immunology today*, 16(3) pp.128-130.

Beaugrand, J., Chambat, G., Wong, V.W., Goubet, F., Rémond, C., Paës, G., Benamrouche, S., Debeire, P., O'Donohue, M. and Chabbert, B. (2004) 'Impact and efficiency of GH10 and GH11 thermostable endoxylanases on wheat bran and alkaliextractable arabinoxylans.' *Carbohydrate research*, 339(15) pp.2529-2540.

Bergmans, M.E.F., Beldman, G., Gruppen, H. and Voragen, A.G.J. (1996) 'Optimisation of the selective extraction of (glucurono) arabinoxylans from wheat bran: use of barium and calcium hydroxide solution at elevated temperatures.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 23(3) pp.235-245.

Bermudez-Brito, M., Sahasrabudhe, N.M., Rösch, C., Schols, H.A., Faas, M.M. and Vos, P. (2015) 'The impact of dietary fibers on dendritic cell responses *in vitro* is

dependent on the differential effects of the fibers on intestinal epithelial cells.' *Molecular nutrition & food research*, 59(4) pp.698-710.

Bertholet, S., Tzeng, E., Felley-Bosco, E. and Mauel, J. (1999) 'Expression of the inducible NO synthase in human monocytic U937 cells allows high output nitric oxide production.' *Journal of leukocyte biology*, 65(1) pp.50-58.

Biragyn, A., Ruffini, P.A., Leifer, C.A., Klyushnenkova, E., Shakhov, A., Chertov, O., Shirakawa, A.K., Farber, J.M., Segal, D.M., Oppenheim, J.J. and Kwak, L.W. (2002) 'Toll-like receptor 4-dependent activation of dendritic cells by β -defensin 2.' *Science*, 298(5595) pp.1025-1029.

Björck, I. and Asp, N.G. (1983) 'The effects of extrusion cooking on nutritional value a literature review.' *Journal of Food Engineering*, 2(4) pp.281-308.

Bogdan, C. (2001) 'Nitric oxide and the immune response.' *Nature immunology*, 2(10) pp.907-916.

Bonneaud, C., Mazuc, J., Gonzalez, G., Haussy, C., Chastel, O., Faivre, B. and Sorci, G. (2003) 'Assessing the cost of mounting an immune response.' *The American Naturalist*, 161(3) pp.367-379.

Braga, M., Vignali, A., Gianotti, L., Cestari, A., Profili, M. and Carlo, V.D. (1996) 'Immune and nutritional effects of early enteral nutrition after major abdominal operations.' *The European journal of surgery Acta chirurgica*, 162(2) pp.105-112.

Bredt, D.S. and Snyder, S.H. (1994) 'Nitric oxide: a physiologic messenger molecule.' *Annual review of biochemistry*, 63(1) pp.175-195.

Broekaert, W.F., Courtin, C.M., Verbeke, K., Van de Wiele, T., Verstraete, W. and Delcour, J.A. (2011) 'Prebiotic and other health-related effects of cereal-derived arabinoxylans, arabinoxylan-oligosaccharides, and xylooligosaccharides.' *Critical reviews in food science and nutrition*, 51(2) pp.178-194.

Burtea, O.C.T.A.V.I.A.N. (2001) 'Snack foods from formers and high-shear extruders.' *Snack Foods processing*. Boca Raton: CRC, pp.281-314.

Büchi (2016) Extraction Unit E-812 / E-816 HE/ Technical data sheet. [online] [Accessed June 19th 2016] <u>http://www.buchi.com/gb-</u> <u>en/products/extraction/extraction-unit-e-812-e-816</u>

Camire, M.E., Zhao, J. and Violette, D.A. (1993) '*In vitro* binding of bile acids by extruded potato peels.' *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 41(12) pp.2391-2394.

Cao, L., Liu, X., Qian, T., Sun, G., Guo, Y., Chang, F., Zhou, S. and Sun, X. (2011) 'Antitumor and immunomodulatory activity of arabinoxylans: A major constituent of wheat bran.' *International journal of biological macromolecules*, 48(1) pp.160-164.

Cara, C., Ruiz, E., Ballesteros, I., Negro, M.J. and Castro, E. (2006) 'Enhanced enzymatic hydrolysis of olive tree wood by steam explosion and alkaline peroxide delignification.' *Process Biochemistry*, 41(2) pp.423-429.

Caramalho, I., Lopes-Carvalho, T., Ostler, D., Zelenay, S., Haury, M. and Demengeot, J. (2003). 'Regulatory T cells selectively express toll-like receptors and are activated by lipopolysaccharide.' *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 197(4) pp.403-411.

Castells, M., Marin, S., Sanchis, V. and Ramos, A.J. (2005) 'Fate of mycotoxins in cereals during extrusion cooking: a review.' *Food Additives and contaminants*, 22(2) pp.150-157.

Chae, S.Y., Lee, M., Kim, S.W. and Bae, Y.H. (2004) 'Protection of insulin secreting cells from nitric oxide induced cellular damage by crosslinked hemoglobin.' *Biomaterials*, 25(5) pp.843-850.

Champagne, E.T. (2004) *Rice: chemistry and technology.* 3rd ed., St. Paul, MN: American Association of Cereal Chemists.

Chang, C.Y., Tucci, M. and Baker, R.C. (2000) 'Lipopolysaccharide-stimulated nitric oxide production and inhibition of cell proliferation is antagonized by ethanol in a clonal macrophage cell line.' *Alcohol*, 20(1) pp.37-43.

Chang, I.J. and Harris, R.C. (2005) 'Are all COX-2 inhibitors created equal?.' *Hypertension*, 45(2) pp.178-180.

Chase, M.W. and Reveal, J.L. (2009) 'A phylogenetic classification of the land plants to accompany APG III.' *Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society*, 161(2) pp.122-127.

Chen, G. and Goeddel, D.V. (2002) 'TNF-R1 signaling: a beautiful pathway.' Science, 296(5573) pp.1634-1635.

Chen, L. and Flies, D.B. (2013) 'Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and coinhibition.' *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 13(4) pp.227-242.

Choct, M., (1997) 'Feed non-starch polysaccharides: chemical structures and nutritional significance.' *Feed milling international*, 191(June issue) pp.13-26.

Choi, J.Y., Paik, D.J., Kwon, D.Y. and Park, Y. (2014) 'Dietary supplementation with rice bran fermented with Lentinus edodes increases interferon-γ activity without causing adverse effects: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group study.' *Nutrition journal*, 13(1), p.35.

Cholujova, D., Jakubikova, J. and Sedlak, J. (2009) 'BioBran-augmented maturation of human monocytederived dendritic cells.' *Neoplasma*, 56(2) p.89.

Chow, A., Brown, B.D. and Merad, M. (2011) 'Studying the mononuclear phagocyte system in the molecular age.' *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 11(11) pp.788-798.

Clark, E.A. and Ledbetter, J. (1994) 'How B and T cells talk to each other.' *Nature*, 367(6462) pp.425-428.

Cooper, M.D. and Alder, M.N. (2006) 'The evolution of adaptive immune systems.' *Cell*, 124(4) pp.815-822.

Courtin, C.M. and Delcour, J.A. (2001) 'Relative activity of endoxylanases towards water-extractable and water-unextractable arabinoxylan.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 33(3) pp.301-312.

Courtin, C.M., Van den Broeck, H. and Delcour, J.A. (2000) 'Determination of reducing end sugar residues in oligo-and polysaccharides by gas–liquid chromatography.' *Journal of Chromatography A*, 866(1) pp.97-104.

Cravens, P.D. and Lipsky, P.E. (2002) 'Dendritic cells, chemokine receptors and autoimmune inflammatory diseases.' *Immunology and cell biology*, 80(5) pp.497-505.

Croft, M. (2003) 'Co-stimulatory members of the TNFR family: keys to effective T-cell immunity?.' *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 3(8) pp.609-620.

Cruvinel, W.D.M., Mesquita Júnior, D., Araújo, J.A.P., Catelan, T.T.T., Souza, A.W.S.D., Silva, N.P.D. and Andrade, L.E.C. (2010) 'Immune system: Part I. Fundamentals of innate immunity with emphasis on molecular and cellular mechanisms of inflammatory response.' *Revista brasileira de reumatologia*, 50(4) pp.434-447.

Cyktor, J.C. and Turner, J. (2011) 'Interleukin-10 and immunity against prokaryotic and eukaryotic intracellular pathogens.' *Infection and immunity*, 79(8) pp.2964-2973.

Cyran, M., Courtin, C.M. and Delcour, J.A. (2003) 'Structural features of arabinoxylans extracted with water at different temperatures from two rye flours of diverse breadmaking quality.' *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 51(15) pp.4404-4416.

Da Silva Correia, J. and Ulevitch, R.J. (2002) 'MD-2 and TLR4 N-linked glycosylations are important for a functional lipopolysaccharide receptor.' *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(3) pp.1845-1854.

Daou, C. and Zhang, H. (2012) 'Study on functional properties of physically modified dietary fibres derived from defatted rice bran.' *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 4(9) p.85.

Dasu, M.R., Devaraj, S., Zhao, L., Hwang, D.H. and Jialal, I. (2008) 'High glucose induces toll-like receptor expression in human monocytes Mechanism of activation.' *Diabetes*, 57(11) pp.3090-3098.

Dehghan-Shoar, Z., Mandimika, T., Hardacre, A.K., Reynolds, G.W. and Brennan, C.S., (2011) 'Lycopene bioaccessibility and starch digestibility for extruded snacks enriched with tomato derivatives.' *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 59(22) pp.12047-12053.

Dervilly-Pinel, G., Rimsten, L., Saulnier, L., Andersson, R. and Åman, P. (2001) 'Waterextractable arabinoxylan from pearled flours of wheat, barley, rye and triticale. Evidence for the presence of ferulic acid dimers and their involvement in gel formation.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 34(2) pp.207-214.

Dornez, E., Gebruers, K., Delcour, J.A. and Courtin, C.M. (2009) 'Grain-associated xylanases: occurrence, variability, and implications for cereal processing.' *Trends in food science* & *technology*, 20(11) pp.495-510.

Douglas, S.G. (1981) 'A rapid method for the determination of pentosans in wheat flour.' *Food Chemistry*, 7(2), pp.139-145.

Dranoff, G. (2004) 'Cytokines in cancer pathogenesis and cancer therapy.' *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 4(1) pp.11-22.

Edwards, S., Chaplin, M.F., Blackwood, A.D. and Dettmar, P.W. (2003) 'Primary structure of arabinoxylans of ispaghula husk and wheat bran.' *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 62(01) pp.217-222.

Eissner, G., Kirchner, S., Lindner, H., Kolch, W., Janosch, P., Grell, M., Scheurich, P., Andreesen, R. and Holler, E. (2000) 'Reverse signaling through transmembrane TNF

confers resistance to lipopolysaccharide in human monocytes and macrophages.' *The Journal of Immunology*, 164(12) pp.6193-6198.

El-Din, N.K.B., Fattah, S.M.A., Pan, D., Tolentino, L. and Ghoneum, M. (2016) 'Chemopreventive Activity of MGN-3/Biobran Against Chemical Induction of Glandular Stomach Carcinogenesis in Rats and Its Apoptotic Effect in Gastric Cancer Cells.' *Integrative cancer therapies*, 15(4) pp.26-34.

El-Gamal, Y.M., Elmasry, O.A., El-Ghoneimy, D.H. and Soliman, I.M. (2011) 'Immunomodulatory effects of food.' *Egyptian Journal of Pediatric Allergy and Immunology*, 9(1) pp.3-13.

Escarnot, E., Aguedo, M. and Paquot, M. (2012) 'Enzymatic hydrolysis of arabinoxylans from spelt bran and hull.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 55(2) pp.243-253.

Esposito, K., Nappo, F., Giugliano, F., Di Palo, C., Ciotola, M., Barbieri, M., Paolisso, G. and Giugliano, D. (2003) 'Meal modulation of circulating interleukin 18 and adiponectin concentrations in healthy subjects and in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus.' *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 78(6), pp.1135-1140.

Etanol, P. (2016) 'Fractionation of Hemicellulose from Rice Straw by Alkaline Extraction and Ethanol Precipitation.' *Malaysian Journal of Analytical Sciences*, 20(2) pp.329-334.

Faulds, C.B., Mandalari, G., Lo Curto, R.B., Bisignano, G. and Waldron, K.W. (2006) 'Influence of the arabinoxylan composition on the susceptibility of mono-and dimeric ferulic acid release by Humicola insolens feruloyl esterases.' *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 86(11) pp.1623-1630

Faulds, C.B., Zanichelli, D., Crepin, V.F., Connerton, I.F., Juge, N., Bhat, M.K. and Waldron, K.W. (2003) 'Specificity of feruloyl esterases for water-extractable and water-unextractable feruloylated polysaccharides: influence of xylanase.' *Journal of cereal science*, 38(3) pp.281-288.

Fengler, A.I. and Marquardt, R.R. (1988) 'Water-soluble pentosans from rye: II. Effects on rate of dialysis and on the retention of nutrients by the chick.' *Cereal Chem*, 65(4) pp.298-302.

Ferrero-Miliani, L., Nielsen, O.H., Andersen, P.S. and Girardin, S.E. (2007) 'Chronic inflammation: importance of NOD2 and NALP3 in interleukin-1β generation.' *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, 147(2) pp.227-235.

Fleury, M.D., Edney, M.J., Campbell, L.D. and Crow, G.H. (1997) 'Total, water-soluble and acid-soluble arabinoxylans in western Canadian barleys.' *Canadian journal of plant science*, 77(2) pp.191-196.

Food and Agriculture Organization. (2016) *World Food Situation*. Available: http://www.fao.org/worldfoodsituation/csdb/en/. Last accessed 16th May 2016.

Förstermann, U. and Kleinert, H. (1995) 'Nitric oxide synthase: expression and expressional control of the three isoforms.' *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology*, 352(4) pp.351-364.

Frantz, S., Kobzik, L., Kim, Y.D., Fukazawa, R., Medzhitov, R., Lee, R.T. and Kelly, R.A. (1999) 'Toll4 (TLR4) expression in cardiac myocytes in normal and failing myocardium.' *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 104(3) pp.271-280.

Frendéus, B., Wachtler, C., Hedlund, M., Fischer, H., Samuelsson, P., Svensson, M. and Svanborg, C. (2001) 'Escherichia coli P fimbriae utilize the Toll-like receptor 4 pathway for cell activation.' *Molecular microbiology*, 40(1) pp.37-51.

Fry, S. C. (2004). 'Primary cell wall metabolism: tracking the careers of wall polymers in living plant cells.' *New phytologist*, 161(3) pp. 641-675.

Fujihara, M., Muroi, M., Tanamoto, K.I., Suzuki, T., Azuma, H. and Ikeda, H. (2003) 'Molecular mechanisms of macrophage activation and deactivation by lipopolysaccharide: roles of the receptor complex.' *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 100(2) pp.171-194.

Gabrielii, I., Gatenholm, P., Glasser, W.G., Jain, R.K. and Kenne, L. (2000). Separation, characterization and hydrogel-formation of hemicellulose from aspen wood. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 43(4), pp.367-374.

Ganguli, N.K. and Turner, M.A. (2008) 'A simplified method for extracting waterextractable arabinoxylans from wheat flour.' *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 88(11) pp.1905-1910.

Garay-Malpartida, H.M., Mourão, R.F., Mantovani, M., Santos, I.A., Sogayar, M.C. and Goldberg, A.C. (2011) 'Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) expression in human and murine pancreatic beta-cells affects cell viability and insulin homeostasis.' *BMC immunology*, 12(1) p.1.

Garófalo, L., Vazquez, D., Ferreira, F. and Soule, S. (2011) 'Wheat flour non-starch polysaccharides and their effect on dough rheological properties.' *Industrial Crops and Products*, 34(2) pp.1327-1331.

Garrote, G., Dominguez, H. and Parajo, J.C. (1999) 'Hydrothermal processing of lignocellulosic materials.' *European Journal of Wood and Wood Products*, 57(3) pp.191-202.

Gay, N.J. and Keith, F.J. (1991) 'Drosophila Toll and IL-1 receptor.' *Nature*, 351(6325) pp.355-361.

Geissmann, F., Manz, M.G., Jung, S., Sieweke, M.H., Merad, M. and Ley, K. (2010) 'Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells.' *Science*, 327(5966) pp.656-661.

Ghoneum, M. (1998) 'Enhancement of human natural killer cell activity by modified arabinoxylan from rice bran (MGN-3).' *International Journal of Immunotherapy*, 14(2) pp.89-99.

Ghoneum, M. and Abedi, S. (2004) 'Enhancement of natural killer cell activity of aged mice by modified arabinoxylan rice bran (MGN-3/Biobran).' *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 56(12) pp.1581-1588.

Ghoneum, M. and Brown, J. (1999) 'NK immunorestoration of cancer patients by biobran/MGN-3, a modified arabinoxylan rice bran (study of 32 patients followed for up to 4 year).' *Anti-Aging Medical Therapeutics,* 3 pp.217-226.

Ghoneum, M. and Gollapaudi, S. (2004) 'Induction of apoptosis in breast cancer cells by Saccharomyces cerevisiae, the baker's yeast, *in vitro.' Anticancer research*, 24(3A) pp.1455-1464.

Ghoneum, M. and Jewett, A. (1999) 'Production of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interferon-gamma from human peripheral blood lymphocytes by MGN-3, a modified arabinoxylan from rice bran, and its synergy with interleukin-2 *in vitro.' Cancer detection and prevention*, 24(4) pp.314-324.

Ghoneum, M. and Matsuura, M. (2004) 'Augmentation of macrophage phagocytosis by modified arabinoxylan rice bran (MGN-3/biobran).' *International journal of immunopathology and pharmacology*, 17(3) pp.283-292.

Ghoneum, M. and Ogura, T. (1999) 'Immunomodulation of human NK cell activity by marina crystal minerals (MCM), a crystallized mixture of minerals and trace elements from sea water.' *Nutrition research*, 19(9) pp.1287-1298.

Ghoneum, M., Hamilton, J. and Gollapudi, S. (2004) 'Modified arabinoxylan rice bran (MGN-3/biobran), potentiates chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in human breast cancer cells.' *The Journal of Nutrition*, 134(12S) p.3541S.

Ghoneum, M., Matsuura, M. and Gollapudp, S. (2008) 'Modified arabinoxylan rice bran (MGN-3/Biobran) enhances intracellular killing of microbes by human phagocytic cells *in vitro.*' *International journal of immunopathology and pharmacology*, 21(1) pp.87-95.

Girhammar, U. and Nair, B.M. (1992) 'Certain physical properties of water-soluble non-starch polysaccharides from wheat, rye, triticale, barley and oats.' *Food Hydrocolloids*, 6(4) pp.329-343.

Gruppen, H., Hamer, R.J. and Voragen, A.G.J. (1991) 'Barium hydroxide as a tool to extract pure arabinoxylans from water-insoluble cell wall material of wheat flour.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 13(3) pp.275-290.

Gruppen, H., Hamer, R.J. and Voragen, A.G.J. (1992) 'Water-unextractable cell wall material from wheat flour. 2. Fractionation of alkali-extracted polymers and comparison with water-extractable arabinoxylans.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 16(1) pp.53-67.

Gruppen, H., Kormelink, F.J.M. and Voragen, A.G.J. (1993) 'Water-unextractable cell wall material from wheat flour. 3. A structural model for arabinoxylans.' *Journal of cereal science*, 18(2) pp.111-128.

Gu, L., House, S.E., Rooney, L.W. and Prior, R.L. (2008) 'Sorghum extrusion increases bioavailability of catechins in weanling pigs.' *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 56(4) pp.1283-1288.

Gualberto, D.G., Bergman, C.J., Kazemzadeh, M. and Weber, C.W. (1997) 'Effect of extrusion processing on the soluble and insoluble fiber, and phytic acid contents of cereal brans.' *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 51(3) pp.187-198.

Guha, M. and Mackman, N. (2001) 'LPS induction of gene expression in human monocytes.' *Cellular signalling*, 13(2) pp.85-94.

Guillot, L., Balloy, V., McCormack, F.X., Golenbock, D.T., Chignard, M. and Si-Tahar, M. (2002) 'Cutting edge: the immunostimulatory activity of the lung surfactant protein-A involves Toll-like receptor 4.' *The Journal of Immunology*, 168(12) pp.5989-5992.

Gujral, H.S., Sharma, P., Kumar, A. and Singh, B. (2012) 'Total phenolic content and antioxidant activity of extruded brown rice.' *International Journal of Food Properties*, 15(2) pp.301-311.

Hansen, H.B., Rasmussen, C.V., Bach Knudsen, K.E. and Hansen, Å. (2003) 'Effects of genotype and harvest year on content and composition of dietary fibre in rye (Secale cereale L) grain.' *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 83(1) pp.76-85.

Hashimoto, S., Shogren, M.D., Bolte, L.C. and Pomeranz, Y. (1987b) 'Cereal pentosans: their estimation and significance. 3. Pentosans in abraded grains and milling by-products.' *Cereal Chemistry*, 64(1) pp.39-41.

Hashimoto, S., Shogren, M.D., & Pomeranz, Y. (1987a) 'Cereal pentosans: Their estimation and significance. I.Pentosans in wheat and milled wheat products.' *Cereal Chemistry*, 64(1) pp.30-34.

Heinrichs, D.E., Yethon, J.A. and Whitfield, C. (1998) 'Molecular basis for structural diversity in the core regions of the lipopolysaccharides of Escherichia coli and Salmonella enterica.' *Molecular microbiology*, 30(2) pp.221-232.

Hibbs, J.B. (2002) 'Infection and nitric oxide.' *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 185(Supplement 1) pp.S9-S17

Holguín-Acuña, A.L., Carvajal-Millán, E., Santana-Rodríguez, V., Rascón-Chu, A., Márquez-Escalante, J.A., de León-Renova, N.E.P. and Gastelum-Franco, G. (2008) 'Maize bran/oat flour extruded breakfast cereal: A novel source of complex polysaccharides and an antioxidant.' *Food Chemistry*, 111(3) pp.654-657.

Hollmann, J. and Lindhauer, M.G. (2005) 'Pilot-scale isolation of glucuronoarabinoxylans from wheat bran.' *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 59(2) pp.225-230.

Holmlund, U., Cebers, G., Dahlfors, A.R., Sandstedt, B., Bremme, K., EkstrÖm, E.V.A. and Scheynius, A. (2002) 'Expression and regulation of the pattern recognition

receptors Toll-like receptor-2 and Toll-like receptor-4 in the human placenta.' *Immunology*, 107(1) pp.145-151.

Hong, F., Yan, J., Baran, J.T., Allendorf, D.J., Hansen, R.D., Ostroff, G.R., Xing, P.X., Cheung, N.K.V. and Ross, G.D. (2004) 'Mechanism by which orally administered β -1, 3-glucans enhance the tumoricidal activity of antitumor monoclonal antibodies in murine tumor models.' *The Journal of Immunology*, *173*(2), pp.797-806.

Hopkins, M.J., Englyst, H.N., Macfarlane, S., Furrie, E., Macfarlane, G.T. and McBain, A.J. (2003) 'Degradation of cross-linked and non-cross-linked arabinoxylans by the intestinal microbiota in children.' *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 69(11) pp.6354-6360.

Hoshino, Y., Hirashima, N., Nakanishi, M. and Furuno, T. (2010) 'Inhibition of degranulation and cytokine production in bone marrow-derived mast cells by hydrolyzed rice bran.' *Inflammation research*, 59(8) pp.615-625.

Houben, R., De Ruijter, C. F., & Brunt, K. (1997) 'Determination of the pentosan content of wheat products by hydrolysis, glucose oxidase treatment and analysis by HPAEC/PAD.' *Journal of cereal science*, 26(1) pp. 37-46.

Hughes, S.A., Shewry, P.R., Li, L., Gibson, G.R., Sanz, M.L. and Rastall, R.A. (2007) 'In vitro fermentation by human fecal microflora of wheat arabinoxylans'. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 55(11) pp.4589-4595.

Hüseyin, B.O.Z. (2015) 'Ferulic Acid in Cereals–a Review.' Czech J Food Sci, 33 pp.1-7.

Iqbal, M.S., Akbar, J., Hussain, M.A., Saghir, S. and Sher, M. (2011) 'Evaluation of hot water extracted arabinoxylans from ispaghula seeds as drug carriers.' *Carbohydrate polymers*, 83(3) pp.1218-1225.

Izydorczyk, M. S. and Dexter, J. E. (2008) 'Barley β-glucans and arabinoxylans: Molecular structure, physicochemical properties, and uses in food products–a Review.' *Food Research International*, 41(9) pp. 850-868.

Izydorczyk, M., Biliaderis, C. and Bushuk, W. (1991) 'Comparison of the Structure and Composition of Water-Soluble Pentosans from Different Wheat Varieties1.' *Cereal Chem*, 68(2) pp.139-144.

Izydorczyk, M.S. and Biliaderis, C.G. (1995) 'Cereal arabinoxylans: advances in structure and physicochemical properties.' *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 28(1) pp.33-48.

Izydorczyk, M.S., Macri, L.J. and MacGregor, A.W. (1998) 'Structure and physicochemical properties of barley non-starch polysaccharides—I. Waterextractable β-glucans and arabinoxylans.' *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 35(3) pp.249-258.

Jacquemin, L., Zeitoun, R., Sablayrolles, C., Pontalier, P.Y. and Rigal, L. (2012) 'Evaluation of the technical and environmental performances of extraction and purification processes of arabinoxylans from wheat straw and bran.' *Process Biochemistry*, 47(3) pp.373-380.

Jariwalla, R.J. (2000) 'Rice-bran products: phytonutrients with potential applications in preventive and clinical medicine.' *Drugs under experimental and clinical research*, 27(1) pp.17-26.

Jeon, S.J., Singkhornart, S. and Ryu, G.H. (2014) 'The Effect of Extrusion Conditions on Water-extractable Arabinoxylans from Corn Fiber.' *Preventive nutrition and food science*, 19(2) p.124.

Jerkovic, A., Kriegel, A.M., Bradner, J.R., Atwell, B.J., Roberts, T.H. and Willows, R.D. (2010) 'Strategic distribution of protective proteins within bran layers of wheat protects the nutrient-rich endosperm.' *Plant physiology*, 152(3) pp.1459-1470.

JMares, D. and Stone, B.A. (1973) 'Studies on wheat endosperm I. Chemical composition and ultrastructure of the cell walls.' *Australian Journal of Biological Sciences*, 26(4) pp.793-812.

Johnson, G.B., Brunn, G.J., Kodaira, Y. and Platt, J.L. (2002) 'Receptor-mediated monitoring of tissue well-being via detection of soluble heparan sulfate by Toll-like receptor 4.' *The Journal of Immunology*, 168(10) pp.5233-5239.

Joo, T., Sowndhararajan, K., Hong, S., Lee, J., Park, S.Y., Kim, S. and Jhoo, J.W. (2014) 'Inhibition of nitric oxide production in LPS-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells by stem bark of Ulmus pumila L.' *Saudi journal of biological sciences*, 21(5) pp.427-435.

Josefsson, T., Lennholm, H. and Gellerstedt, G. (2002) 'Steam explosion of aspen wood. Characterisation of reaction products.' *Holzforschung*, 56(3) pp.289-297.

Jung, E.H., Ran Kim, S., Hwang, I.K. and Youl Ha, T. (2007) 'Hypoglycemic effects of a phenolic acid fraction of rice bran and ferulic acid in C57BL/KsJ-db/db mice.' *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 55(24) pp.9800-9804.

Kale, M.S., Hamaker, B.R. and Campanella, O.H. (2013) 'Alkaline extraction conditions determine gelling properties of corn bran arabinoxylans.' *Food Hydrocolloids*, 31(1) pp.121-126.

Kaminogawa, S. and Nanno, M. (2004) 'Modulation of immune functions by foods.' *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 1(3) pp.241-250.

Kang, H., Lee, M.G., Lee, J.K., Choi, Y.H. and Choi, Y.S. (2016) 'Enzymatically-Processed Wheat Bran Enhances Macrophage Activity and Has *in Vivo* Anti-Inflammatory Effects in Mice.' *Nutrients*, 8(4) p.188.

Karunanithy, C. and Muthukumarappan, K. (2010) 'Influence of extruder temperature and screw-speed on pretreatment of corn stover while varying enzymes and their ratios.' *Applied biochemistry and biotechnology*, 162(1) pp.264-279.

Kawai, T. and Akira, S. (2010) 'The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors.' *Nature immunology*, 11(5) pp.373-384.

Kiemer, A.K., Müller, C. and Vollmar, A.M. (2002) 'Inhibition of LPS-induced nitric oxide and TNF- α production by α -lipoic acid in rat Kupffer cells and in RAW 264.7 murine macrophages.' *Immunology and cell biology*, 80(6) pp.550-557.

Kim, J.H., Tanhehco, E.J. and Ng, P.K.W. (2006) 'Effect of extrusion conditions on resistant starch formation from pastry wheat flour.' *Food chemistry*, 99(4) pp.718-723.

Kim, R., Emi, M. and Tanabe, K. (2006) 'Functional roles of immature dendritic cells in impaired immunity of solid tumour and their targeted strategies for provoking tumour immunity.' *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, 146(2) pp.189-196.

Krawczyk, H., Persson, T., Andersson, A. and Jönsson, A.S. (2008) 'Isolation of hemicelluloses from barley husks.' *Food and Bioproducts Processing*, 86(1) pp.31-36.

Kuwabara, T. and Imajoh-Ohmi, S. (2004) 'LPS-induced apoptosis is dependent upon mitochondrial dysfunction.' *Apoptosis*, 9(4) pp.467-474.

Laflamme, N. and Rivest, S. (2001) 'Toll-like receptor 4: the missing link of the cerebral innate immune response triggered by circulating gram-negative bacterial cell wall components.' *The FASEB Journal*, 15(1) pp.155-163.

Lai, V.M., Lu, S., He, W.H. and Chen, H.H. (2007) 'Non-starch polysaccharide compositions of rice grains with respect to rice variety and degree of milling.' *Food Chemistry*, 101(3) pp.1205-1210.

Lawrence, T. and Natoli, G. (2011) 'Transcriptional regulation of macrophage polarization: enabling diversity with identity.' *Nature reviews immunology*, 11(11) pp.750-761.

Lerouge, I. and Vanderleyden, J. (2002) 'O-antigen structural variation: mechanisms and possible roles in animal/plant–microbe interactions.' *FEMS microbiology reviews*, 26(1) pp.17-47.

Li, J., Hou, G.G., Chen, Z. and Gehring, K. (2013) 'Effects of endoxylanases, vital wheat gluten, and gum Arabic on the rheological properties, water mobility, and baking quality of whole-wheat saltine cracker dough.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 58(3) pp.437-445.

Li, W., Zhang, S. and Smith, C. (2015) 'The molecular structure features-immune stimulatory activity of arabinoxylans derived from the pentosan faction of wheat flour.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 62 pp.81-86.

Liu, C., Zhang, Y., Liu, W., Wan, J., Wang, W., Wu, L., Zuo, N., Zhou, Y. and Yin, Z. (2011) 'Preparation, physicochemical and texture properties of texturized rice produce by improved extrusion cooking technology.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 54(3) pp.473-480.

Long, D., Ye, F. and Zhao, G. (2014) 'Optimization and characterization of wheat bran modified by in situ enhanced CO 2 blasting extrusion.' *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 59(2) pp.605-611.

Lu, J., Li, Y., Gu, G. and Mao, Z. (2005) 'Effects of molecular weight and concentration of arabinoxylans on the membrane plugging.' *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 53(12) pp.4996-5002.

Lu, Y.C., Yeh, W.C. and Ohashi, P.S. (2008) 'LPS/TLR4 signal transduction pathway.' *Cytokine*, 42(2) pp.145-151.

Ma, Y., Griffith, J.A., Chasan-Taber, L., Olendzki, B.C., Jackson, E., Stanek, E.J., Li, W., Pagoto, S.L., Hafner, A.R. and Ockene, I.S. (2006) 'Association between dietary fiber and serum C-reactive protein.' *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 83(4), pp.760-766.

Maes, C. and Delcour, J.A. (2001) 'Alkaline hydrogen peroxide extraction of wheat bran non-starch polysaccharides.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 34(1) pp.29-35.

Malathi, V. and Devegowda, G. (2001) '*In vitro* evaluation of nonstarch polysaccharide digestibility of feed ingredients by enzymes.' *Poultry Science*, 80(3) pp.302-305.

Mandalari, G., Faulds, C.B., Sancho, A.I., Saija, A., Bisignano, G., LoCurto, R. and Waldron, K.W. (2005) 'Fractionation and characterisation of arabinoxylans from brewers' spent grain and wheat bran.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 42(2) pp.205-212.

Mansberger, A., D'Amico, S., Novalin, S., Schmidt, J., Tömösközi, S., Berghofer, E. and Schoenlechner, R. (2014) 'Pentosan extraction from rye bran on pilot scale for application in gluten-free products.' *Food Hydrocolloids*, 35 pp.606-612.

Margareta, E. and Nyman, G.L. (2003) 'Importance of processing for physico-chemical and physiological properties of dietary fibre.' *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 62(01) pp.187-192.

Marletta, M.A. (1994) 'Nitric oxide synthase: aspects concerning structure and catalysis.' *Cell*, 78(6) pp.927-930.

Marletta, M.A., Yoon, P.S., Iyengar, R., Leaf, C.D. and Wishnok, J.S. (1988) 'Macrophage oxidation of L-arginine to nitrite and nitrate: nitric oxide is an intermediate.' *Biochemistry*, 27(24) pp.8706-8711.

Masatcioglu, M.T., Yalcin, E., Hwan, P.J., Ryu, G.H., Celik, S. and Koksel, H. (2014) 'Hull-less barley flour supplemented corn extrudates produced by conventional extrusion and CO 2 injection process.' *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies*, 26 pp.302-309.

Mata, M., Meager, A., Rolando, N., Daniels, H.M., NOURI-ARIA, K.T., Goka, A.K.J., Eddleston, A.L.W.F., Alexander, G.J.M. and Williams, R. (1990) 'Tumour necrosis factor production in fulminant hepatic failure: relation to aetiology and superimposed microbial infection.' *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, 82(3) pp.479-484.

McCASKILL, D.R. and Zhang, F. (1999) 'Use of rice bran oil in foods: Developing nutraceuticals for the new millenium.' *Food Technology*, 53(2) pp.50-53.

Medvedev, A.E., Kopydlowski, K.M. and Vogel, S.N. (2000) 'Inhibition of lipopolysaccharide-induced signal transduction in endotoxin-tolerized mouse macrophages: dysregulation of cytokine, chemokine, and toll-like receptor 2 and 4 gene expression.' *The Journal of Immunology*, 164(11) pp.5564-5574.

Medzhitov, R. (2001) 'Toll-like receptors and innate immunity.' *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 1(2) pp.135-145.

Medzhitov, R. and Janeway Jr, C. (2000) 'Innate immunity.' *New England Journal of Medicine*, 343(5) pp.338-344.

Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P. and Janeway, C.A. (1997) 'A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity.' *Nature*, 388(6640) pp.394-397.

Mendis, M., Leclerc, E. and Simsek, S. (2016) 'Arabinoxylan hydrolyzates as immunomodulators in lipopolysaccharide-induced RAW264. 7 macrophages.' *Food* & *Function*, 7(7) pp.3039-3045.

Michniewicz, J., Biliaderis, C.G. and Bushuk, W. (1990) 'Water-insoluble pentosans of wheat: composition and some physical properties.' *Cereal Chemistry*, 67(5) pp.434-439.

Miller, S.I., Ernst, R.K. and Bader, M.W. (2005) 'LPS, TLR4 and infectious disease diversity.' *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 3(1) pp.36-46.

Mod, R.R., Conkerton, E.J., Ory, R.L. and Normand, F.L. (1978) 'Hemicellulose composition of dietary fiber of milled rice and rice bran.' *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 26(5) pp.1031-1035.

Moers, K., Celus, I., Brijs, K., Courtin, C.M. and Delcour, J.A. (2005) 'Endoxylanase substrate selectivity determines degradation of wheat water-extractable and water-unextractable arabinoxylan.' *Carbohydrate research*, 340(7) pp.1319-1327.

Mogensen, T.H. (2009) 'Pathogen recognition and inflammatory signaling in innate immune defenses.' *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 22(2) pp.240-273.

Mohan, B.H., Malleshi, N.G. and Koseki, T. (2010) 'Physico-chemical characteristics and non-starch polysaccharide contents of Indica and Japonica brown rice and their malts.' *LWT-Food Science and technology*, 43(5) pp.784-791.

Mok, W.S.L. and Antal Jr, M.J. (1992) 'Uncatalyzed solvolysis of whole biomass hemicellulose by hot compressed liquid water.' *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 31(4) pp.1157-1161.

Molteni, M., Gemma, S. and Rossetti, C. (2016) 'The Role of Toll-Like Receptor 4 in Infectious and Noninfectious Inflammation.' *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2016 pp.1-9. [Online] [Accessed on 11th November 2016] DOI: 10.1155/2016/6978936

Mosser, D.M. and Edwards, J.P. (2008) 'Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation.' *Nature reviews immunology*, 8(12) pp.958-969.

Motley, S.T., Morrow, B.J., Liu, X., Dodge, I.L., Vitiello, A., Ward, C.K. and Shaw, K.J. (2004) 'Simultaneous analysis of host and pathogen interactions during an *in vivo* infection reveals local induction of host acute phase response proteins, a novel bacterial stress response, and evidence of a host-imposed metal ion limited environment.' *Cellular microbiology*, 6(9) pp.849-865.

Nagashima, R., Maeda, K., Imai, Y. and Takahashi, T. (1996) 'Lamina propria macrophages in the human gastrointestinal mucosa: their distribution, immunohistological phenotype, and function.' *Journal of Histochemistry* & *Cytochemistry*, 44(7), pp.721-731
Nahrendorf, M. and Swirski, F.K. (2015) 'Lifestyle effects on hematopoiesis and atherosclerosis.' *Circulation research*, 116(5) pp.884-894.

Navale, S.A., Swami, S.B. and Thakor, N.J. (2015) 'Extrusion Cooking Technology for Foods: A Review.' *Journal of Ready to Eat Food July-September*, 2(3) pp.66-80.

Noaman, E., El-Din, N.K.B., Bibars, M.A., Mossallam, A.A.A. and Ghoneum, M. (2008) 'Antioxidant potential by arabinoxylan rice bran, MGN-3/biobran, represents a mechanism for its oncostatic effect against murine solid Ehrlich carcinoma.' *Cancer letters*, 268(2) pp.348-359.

North, C.J., Venter, C.S. and Jerling, J.C. (2009) 'The effects of dietary fibre on Creactive protein, an inflammation marker predicting cardiovascular disease.' *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 63(8) pp.921-933.

Nozaki, Y., Hasegawa, Y., Ichiyama, S., Nakashima, I. and Shimokata, K. (1997) 'Mechanism of nitric oxide-dependent killing of Mycobacterium bovis BCG in human alveolar macrophages.' *Infection and immunity*, 65(9) pp.3644-3647.

Nussler, A.K., Rénia, L., Pasquetto, V., Miltgen, F., Matile, H. and Mazier, D. (1993) '*In vivo* induction of the nitric oxide pathway in hepatocytes after injection with irradiated malaria sporozoites, malaria blood parasites or adjuvants.' *European journal of immunology*, 23(4) pp.882-887.

Ogawa, K., Takeuchi, M. and Nakamura, N. (2005) 'Immunological effects of partially hydrolyzed arabinoxylan from corn husk in mice.' *Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry*, 69(1) pp.19-25.

Ogawa, M. (1993) 'Differentiation and proliferation of hematopoietic stem cells.' *Blood*, 81(11) pp.2844-2853.

Ohashi, K., Burkart, V., Flohé, S. and Kolb, H. (2000) 'Cutting edge: heat shock protein 60 is a putative endogenous ligand of the toll-like receptor-4 complex.' *The Journal of Immunology*, 164(2) pp.558-561.

Ohto, U., Fukase, K., Miyake, K. and Shimizu, T. (2012) 'Structural basis of speciesspecific endotoxin sensing by innate immune receptor TLR4/MD-2.' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(19) pp.7421-7426.

Okamura, Y., Watari, M., Jerud, E.S., Young, D.W., Ishizaka, S.T., Rose, J., Chow, J.C. and Strauss, J.F. (2001) 'The extra domain A of fibronectin activates Toll-like receptor 4.' *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(13) pp.10229-10233.

O'Neill, L.A. and Bowie, A.G. (2007) 'The family of five: TIR-domain-containing adaptors in Toll-like receptor signalling.' *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 7(5) pp.353-364.

Ordaz-Ortiz, J.J. and Saulnier, L. (2005) 'Structural variability of arabinoxylans from wheat flour. Comparison of water-extractable and xylanase-extractable arabinoxylans.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 42(1) pp.119-125.

Pacher, P., Beckman, J.S. and Liaudet, L. (2007) 'Nitric oxide and peroxynitrite in health and disease.' *Physiological reviews*, 87(1) pp.315-424.

PAIOTTI, A.P.R., Marchi, P., Miszputen, S.J., OSHIMA, C.T.F., Franco, M. and Ribeiro, D.A. (2012) 'The role of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs and cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors on experimental colitis.' *In Vivo*, 26(3) pp.381-393.

Park, B.S., Song, D.H., Kim, H.M., Choi, B.S., Lee, H. and Lee, J.O. (2009) 'The structural basis of lipopolysaccharide recognition by the TLR4–MD-2 complex.' *Nature*, 458(7242) pp.1191-1195.

Park, B.S., Song, D.H., Kim, H.M., Choi, B.S., Lee, H. and Lee, J.O. (2009) 'The structural basis of lipopolysaccharide recognition by the TLR4–MD-2 complex.' *Nature*, 458(7242) pp.1191-1195.

Pawar, S.G., Pardeshi, I.L., Borkar, P.A. and Rajput, M.R. (2014) 'Optimization of process parameters of microwave puffed sorghum based ready to eat (RTE) foods.' *Journal of Ready to Eat Food*, 1(2) pp.59-68.

Peng, F., Peng, P., Xu, F. and Sun, R.C. (2012) 'Fractional purification and bioconversion of hemicelluloses.' *Biotechnology advances*, 30(4) pp.879-903.

Pérez-Martínez, A., Valentín, J., Fernández, L., Hernández-Jiménez, E., López-Collazo, E., Zerbes, P., Schwörer, E., Nuñéz, F., Martín, I.G., Sallis, H. and Díaz, M.Á. (2015) 'Arabinoxylan rice bran (MGN-3/Biobran) enhances natural killer cell–mediated cytotoxicity against neuroblastoma *in vitro* and *in vivo.' Cytotherapy*, 17(5) pp.601-612.

Peterson, A.A., Vogel, F., Lachance, R.P., Fröling, M., Antal Jr, M.J. and Tester, J.W. (2008) 'Thermochemical biofuel production in hydrothermal media: a review of suband supercritical water technologies.' *Energy & Environmental Science*, 1(1) pp.32-65.

Plüddemann, A., Mukhopadhyay, S. and Gordon, S. (2011) 'Innate immunity to intracellular pathogens: macrophage receptors and responses to microbial entry.' *Immunological reviews*, 240(1) pp.11-24.

Poltorak, A., He, X., Smirnova, I., Liu, M.Y., Van Huffel, C., Du, X., Birdwell, D., Alejos, E., Silva, M., Galanos, C. and Freudenberg, M. (1998a) 'Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene.' *Science*, 282(5396) pp.2085-2088.

Poltorak, A., Smirnova, I., He, X., Liu, M.Y., Van Huffel, C., Birdwell, D., Alejos, E., Silva, M., Du, X., Thompson, P. and Chan, E.K. (1998b) 'Genetic and physical mapping of the LPS Locus: identification of the Toll-4 receptor as a candidate gene in the critical region.' *Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases*, 24(3) pp.340-355.

Rafe, A., Sadeghian, A. and Hoseini-Yazdi, S.Z. (2016) 'Physicochemical, functional, and nutritional characteristics of stabilized rice bran form tarom cultivar.' *Food Science* & *Nutrition*, pp.1-8. [Online] [Accessed on 19th June 2016] DOI: 10.1002/fsn3.407

Ralet, M.C., Axelos, M.A. and Thibault, J.F. (1994) 'Gelation properties of extruded lemon cell walls and their water-soluble pectins.' *Carbohydrate research*, 260(2) pp.271-282.

Ralet, M.C., Della Valle, G. and Thibault, J.F. (1993) 'Raw and extruded fibre from pea hulls. Part I: Composition and physico-chemical properties.' *Carbohydrate polymers*, 20(1) pp.17-23.

Ralet, M.C., Thibault, J.F. and Della Valle, G. (1990) 'Influence of extrusion cooking on the physico-chemical properties of wheat bran.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 11(3) pp.249-259.

Ralet, M.C., Thibault, J.F. and Della Valle, G. (1991) 'Solubilization of sugar-beet pulp cell wall polysaccharides by extrusion-cooking.' *Lebensmittel Wissenschaft und Technologie*, 24 pp.107-112.

Rescigno, M., Urbano, M., Valzasina, B., Francolini, M., Rotta, G., Bonasio, R., Granucci, F., Kraehenbuhl, J.P. and Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P. (2001) 'Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria.' *Nature immunology*, 2(4), pp.361-367.

Ricciotti, E. and FitzGerald, G.A. (2011) 'Prostaglandins and inflammation.' *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology*, 31(5) pp.986-1000.

Rice, P.J., Adams, E.L., Ozment-Skelton, T., Gonzalez, A.J., Goldman, M.P., Lockhart, B.E., Barker, L.A., Breuel, K.F., DePonti, W.K., Kalbfleisch, J.H. and Ensley, H.E. (2005) 'Oral delivery and gastrointestinal absorption of soluble glucans stimulate increased resistance to infectious challenge.' *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 314(3), pp.1079-1086.

Rietschel, E.T., Kirikae, T., Schade, F.U., Mamat, U., Schmidt, G., Loppnow, H., Ulmer, A.J., Zähringer, U., Seydel, U. and Di Padova, F. (1994) 'Bacterial endotoxin: molecular

relationships of structure to activity and function.' *The FASEB Journal*, 8(2) pp.217-225.

Riha, W.E., Hwang, C.F., Karwe, M.V., Hartman, T.G. and Ho, C.T. (1996) 'Effect of cysteine addition on the volatiles of extruded wheat flour.' *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 44(7) pp.1847-1850.

Rissoan, M.C., Soumelis, V., Kadowaki, N., Grouard, G., Briere, F., de Waal Malefyt, R. and Liu, Y.J. (1999) 'Reciprocal control of T helper cell and dendritic cell differentiation.' *Science*, 283(5405) pp.1183-1186.

Rock, F.L., Hardiman, G., Timans, J.C., Kastelein, R.A. and Bazan, J.F. (1998) 'A family of human receptors structurally related to Drosophila Toll.' *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 95(2) pp.588-593.

Roos, A.A., Persson, T., Krawczyk, H., Zacchi, G. and Stålbrand, H. (2009) 'Extraction of water-soluble hemicelluloses from barley husks.' *Bioresource technology*, 100(2) pp.763-769.

Rose, D.J. and Inglett, G.E. (2010) 'Production of feruloylated arabinoxylooligosaccharides from maize (Zea mays) bran by microwave-assisted autohydrolysis.' *Food Chemistry*, 119(4) pp.1613-1618.

Rose, D.J., Patterson, J.A. and Hamaker, B.R. (2009) 'Structural differences among alkali-soluble arabinoxylans from maize (Zea mays), rice (Oryza sativa), and wheat (Triticum aestivum) brans influence human fecal fermentation profiles.' *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 58(1) pp.493-499.

Roubroeks, J.P., Andersson, R. and Åman, P. (2000) 'Structural features of $(1 \rightarrow 3), (1 \rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-glucan and arabinoxylan fractions isolated from rye bran.' *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 42(1) pp.3-11.

Safa, M. and Samarasinghe, S. (2013) 'Modelling fuel consumption in wheat production using artificial neural networks.' *Energy*, 49 pp.337-343.

Sahasrabudhe, N.M., Schols, H.A., Faas, M.M. and Vos, P. (2016) 'Arabinoxylan activates Dectin-1 and modulates particulate β -glucan-induced Dectin-1 activation.' *Molecular nutrition & food research*, 60(2) pp.458-467.

Saitoh, S.I., Akashi, S., Yamada, T., Tanimura, N., Kobayashi, M., Konno, K., Matsumoto, F., Fukase, K., Kusumoto, S., Nagai, Y. and Kusumoto, Y. (2004) 'Lipid A antagonist, lipid IVa, is distinct from lipid A in interaction with Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-MD-2 and ligand-induced TLR4 oligomerization.' *International immunology*, 16(7) pp.961-969.

Sakaguchi, S., Yamaguchi, T., Nomura, T. and Ono, M. (2008) 'Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance.' *Cell*, 133(5) pp.775-787.

Samuelsen, A.B., Rieder, A., Grimmer, S., Michaelsen, T.E. and Knutsen, S.H. (2011) 'Immunomodulatory activity of dietary fiber: arabinoxylan and mixed-linked betaglucan isolated from barley show modest activities *in vitro*.' *International journal of molecular sciences*, 12(1) pp.570-587.

Sandvik, A., Wang, Y.Y., Morton, H.C., Aasen, A.O., Wang, J.E. and Johansen, F.E. (2007) 'Oral and systemic administration of β -glucan protects against lipopolysaccharide-induced shock and organ injury in rats.' *Clinical & Experimental Immunology*, 148(1), pp.168-177.

Santala, O., Nordlund, E. and Poutanen, K. (2013) 'Use of an extruder for pre-mixing enhances xylanase action on wheat bran at low water content.' *Bioresource technology*, 149 pp.191-199.

Sarih, M.H., Souvannavong, V.O.N.G.T.H.I.P. and Adam, A. (1993) 'Nitric oxide synthase induces macrophage death by apoptosis.' *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 191(2) pp.503-508.

Sasaki, T., Yasui, T. and Matsuki, J. (2000) 'Influence of non-starch polysaccharides isolated from wheat flour on the gelatinization and gelation of wheat starches.' *Food Hydrocolloids*, 14(4) pp.295-303.

Saulnier, L., Sado, P.E., Branlard, G., Charmet, G. and Guillon, F. (2007) 'Wheat arabinoxylans: exploiting variation in amount and composition to develop enhanced varieties.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 46(3) pp.261-281.

Saunders, R.M. (1985) 'Rice bran: composition and potential food uses.' *Food Reviews International*, 1(3) pp.465-495.

Schmidt, H.H.H.W. and Walter, U. (1994) 'NO at work.' Cell, 78(6) pp.919-926.

Shen, Y., Yang, S., Shi, Z., Lin, T., Zhu, H., Bi, F., Liu, A., Ying, X., Liu, H., Yu, K. and Yan, S. (2015) 'SeMet Mediates Anti-inflammation in LPS-Induced U937 Cells Targeting NF-κB Signaling Pathway.' *Inflammation*, 38(2) pp.736-744.

Shimazu, R., Akashi, S., Ogata, H., Nagai, Y., Fukudome, K., Miyake, K. and Kimoto, M. (1999) 'MD-2, a molecule that confers lipopolysaccharide responsiveness on Toll-like receptor 4.' *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 189(11) pp.1777-1782.

Shoham, S., Huang, C., Chen, J.M., Golenbock, D.T. and Levitz, S.M. (2001) 'Toll-like receptor 4 mediates intracellular signaling without TNF-α release in response to Cryptococcus neoformans polysaccharide capsule.' *The Journal of Immunology*, 166(7) pp.4620-4626.

Sigma-Aldrich. (2016). *Lipopolysaccharides*. [online] Available at: <u>http://www.sigmaaldrich.com/technical-documentIn</u>

vitros/articles/biology/glycobiology/lipopolysaccharides.html [Accessed 29 Nov. 2016].

Silva, M.T. (2010) 'When two is better than one: macrophages and neutrophils work in concert in innate immunity as complementary and cooperative partners of a myeloid phagocyte system.' *Journal of leukocyte biology*, 87(1) pp.93-106.

Singh, J., Dartois, A. and Kaur, L. (2010) 'Starch digestibility in food matrix: a review.' *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 21(4) pp.168-180.

Singkhornart, S., Edou-ondo, S. and Ryu, G.H. (2014) 'Influence of germination and extrusion with CO 2 injection on physicochemical properties of wheat extrudates.' *Food chemistry*, 143 pp.122-131.

Singkhornart, S., Lee, S.G. and Ryu, G.H. (2013) 'Influence of twin-screw extrusion on soluble arabinoxylans and corn fiber gum from corn fiber.' *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 93(12) pp.3046-3054.

Smiley, S.T., King, J.A. and Hancock, W.W. (2001) 'Fibrinogen stimulates macrophage chemokine secretion through toll-like receptor 4.' *The Journal of Immunology*, 167(5) pp.2887-2894.

Smirnova, I., Poltorak, A., Chan, E.K., McBride, C. and Beutler, B. (2000) 'Phylogenetic variation and polymorphism at the toll-like receptor 4 locus (TLR4).' *Genome biology*, 1(1) p.1.

Smith, P., Smythies, L., Shen, R., Greenwell-Wild, T., Gliozzi, M. and Wahl, S. (2011) 'Intestinal macrophages and response to microbial encroachment.' *Mucosal immunology*, 4(1) pp. 31-42.

Snelders, J., Dornez, E., Delcour, J.A. and Courtin, C.M. (2013) 'Ferulic acid content and appearance determine the antioxidant capacity of arabinoxylanoligosaccharides.' *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 61(42) pp.10173-10182.

Song, P.I., Abraham, T.A., Park, Y., Zivony, A.S., Harten, B., Edelhauser, H.F., Ward, S.L., Armstrong, C.A. and Ansel, J.C. (2001) 'The expression of functional LPS receptor proteins CD14 and toll-like receptor 4 in human corneal cells.' *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*, 42(12) pp.2867-2877.

Spears, J.K., Grieshop, C.M. and Fahey, G.C. (2004) 'Evaluation of stabilized rice bran as an ingredient in dry extruded dog diets.' *Journal of animal science*, 82(4) pp.1122-1135.

Šramková, Z., Gregová, E. and Šturdík, E. (2009) 'Chemical composition and nutritional quality of wheat grain.' *Acta Chimica Slovaca*, 2(1) pp.115-138.

Stevenson, M.M. and Riley, E.M. (2004).'Innate immunity to malaria.' *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 4(3) pp.169-180.

Su, G.L., Klein, R.D., Aminlari, A., Zhang, H.Y., Steinstraesser, L., Alarcon, W.H., Remick, D.G. and Wang, S.C. (2000) 'Kupffer cell activation by lipopolysaccharide in rats: Role for lipopolysaccharide binding protein and toll-like receptor 4.' *Hepatology*, 31(4) pp.932-936.

Sun, X.F., Xu, F., Sun, R.C., Geng, Z.C., Fowler, P. and Baird, M.S. (2005) 'Characteristics of degraded hemicellulosic polymers obtained from steam exploded wheat straw.' *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 60(1) pp.15-26.

Sundström, C. and Nilsson, K. (1976) 'Establishment and characterization of a human histiocytic lymphoma cell line (U-937).' *International journal of cancer*, 17(5) pp.565-577.

Sundström, C. and Nilsson, K. (1976) 'Establishment and characterization of a human histiocytic lymphoma cell line (U-937).' *International journal of cancer*, 17(5) pp.565-577.

Suzuki, I., Tanaka, H., Kinoshita, A., Oikawa, S., Osawa, M. and Yadomae, T. (1990) 'Effect of orally administered β -glucan on macrophage function in mice.' *International journal of immunopharmacology*, 12(6) pp. 675-684.

Svanberg, S.M., Gustafsson, K.B., Suortti, T. and Nyman, E.M.G.L. (1995) 'Molecular weight distribution, measured by HPSEC, and viscosity of water-soluble dietary fiber

in carrots following different types of processing.' *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 43(10) pp.2692-2697.

Swennen, K., Courtin, C.M., Lindemans, G.C. and Delcour, J.A. (2006) 'Large-scale production and characterisation of wheat bran arabinoxylooligosaccharides.' *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 86(11) pp.1722-1731.

Takahashi, M., Iwaki, D., Kanno, K., Ishida, Y., Xiong, J., Matsushita, M., Endo, Y., Miura, S., Ishii, N., Sugamura, K. and Fujita, T. (2008) 'Mannose-binding lectin (MBL)associated serine protease (MASP)-1 contributes to activation of the lectin complement pathway.' *The Journal of Immunology*, 180(9) pp.6132-6138.

Takashiba, S., Van Dyke, T.E., Amar, S., Murayama, Y., Soskolne, A.W. and Shapira, L. (1999) 'Differentiation of monocytes to macrophages primes cells for lipopolysaccharide stimulation via accumulation of cytoplasmic nuclear factor κB.' *Infection and immunity*, 67(11) pp.5573-5578.

Takeshita, M., Nakamura, S., Makita, F., Ohwada, S., Miyamoto, Y. and Morishita, Y. (1992) 'Antitumor effect of RBS (rice bran saccharide) on ENNG-induced carcinogenesis.' *Biotherapy*, 4(2) pp.139-145.

Takeuchi, O. and Akira, S. (2010) 'Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation.' *Cell*, 140(6) pp.805-820.

Taylor, P.R., Martinez-Pomares, L., Stacey, M., Lin, H.H., Brown, G.D. and Gordon, S. (2005) 'Macrophage receptors and immune recognition.' *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, 23 pp.901-944.

Termeer, C., Benedix, F., Sleeman, J., Fieber, C., Voith, U., Ahrens, T., Miyake, K., Freudenberg, M., Galanos, C. and Simon, J.C. (2002) 'Oligosaccharides of Hyaluronan activate dendritic cells via toll-like receptor 4.' *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 195(1) pp.99-111.

Thun, M.J., Henley, S.J. and Patrono, C. (2002) 'Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs as anticancer agents: mechanistic, pharmacologic, and clinical issues.' *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 94(4) pp.252-266.

Thymi, S., Krokida, M.K., Pappa, A. and Maroulis, Z.B. (2005) 'Structural properties of extruded corn starch.' *Journal of food engineering*, 68(4) pp.519-526.

Tsukada, C., Yokoyama, H., Miyaji, C., Ishimoto, Y., Kawamura, H. and Abo, T. (2003) 'Immunopotentiation of intraepithelial lymphocytes in the intestine by oral administrations of β -glucan.' *Cellular immunology*, 221(1), pp.1-5.

TUNÇTAN, B., OKUR, H., ÇALIŞIR, C.H., ABACIOĞLU, H., ÇAKICI, İ., KANZIK, İ. and ABACIOĞLU, N. (1998) 'Comparison of nitric oxide production by monocyte/macrophages in healthy subjects and patients with active pulmonary tuberculosis.' *Pharmacological research*, 37(3) pp.219-226.

Tzianabos, A.O. (2000) 'Polysaccharide immunomodulators as therapeutic agents: structural aspects and biologic function.' *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 13(4) pp.523-533.

Van Furth, R. and Cohn, Z.A. (1968) 'The origin and kinetics of mononuclear phagocytes.' *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 128(3) pp.415-435.

Vasanthan, T., Gaosong, J., Yeung, J. and Li, J. (2002) 'Dietary fiber profile of barley flour as affected by extrusion cooking.' *Food Chemistry*, 77(1) pp.35-40.

Vaure, C. and Liu, Y. (2014) 'A comparative review of toll-like receptor 4 expression and functionality in different animal species.' *Frontiers in immunology*, 5 p.316.

Vermaas, J.V., Petridis, L., Qi, X., Schulz, R., Lindner, B. and Smith, J.C. (2015) 'Mechanism of lignin inhibition of enzymatic biomass deconstruction.' *Biotechnology for biofuels*, 8(1) pp.1-16. Vernaza, M.G., Dia, V.P., de Mejia, E.G. and Chang, Y.K. (2012) 'Antioxidant and antiinflammatory properties of germinated and hydrolysed Brazilian soybean flours.' *Food chemistry*, 134(4) pp.2217-2225.

Vilček, J. and Feldmann, M. (2004) 'Historical review: cytokines as therapeutics and targets of therapeutics.' *Trends in pharmacological sciences*, 25(4) pp.201-209.

Visintin, A., Mazzoni, A., Spitzer, J.H., Wyllie, D.H., Dower, S.K. and Segal, D.M. (2001) 'Regulation of Toll-like receptors in human monocytes and dendritic cells.' *The Journal of Immunology*, 166(1) pp.249-255.

Volman, J.J., Ramakers, J.D. and Plat, J. (2008) 'Dietary modulation of immune function by β -glucans.' *Physiology & behavior*, 94(2) pp.276-284.

Wang, J., Sun, B., Liu, Y. and Zhang, H. (2014) 'Optimisation of ultrasound-assisted enzymatic extraction of arabinoxylan from wheat bran.' *Food chemistry*, 150 pp.482-488.

Wang, L., Zhang, H., Zhang, X. and Chen, Z. (2008) 'Purification and identification of a novel heteropolysaccharide RBPS2a with anti-complementary activity from defatted rice bran.' *Food chemistry*, 110(1) pp.150-155.

Wang, W.M., Klopfenstein, C.F. and Ponte Jr, J.G. (1993) 'Baking Quality of the Wheat Bran1.' *Cereal Chem*, 70(6) pp.707-711.

Warrington, R., Watson, W., Kim, H.L. and Antonetti, F.R. (2011) 'An introduction to immunology and immunopathology.' *Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology*, 7(1) p.1.

Wiersinga, W.J., Leopold, S.J., Cranendonk, D.R. and van der Poll, T. (2014) 'Host innate immune responses to sepsis.' *Virulence*, 5(1) pp.36-44.

Wigmore, S.J., Walsh, T.S., Lee, A. and Ross, J.A. (1998) 'Pro-inflammatory cytokine release and mediation of the acute phase protein response in fulminant hepatic failure.' *Intensive care medicine*, 24(3) pp.224-229.

Wismar, R., Brix, S., Frøkiær, H. and Laerke, H.N. (2010) 'Dietary fibers as immunoregulatory compounds in health and disease.' *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1190(1), pp.70-85.

Wong, J.M. and Billiar, T.R. (1995) 'Regulation and function of inducible nitric oxide synthase during sepsis and acute inflammation.' *Advances in pharmacology*, 34 pp.155-170.

Wright, S.D., Ramos, R.A., Tobias, P.S., Ulevitch, R.J. and Mathison, J.C. (1990) 'CD14, a receptor for complexes of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and LPS binding protein.' *Science*, 249(4975) pp.1431-1433.

Xaus, J., Comalada, M., Valledor, A.F., Lloberas, J., López-Soriano, F., Argilés, J.M., Bogdan, C. and Celada, A. (2000) 'LPS induces apoptosis in macrophages mostly through the autocrine production of TNF- α .' *Blood*, 95(12) pp.3823-3831.

Yadav, M.P., Moreau, R.A. and Hicks, K.B. (2007) 'Phenolic acids, lipids, and proteins associated with purified corn fiber arabinoxylans.' *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 55(3) pp.943-947.

Yoo, J., Alavi, S., Vadlani, P. and Behnke, K.C. (2012) 'Soybean hulls pretreated using thermo-mechanical extrusion—hydrolysis efficiency, fermentation inhibitors, and ethanol yield.' *Applied biochemistry and biotechnology*, 166(3) pp.576-589.

Yoshida, T., Tsubaki, S., Teramoto, Y. and Azuma, J.I. (2010) 'Optimization of microwave-assisted extraction of carbohydrates from industrial waste of corn starch production using response surface methodology.' *Bioresource technology*, 101(20) pp.7820-7826.

Yu, M., Shi, W., Zhang, J., Niu, L., Chen, Q., Yan, D., Liu, T., Jing, W., Jiang, X., Wei, F. and Yin, B. (2009) 'Influence of reverse signaling via membrane TNF-α on cytotoxicity of NK92 cells.' *European journal of cell biology*, 88(3) pp.181-191.

Zanoni, I., Ostuni, R., Marek, L.R., Barresi, S., Barbalat, R., Barton, G.M., Granucci, F. and Kagan, J.C. (2011) 'CD14 controls the LPS-induced endocytosis of Toll-like receptor 4.' *Cell*, 147(4) pp.868-880.

Zarember, K.A. and Godowski, P.J. (2002) 'Tissue expression of human Toll-like receptors and differential regulation of Toll-like receptor mRNAs in leukocytes in response to microbes, their products, and cytokines.' *The Journal of Immunology*, 168(2) pp.554-561.

Zeitoun, R., Pontalier, P.Y., Marechal, P. and Rigal, L. (2010) 'Twin-screw extrusion for hemicellulose recovery: Influence on extract purity and purification performance.' *Bioresource technology*, 101(23) pp.9348-9354.

Zhang, B., Ramesh, G., Uematsu, S., Akira, S. and Reeves, W.B. (2008b) 'TLR4 signaling mediates inflammation and tissue injury in nephrotoxicity.' *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 19(5) pp.923-932.

Zhang, M., Bai, X. and Zhang, Z. (2011) 'Extrusion process improves the functionality of soluble dietary fiber in oat bran.' *Journal of Cereal Science*, 54(1) pp.98-103.

Zhang, P., Wampler, J.L., Bhunia, A.K., Burkholder, K.M., Patterson, J.A. and Whistler, R.L. (2004) 'Effects of arabinoxylans on activation of murine macrophages and growth performance of broiler chicks.' *Cereal chemistry*, 81(4) pp.511-514.

Zhang, S., Li, W., Smith, C.J. and Musa, H. (2015) 'Cereal-derived arabinoxylans as biological response modifiers: Extraction, molecular features, and immune-stimulating properties. '*Critical reviews in food science and nutrition*, 55(8) pp.1035-1052.

Zhang, X.N., Zhou, S.M. and Wang, S.P. (2008a) 'Optimizing enzymatic hydrolysis conditions of arabinoxylan in wheat bran through quadratic orthogonal rotation combination design.' *Food Science*, 28 pp.141-145.

Zhang, Z., Smith, C. and Li, W. (2014) 'Extraction and modification technology of arabinoxylans from cereal by-products: a critical review.' *Food Research International*, 65 pp.423-436.

Zhao, X. and Dong, C. (2016) 'Extracting xylooligosaccharides in wheat bran by screening and cellulase assisted enzymatic hydrolysis.' *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 92 pp.748-752.

Zheng, X., Li, L. and Wang, X. (2011) 'Molecular characterization of arabinoxylans from hull-less barley milling fractions.' *Molecules*, 16(4) pp.2743-2753.

Zhou, S., Liu, X., Guo, Y., Wang, Q., Peng, D. and Cao, L. (2010) 'Comparison of the immunological activities of arabinoxylans from wheat bran with alkali and xylanase-aided extraction.' *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 81(4) pp. 784-789.

Appendices





Xylose standard curve is used to calculate the xylose concentration in the extracts based on the average value. Values are shown as means \pm SEM, n=6.









Glucose, galactose, arabinose and xylose standard curves were used to calculate the sugar composition of the purified AXs extracts from extruded/non-extruded wheat pentosan and rice bran



The five pullulan standard curve used to characterise the Mw of RBW, RB80, RB0, PW, P80 and P160.

Arabinoxylans sample preparation for cell line work



Lipopolysaccharides sample preparations for cell line work



Conc. µg/ml	Absorbance		
	LPS	Rice bran	Pentosan
50	0.046±0.0003	0.047±0.0003	0.046±0.0003
500	0.046±0.0005	0.046±0.0005	0.047±0.0005
1000	0.047±0.0005	0.046±0.0005	0.046±0.0005
Culture	0.046±0.0003		
medium			



Sodium nitrite standard curve was used to calculate the amount of nitric oxide production by monocytes/macrophages after supplementation with arabinoxylans or LPS.